

NBS

Publications

# NBS TECHNICAL NOTE 1042

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE /National Bureau of Standards

Shielded Balanced and Coaxial Transmission Lines — Parametric Measurements and Instrumentation Relevant to Signal Waveform Transmission in Digital Service

-QC 100 .U5753 No.1042 1981

# NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS

The National Bureau of Standards' was established by an act of Congress on March 3, 1901. The Bureau's overall goal is to strengthen and advance the Nation's science and technology and facilitate their effective application for public benefit. To this end, the Bureau conducts research and provides: (1) a basis for the Nation's physical measurement system, (2) scientific and technological services for industry and government, (3) a technical basis for equity in trade, and (4) technical services to promote public safety. The Bureau's technical work is performed by the National Measurement Laboratory, the National Engineering Laboratory, and the Institute for Computer Sciences and Technology.

THE NATIONAL MEASUREMENT LABORATORY provides the national system of physical and chemical and materials measurement; coordinates the system with measurement systems of other nations and furnishes essential services leading to accurate and uniform 'physical and chemical measurement throughout the Nation's scientific community, industry, and commerce; conducts materials research leading to improved methods of measurement, standards, and data on the properties of materials needed by industry, commerce, educational institutions, and Government; provides advisory and research services to other Government agencies; develops, produces, and distributes Standard Reference Materials; and provides calibration services. The Laboratory consists of the following centers:

Absolute Physical Quantities<sup>2</sup> — Radiation Research — Thermodynamics and Molecular Science — Analytical Chemistry — Materials Science.

THE NATIONAL ENGINEERING LABORATORY provides technology and technical services to the public and private sectors to address national needs and to solve national problems; conducts research in engineering and applied science in support of these efforts; builds and maintains competence in the necessary disciplines required to carry out this research and technical service; develops engineering data and measurement capabilities; provides engineering measurement traceability services; develops test methods and proposes engineering standards and code changes; develops and proposes new engineering practices; and develops and improves mechanisms to transfer results of its research to the ultimate user. The Laboratory consists of the following centers:

Applied Mathematics — Electronics and Electrical Engineering<sup>2</sup> — Mechanical Engineering and Process Technology<sup>2</sup> — Building Technology — Fire Research — Consumer Product Technology — Field Methods.

**THE INSTITUTE FOR COMPUTER SCIENCES AND TECHNOLOGY** conducts research and provides scientific and technical services to aid Federal agencies in the selection, acquisition, application, and use of computer technology to improve effectiveness and economy in Government operations in accordance with Public Law 89-306 (40 U.S.C. 759), relevant Executive Orders, and other directives; carries out this mission by managing the Federal Information Processing Standards Program, developing Federal ADP standards guidelines, and managing Federal participation in ADP voluntary standardization activities; provides scientific and technological advisory services and assistance to Federal agencies; and provides the technical foundation for computer-related policies of the Federal Government. The Institute consists of the following centers:

Programming Science and Technology - Computer Systems Engineering.

<sup>1</sup>Headquarters and Laboratories at Gaithersburg, MD, unless otherwise noted; mailing address Washington, DC 20234. <sup>2</sup>Some divisions within the center are located at Boulder, CO 80303.

# Shielded Balanced and Coaxial Transmission Lines – Parametric Measurements and Instrumentation Relevant to Signal Waveform Transmission in Digital Service

W. L. Gans N. S. Nahman OF STANDARDS LIBRART SEP 16 1981 Not 21 -- Rey Science USTES NO 1045 1981

Electromagnetic Technology Division National Engineering Laboratory National Bureau of Standards Boulder, Colorado 80303

Final report prepared for: Department of the Army U.S. Army Communications Command Communications - Electronic Engineering and Installations Agency Fort Huachuca, Arizona 85613



NBS ter in

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE, Malcolm Baldrige, Secretary

NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS, Ernest Ambler, Director

Issued June 1981

# NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS TECHNICAL NOTE 1042 Nat. Bur. Stand. (U.S.), Tech. Note 1042, 260 pages (June 1981) CODEN: NBTNAE

r

U.S. GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE WASHINGTON: 1981

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

1.	. INTRODUCTION					•					1
	1.1 Background			•••		•			•	•	1
	1.2 Project Objective			• •		•		•	•	•	2
	1.3 Report Organization			•••		•					2
2.	. DESCRIPTION OF THE TRANSMISSION	LINE MODEL AND THE	DEFINITION	OF TH	E MODEL	PAR	AMETE	RS۰			4
	2.1 The General Transmission Li	ne Equations		• •				•			4
	2.2 The s <sup>m</sup> Model and Its Parame	ters		•••		•					6
	2.3 s-Domain Circuit Properties	of the Model		•••		•		•			8
	2.4 High Frequency Attenuation	and Phase Shift .				•		•			10
3.	. MEASUREMENT METHODS FOR THE DETH	RMINATION OF THE T	RANSMISSION	LINE	PARAMET	ERS		•			19
	3.1 The Need for Measurements						• •	•			19
	3.2 Measurement of the per Unit	Length Resistance	and Capaci	tance,	R and	с.					20
	3.3 Measurement of the Nominal	Characteristic Imp	edance, R					•			20
	3.4 Insertion Measurements for	the Determination	of the High	Frequ	ency Lo	ss					
	Parameter and the Exponent	m • • • • • •		• •		•	• •		•	•	22
4.	AN OVERVIEW OF THE COMPUTER CALC	ULATION FOR THE TR	ANSMISSION	LINE I	MPULSE						
	AND STEP RESPONSES · · · ·			•••	• • •	•		•	•	•	34
	4.1 Data Acquisition Method.					•		•			34
	4.2 Fourier Transformation of	$\hat{e}_{d1}$ (nT) and $\hat{e}_{d2}$ (nT)				•		•			34
	4.3 The Calculation of $\hat{S}_{21}$ (k/2)	IT) and $\hat{\alpha}_1(k/2NT)$ .				•					35
	4.4 The Extraction of the Model	Parameters K and	m			•		•			36
	4.5 Simulation of the Impulse 1	lesponse				•					38
	4.6 Determination of the dc Le	vel for the Impulse	e Response,	ĥ (nT	)	•		•			38
	4.7 Simulation of the Step Resp	oonse				•		•			39
5.	. TYPICAL RESULTS FOR TRANSMISSION	CHARACTERIZATION	AND RESPONS	Е.		•		•			44
	5.1 Description of the Cable					•					44
	5.2 The Results					•		•			44
6.	5. USE OF TIME DOMAIN MEASUREMENTS	TO ESTIMATE MAXIMU	M CABLE BIT	RATE							5.0
	AND BIT-ERROR-RATE DEGRADATION			•••	• • •	•	• •	•	•	•	58
	6.1 Digital Communications Syst	cem Model		•••	•••	•	• •	•	•	•	58
	6.2 Maximum Bit Rate Estimation	1		• •	• • •	•	• •	•	•	•	58
	6.3 Code Dependence			•••	• • •	• •	•••	•	•	•	60
	6.4 Bit-Error-Rate Degradation			• •	• • •	• •	• •	•	•	•	61
7.	7. CABLE TESTING USING TIME DOMAIN	REFLECTOMETRY		•••	• • •	•	• •	•	•	•	81
	7.1 The General Theory of Time	Domain Reflection	and Transmi	ssion	• •	•		•	•	•	81
	7.2 The Step Response of the S	ending-End Voltage	• • •	•••	• • •	•••	• •	•	•	•	87
	7.3 A Practical Method for Mea	suring the Step Res	sponse of th	ie Send	ing-End	l Vol	tage		•	•	92
	REFERENCES			• - •	• •	• •		•	•	•	104

	page
APPENDIX A MEASURED AND MODELED CABLE DATA	· 105
A.1 Cable Parameter Tables	· 105
A.2 Cable Graphical Data	108
APPENDIX B CABLE MEASUREMENT AND ANALYSIS COMPUTER PROGRAMS	• 185
B.1 APMS System Calibration Programs and Subroutines	. 185
B.1.1 Y-Axis Calibration Subroutine	. 185
B.1.2 X-Axis Calibration Subroutine	. 187
B.1.3 Calibration Data Acquisition Subroutine	. 190
B.1.4 Linear Least Squares Curve Fit Subroutine	. 195
B.1.5 General Matrix Multiplication Subroutine	. 196
B.2 Cable Measurement Programs and Subroutines	• 197
B.2.1 Main Cable Time Domain Transfer Function Measurement Program	• 197
B.2.2 Sweep-Sequential Waveform Acquisition Subroutine	203
B.2.3 Point-Sequential Waveform Acquisition Subroutine	• 208
B.2.4 Assembly Language Fast Fourier Transform Subroutine	• 213
B.2.5 General Time Domain/Frequency Domain Plot Program	221
B.3 Cable Modeling and Analysis Programs	• 231
B.3.1 Main Cable Model Program for Calculations of "m", "K", and	
Cable Impulse Response	231
B.3.2 Main Cable Model Program for Calculation of Cable Step Response,	
Bit Error Waveform and Cable Square Wave Response	• 239
B.3.3 Main Cable Model Program for Calculation of Unit Step TDR Waveform	• 245
B.3.4 Main Program for Calculation of Cable Matching Network Resistors	247
B.3.5 Main Program for Calculation of the Error Function	249
B.3.6 Function Subroutine for Calculation of the Gamma Function	. 250
B.3.7 Subroutine for Accurate Calculations of Cable Time Domain	
Impulse Response dc Level	. 251
APPENDIX C TIME DOMAIN DATA ACQUISITION SYSTEM DESCRIPTION	254

SHIELDED BALANCED AND COAXIAL TRANSMISSION LINES -PARAMETRIC MEASUREMENTS AND INSTRUMENTATION RELEVANT TO SIGNAL WAVEFORM TRANSMISSION IN DIGITAL SERVICE

W. L. Gans and N. S. Nahman

A method is presented for determining the impulse and step responses of a shielded cable using time domain terminal measurements and a physically based mathematical model for the transmission line properties of the cable. The method requires a computer controlled time domain measurement system and was implemented using the NBS Automatic Pulse Measurement System (APMS). Data are also developed for the frequency domain complex propagation function (attenuation and its related minimum-phase shift). The method is applied to 12 shielded paired-conductor (balanced) cables and 5 coaxial cables. Time domain responses are presented for three nominal cable lengths, 60 m (200 ft), 150m (500 ft), and 300m (1000 ft). The time domain responses are applied to the estimation of bit error rate increases due to the insertion of the cables into a digital signaling system employing a balanced polar NRZ waveform. Also discussed is the application of the time domain responses to time domain reflectometry techniques for cable acceptance tests and field-site testing of installed cables.

Key words: bit error rate; coaxial transmission lines; digital communication impulse response; instrumentation; measurements; shielded balanced transmission lines; time domain; transmission line model; waveform.

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Background

Nominal frequency response data supplied by cable manufacturers are not sufficient for the complete evaluation or simulation of cables (transmission lines) in digital systems. Data which must be acquired prior to engineering analysis for digital transmission are the driving-point and transfer impulse responses. These are most easily obtained through pulse or time domain testing.

Furthermore, time domain measurement methods and performance data for the characterization of balanced digital-service, shielded transmission lines [60m (200 ft) to 300 m (1000 ft) lengths] are required for the design, signal analysis, and circuit monitoring relevant to the digital-service transmission line interconnections between the Technical Control Facility (TCF) and the Radio/Microwave Exchange (MUX) as encountered in U.S. Army telecommunication installations. Also, time domain measurement methods are required for the identification and location of installation and/or operating faults which can impair the digital waveform fidelity, which in turn can cause a degradation of the digital signaling capacity. Such measurement methods and their interpretation fundamentally depend upon a knowledge of typical impulse responses.

Because response data suitable for digital cable simulation was not available, the U.S. Army Communications - Electronics Engineering Installation Agency (USACEEIA) sought assistance from the National Bureau of Standards (NBS) to develop the required data for a specified group of commercially available cables. The NBS Time Domain Metrology Group was uniquely qualified to render such assistance by virtue of their experience in (1) the development and use of the NBS Automatic Pulse Measurement System and (2) the characterization of transient responses for shielded cables. The subject report summarizes the work performed by the NBS Time Domain Metrology Group for USACEEIA and is for the most part a catalog of cable impulse responses and associated transfer functions.

#### 1.2 Project Objective

The overall project objective contained three components; listed in order of their relative technical priority, they were:

- Determine and compile from measurements the parametric data necessary for engineering design and computer simulation of typical shielded cables for digital service. Demonstrate the use of the data to provide time domain and frequency domain simulation.
- 2. Simulate time domain reflectometry reference signatures suitable for cable field testing and fault location.
- 3. Demonstrate a time domain data acquisition system capable of (a) acquiring the signal waveforms of a transmission line under test conditions and (b) provide measured cable parameters suitable for subsequent batch processing in a central computer system for engineering design and simulation studies.

Originally, it was proposed to accomplish each one of the above components individually in a specific phase of the work during the contract duration. However, to allow for cable and component delivery delays, and the natural interaction between the objective components, the work was not rigidly accomplished in specific phases. The subject report presents the results of the work in accomplishing objective-components (1), (2), and (3) above.

#### 1.3 Report Organization

This report is divided into eight chapters and two appendices, the first chapter being the present introduction. Chapter 2 presents the transmission line model, the definition of parameters, and a discussion of the model frequency dependence.

Chapter 3 describes the measurement methods used to obtain the frequency and time domain data required for the calculation of the transmission line parameters.

Chapter 4 provides a qualitative overview of the computer calculations for (1) the extraction or determination of the transmission line parameters, (2) the impulse response, and (3) the step response.

Chapter 5 presents an example of the typical results for the determination of the transmission line parameters and the corresponding frequency and time domain responses for a given cable.

Chapter 6 describes a method of estimating the bit-error-rate degradation of a balanced polar NRZ waveform produced by a given length of cable.

Chapter 7 discusses the time domain reflectometry method for testing cables which is suitable for acceptance and field-site tests. Typical results are given for the worst case situations of open and short-circuit discontinuities.

Appendix A is a catalog of complex phasor transfer functions, their associated time domain responses (both reflection and transmission) for selected commercially available shielded cables of different lengths, usually 60 m (200 ft), 150 m (500 ft), and 300 m (1000 ft). The cables included are:

- A. Shielded Paired-Conductor Transmission Lines: RG 22, U.S. Army WD-37, and ten commercially available cables designated as cables A through J.
- B. Coaxial-conductor Transmission Lines: RG58C, RG59B, RG214, RG223, and a commercially available triaxial cable designated as cable K.

Appendix B contains the computer programs which were used in the NBS APMS to accomplish the cable measurements, characterization and simulation. Appendix C is a description of one design for a time domain data acquisition system (NBS APMS).

# 2. DESCRIPTION OF THE TRANSMISSION LINE MODEL AND THE DEFINITION OF THE MODEL PARAMETERS

In this chapter a brief discussion of the general transmission line equations is presented so as to provide a basis for the formulation of the transmission line simulation model. Following the introductory discussion, the simulation model parameters are defined and the transmission line equations are expressed in terms of the model parameters. Finally, various limiting cases of the model versus frequency are discussed to provide insight as to the correlation of the model with experiment.

#### 2.1 The General Transmission Line Equations

A uniform transmission line can be characterized in terms of a series impedance per unit length, Z(s), and a shunt admittance per unit length, Y(s), fig. 2.1. This follows from the uniformity property which simply means that the transmission line geometric form and material composition does not change with length, i.e., any segment of the transmission line possesses the same values of Z(s) and Y(s). The specific functional forms of Z(s) and Y(s) depend upon geometric form and material parameters. In practice Z(s) and Y(s) are combined to form two other functions which naturally appear in the transmission line equations and are called the characteristic impedance  $Z_{0}(s)$  and the propagation function  $\gamma(s)$ .

$$Z_{o}(s) = \sqrt{\frac{Z(s)}{Y(s)}}, \text{ ohms}$$
(2-1)  

$$\gamma(s) = \sqrt{Z(s)Y(s)}, \text{ per unit length}$$
(2-2)

For a transmission line of length l connected between a generator  $E_g(s)$  of impedance  $Z_g(s)$  and a load impedance  $Z_g(s)$ , fig. 2.2, the transfer and driving point equations are given by [1], respectively,

$$\frac{E_{r}(s)}{E_{g}(s)} = 2 \left[ \frac{Z_{o}(s)}{Z_{g}(s) + Z_{o}(s)} \right] \left[ \frac{Z_{l}(s)}{Z_{l}(s) + Z_{o}(s)} \right] \left[ \frac{e^{-l\gamma(s)}}{1 - \rho_{s}(s) \rho_{r}(s) e^{-2l\gamma(s)}} \right]$$
(2-3)

$$\frac{E_{s}(s)}{I_{s}(s)} = Z_{o}(s) \qquad \frac{1 + \rho_{r}(s) e^{-2\ell\gamma(s)}}{1 - \rho_{r}(s) e^{-2\ell\gamma(s)}}$$
(2-4)

where the reflection coefficients  $\rho_{s}(s) \rho_{r}(s)$  are obtained from

$$\rho_{i}(s) = \frac{Z_{i}(s) - Z_{o}(s)}{Z_{i}(s) + Z_{o}(s)}$$
(2-5)

These equations describe a transmission line network which is not terminated at either end in the transmission line characteristic impedance.

When a termination  $Z_{i}(s)$  is equal to  $Z_{o}(s)$ , then the corresponding  $\rho_{i}(s)$  is zero, and the transmission line is said to be matched at that end. There are three possible situations for matched terminations:

1. Doubly matched  $Z_g(s) = Z_l(s) = Z_o(s)$ 

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{r} (\mathbf{s}) \\ \mathbf{E}_{g}(\mathbf{s}) \end{bmatrix} = \frac{\mathbf{e}^{-2\gamma(\mathbf{s})}}{\mathbf{e}_{g}^{2} + \mathbf{e}_{r}^{2}}$$

$$(2-6)$$

$$\frac{E_{s}(s)}{I_{s}(s)} = Z_{o}(s)$$

$$\rho_{g} = \rho_{r} = 0$$
(2-7)

2. Matched Load  $Z_{g}(s) = Z_{o}(s)$ 

$$\frac{E_{r}(s)}{E_{g}(s)} = \left[ \frac{Z_{o}(s)}{Z_{g}(s) + Z_{o}(s)} \right] e^{-\ell Y(s)}$$
(2-8)

$$\frac{E_{s}(s)}{I_{s}(s)} = Z_{o}(s)$$

$$\rho_{\ell} = 0$$
(2-9)

3. Matched Generator  $Z_g(s) = Z_o(s)$ 

$$\frac{E_{r}(s)}{E_{g}(s)} = \left[ \frac{Z_{l}(s)}{Z_{l}(s) + Z_{o}(s)} \right] e^{-l \gamma(s)}$$

$$(2-10)$$

$$\frac{E_{g}(s)}{I_{s}(s)} = Z_{o}(s) \frac{1 + \rho_{r}(s) e^{-2\ell\gamma(s)}}{1 - \rho_{r}(s) e^{-2\ell\gamma(s)}}$$
(2-11)

Equations (2-3) through (2-11) reduce to the lossless or ideal cases when

Y

$$Z(s) = sL$$
 (2-12)

and

$$(s) = sC$$
 (2-13)

which in turn yield a delay propagation function and a resistive characteristic impedance, respectively,

$$\gamma (s) = s \sqrt{LC}$$
(2-14)

$$Z_{o}(s) = R_{o} = \sqrt{\frac{L}{C}}$$
 (2-15)

Under such conditions, there is no distortion with propagation, and also the transmission line can be terminated with a resistor,  $R_{o}$ , for reflection-free transmission.

For practical shielded cables, there are losses present, which in turn, means that both  $\gamma(s)$  and  $Z_o(s)$  will be complicated functions of s. The resultant propagation along the line will distort pulses due to the nature of  $\gamma(s)$ . Also, because  $Z_o(s)$  is s dependent, resistive terminations  $R_g$ ,  $R_{\ell}$  will not match (equal) the characteristic impedance; under such conditions in equations (2-3) through (2-11), the voltage divider terms and their combinations which form the reflection coefficients,

$$\frac{Z_{o}(s)}{R_{o} + Z_{o}(s)}; \qquad \frac{Z_{l}(s)}{R_{l} + Z_{o}(s)}; \qquad \frac{R_{1} - Z_{o}(s)}{R_{1} + Z_{o}(s)}$$

contribute to the overall distortion of the transmitted pulse as they are not independent of s.

# 2.2 The s<sup>m</sup> Model and Its Parameters

The physically-based mathematical model used in this work was originally developed by Nahman in 1962 for the sub-nanosecond to nanosecond domain transient analysis of coaxial-conductor cables [2]. Subsequent investigation by Nahman and Riad using the NBS APMS showed that the model could also be used to simulate shielded paired-conductor cables of parallel or twisted conductor construction [3].

The model specifies Z(s) and Y(s) as

$$Z(s) = R + sL + Ks^{m}$$
,  $0 < m < 1$  (2-16)

and

$$Y(s) = sC$$
 (2-17)

where

R≡	dc resistance/unit length	(2-18)
L Ξ	Inductance/unit length	(2-19)
Κ ≡	High frequency loss coefficient/unit length	(2-20)
m ≡	High frequency loss exponent	(2-21)
CΞ	Capacitance/unit length	(2-22)

Consequently, the model equivalent circuit per unit length is as shown in fig. 2.3. The propagation function and the characteristic impedance are then given by

$$\gamma(s) = \left[ (R + sL + Ks^{m})sC \right]^{1/2}, \quad 0 < m < 1$$
 (2-23)

)

and

$$Z_{o}(s) = \left[ (R + sL + Ks^{m})/sC \right]^{1/2}, \quad 0 < m < 1$$
 (2-24)

In the high frequency region, i.e., when s is such that

$$sL \gg Ks^m \gg R$$
 (2-25)

the model series impedance is closely approximated by

$$Z(s)] = sL + Ks^{m}$$
(2-26)  
HF

which in turn gives for  $\gamma(s)$  and  $Z_0(s)$ 

γ

$$I(s)_{\rm HF} = s \sqrt{LC} \left(1 + \frac{Ks^m}{sL}\right)^{1/2}$$
(2-27)

and

$$Z_{o}(s)]_{HF} = \sqrt{\frac{L}{C}} \left(1 + \frac{Ks^{m}}{sL}\right)^{1/2} . \qquad (2-28)$$

Because

$$\frac{\text{Ks}^{\text{m}}}{\text{sL}} << 1 \tag{2-29}$$

then

$$\left(1 + \frac{\mathrm{Ks}^{\mathrm{m}}}{\mathrm{sL}}\right)^{1/2} \stackrel{1}{=} 1 + \frac{\mathrm{Ks}^{\mathrm{m}}}{2\mathrm{sL}}$$
(2-30)

Defining

$$\delta(s) = \frac{Ks^{m}}{2sL}$$
(2-31)

then the high frequency  $\gamma(s)$  and  $Z_{0}(s)$  may be expressed as

$$\gamma(s) ]_{\text{HF}} = s \sqrt{\text{LC}} \left[ 1 + \delta(s) \right], \quad |\delta(s)| << 1$$
(2-32)

and

$$Z_{o}(s)]_{HF} = \sqrt{\frac{L}{C}} \left[1 + \delta(s)\right], \quad |\delta(s)| << 1.$$
(2-33)

In the limit as |s| approaches infinity, (2-32) and (2-33) yield the time delay per unit length and the high frequency or geometric or nominal characteristic impedance, respectively,

$$\lim_{|s| \to \infty} [\gamma(s)]_{HF} = s \sqrt{LC}$$
(2-34)

$$\lim_{|\mathbf{s}| \to \infty} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{Z} \\ \mathbf{0} \end{bmatrix} = \sqrt{\frac{\mathbf{L}}{\mathbf{C}}}$$
(2-35)

which defines the time delay per unit length

$$\Gamma = \sqrt{LC}$$
(2-36)

and the high frequency characteristic impedance,

$$R_{o} = \sqrt{\frac{L}{C'}} \qquad (2-37)$$

#### 2.3 s-Domain Circuit Properties of the Model

Consider the circuit of fig. 2.4 which is the circuit of fig. 2.2 with

$$Z_{g}(s) = Z_{l}(s) = R_{0}$$
 (2-38)

$$\gamma(s) = [(R + sL + Ks^{m})sc]^{1/2}$$
 (2-23)

$$Z_{o}(s) = \left[ (R + sL + Ks^{m}) / sc \right]^{1/2}.$$
 (2-24)

Here, the transmission line is terminated at each end in the nominal or high frequency characteristic impedance,  $R_o$ . This is a doubly mismatched situation for low frequencies, but this is the <u>usual</u> case encountered in practice. <u>In all that follows in this report</u>, the generator and load impedances will be equal to  $R_o$ . Consequently, equations (2-3) through (2-5) become

$$\frac{E_{r}(s)}{E_{g}(s)} = 2\left[\frac{Z_{o}(s)}{R_{o} + Z_{o}(s)}\right]\left[\frac{R_{o}}{R_{o} + Z_{o}(s)}\right]\left[\frac{e^{-\ell\gamma(s)}}{1 - [\rho(s)]^{2}e^{-2\ell\gamma(s)}}\right]$$
(2-39)

$$\frac{E_{s}(s)}{I_{s}(s)} = Z_{o}(s) \frac{1 + \rho(s)e^{-2k\gamma(s)}}{1 - \rho(s)e^{-2k\gamma(s)}}$$
(2-40)

$$\rho_{s}(s) = \rho_{r}(s) = \rho(s) = \frac{R_{o} - Z_{o}(s)}{R_{o} + Z_{o}(s)}$$
(2-41)

For the purposes of the following discussion, it is convenient to express equations (2-38) and (2-39) in terms of the hyperbolic functions

$$\cosh \ell_{\gamma}(s) = \frac{e^{\ell_{\gamma}(s)} + e^{-\ell_{\gamma}(s)}}{2}$$
(2-42)

$$\sinh l_{\gamma}(s) = \frac{e^{l_{\gamma}(s)} - e^{-l_{\gamma}(s)}}{2}$$
 (2-43)

Doing so, there results

$$\frac{E_{r}(s)}{E_{g}(s)} = \frac{2 Z_{o}(s) R_{o}}{2[R_{o}^{2} + Z_{o}^{2}(s)] \sinh \ell_{\gamma}(s) + 4 R_{o} Z_{o}(s) \cosh \ell_{\gamma}(s)}$$
(2-44)

$$\frac{E_{s}(s)}{I_{s}(s)} = Z_{o}(s) \quad \frac{R_{o} \cosh \ell_{\gamma}(s) + Z_{o}(s) \sinh \ell_{\gamma}(s)}{Z_{o}(s) \cosh \ell_{\gamma}(s) + R_{o} \sinh \ell_{\gamma}(s)}$$
(2-45)

Consideration of fig. 2.4 for s = 0 (dc) leads to the network shown in fig. 2.5 and the following conclusions:

- 1. The transfer function  $E_r(o)/E_g(o)$ , is equal to  $R_o/(2 R_o + lR)$ .
- 2. The impedance looking into the line,  $E_s(o)/I_s(o)$ , is equal to  $\ell R + R_o$ .

To demonstrate that these two conclusions are consistent with the mathematical model, consider (2-44) and (2-45) when  $|s| \rightarrow o$ . First of all,

$$Z_{o}(s) \rightarrow \sqrt{\frac{R}{sC}}$$
(2-46)  
|s|+0

$$\begin{array}{l} \gamma(s) \rightarrow \sqrt{scR} \\ |s| \rightarrow o \end{array} \tag{2-47}$$

and in the limit,

$$\lim_{o} Z_{o}(s) \to \infty$$

$$|s| \to 0$$

$$(2-48)$$

$$\lim_{|\mathbf{s}| \to \mathbf{0}} \gamma(\mathbf{s}) \to \mathbf{0} .$$
 (2-49)

Putting (2-46) and (2-49) into (2-44) and (2-45) gives for  $|s| \rightarrow 0$ 

$$\begin{bmatrix} E_{r}(s) \\ E_{g}(s) \end{bmatrix} \rightarrow \frac{2 R_{o} \sqrt{sRC}}{2(R_{o}^{2} sC + R) \sinh \ell \sqrt{scR} + 4 R_{o} \sqrt{scR} \cosh \ell \sqrt{scR}}$$
(2-50)

$$\begin{bmatrix} E_{s}(s) \\ I_{s}(s) \end{bmatrix} \rightarrow \sqrt{\frac{sCR}{scR} - \frac{Cosh}{\sqrt{scR} + R} \frac{sinh}{\sqrt{scR}}} \sqrt{\frac{sCR}{scR} + \frac{R}{sc} \frac{sinh}{\sqrt{scR}}}$$
(2-51)

When |s| = 0, (2-50) and (2-51) both yield o/o and are indeterminate. After differentiating the numerators and the denominators, and again applying the limit, the results are

$$\lim_{|s| \to 0} \left[ \frac{E_{r}(s)}{E_{g}(s)} \right] = \frac{R_{o}}{2 R_{o} + \ell R}$$
(2-52)

$$\lim_{|s| \to 0} \left[ \frac{E_s(s)}{I_s(s)} \right] = R_0 + \ell R$$
(2-53)

which agrees with the earlier conclusions.

Next, consider the high frequency behavior of the circuit. Putting (2-32) and (2-33) into (2-44) and (2-45) yields

$$\frac{E_{r}(s)}{E_{g}(s)} = \frac{1}{e^{sT\ell[1 + \delta(s)]} + \frac{[\delta(s)]^{2}}{2[1 + \delta(s)]} \sinh \{sT\ell[1 + \delta(s)]\}}$$
$$= e^{-sT\ell[1 + \delta(s)]}$$
(2-54)

and

$$Z_{s}(s)] = R_{o}[1 + \delta(s)] \quad \frac{e^{sT\ell[1 + \delta(s)]} + \delta(s) \sinh \{sT\ell[1 + \delta(s)]\}}{e^{sT\ell[1 + \delta(s)]} + \delta(s) \cosh \{sT\ell[1 + \delta(s)]\}}$$
$$= R_{o}[1 + \delta(s)] \quad (2-55)$$

as  $|\delta(s)| << 1$ . Note that  $Z_{s}(s)$  is equal to  $Z_{o}(s)$ .

#### 2.4 High Frequency Attenuation and Phase Shift

Equation (2-54) can be written as

$$\frac{E_{r}(s)}{E_{g}(s)} = e^{-sT\ell}e^{-sT\ell\delta(s)}$$
(2-56)

where the first factor represents the time delay of the cable (linear phase shift in the frequency domain), while the second contains the distortion due to high frequency losses. The inverse Laplace transform of (2-56) would yield the initial or early time response of the circuit impulse response. Consequently, (2-56) exhibits the time delay and then the initial impulse response.

In the frequency domain the transfer function is

$$\frac{E_{r}(j\omega)}{E_{e}(j\omega)} = e^{-j\omega \ell T} e^{-\frac{\ell TK}{2L} (j\omega)^{m}}$$

or from (2-36) and (2-37),

$$\frac{E_{r}(j\omega)}{E_{g}(j\omega)} = e^{-j\omega kT} e^{-\frac{k}{2R}} (j\omega)^{m}, \qquad o < m < 1 \qquad (2-57)$$

The attenuation  $\alpha_1\left(\omega\right)$  and the phase  $\beta\left(\omega\right)$  of the transfer function are defined by

and are

$$\alpha_1(\omega) = \text{Real Part of } \frac{\ell K}{2R_o} (j\omega)^m$$
 (2-60)

$$\beta(\omega) = \omega \ell T + \text{Imaginary Part of } \frac{\ell K}{2R_o} (j\omega)^m$$
 (2-61)

In the phase  $\beta(\omega)$ , the first term is the linear phase shift associated with the transmission line time delay. In network terminology exp(-j $\omega$ LT) is an all-pass function possessing a linear phase shift. The second term in the phase is uniquely related to the attenuation because the two terms are the real and imaginary parts of an analytic function along the frequency axis, j $\omega$ , of the complex frequency plane s =  $\sigma$  + j $\omega$ ; thus the factor in (2-57)

$$-\frac{\ell K}{2R} (j\omega)^{m}$$

$$F_{1}(j\omega) = e \qquad 0 < m < 1 \qquad (2-61)$$

is a minimum phase function. Hence, it is seen that the frequency dependent attenuation has associated with it a frequency dependent (non-linear) phase function.

Defining

$$\beta(\omega) = \beta_{0}(\omega) + \beta_{1}(\omega) \qquad (2-62)$$

where

$$\beta_{O}(\omega) = -\omega \ell T \qquad (2-63)$$

$$\beta_1(\omega) = \text{Imaginary Part of } \frac{-\ell K}{2R_o} (j\omega)^m$$
 (2-64)

the minimum phase complex exponent is then

$$A(j\omega) = \alpha_1(\omega) + j \beta_1(\omega)$$
(2-65)

It is equal to the exponent of (2-57) with the linear phase shift removed, i.e.,

$$\ln \left\{ e^{-j\omega kT} \frac{E_{g}(j\omega)}{E_{r}(j\omega)} \right\} = \alpha_{1}(\omega) + j\beta_{1}(\omega)$$
$$\alpha_{1}(\omega) + j\beta_{1}(\omega) = \frac{kK}{2R_{o}}(j\omega)^{m}$$
(2-66)

$$\alpha_{1}(\omega) + j \beta_{1}(\omega) = \frac{\ell K}{2R_{o}} \quad \omega^{m} \quad (\cos \frac{m\pi}{2} + j \sin \frac{m\pi}{2}) \quad (2-67)$$

.Hence,

$$\alpha_{1}(\omega) = \frac{\ell K}{2R_{o}} \omega^{m} \cos m\pi/2, \text{ nepers/unit length}$$
(2-68)

and

$$\beta_1(\omega) = \frac{\ell K}{2R_o} \quad \omega^m \quad \sin \, m\pi/2, \, \text{radians/unit length}$$
(2-69)

which shows that both the attenuation and phase vary as  $\omega^m$ . Their ratio is

$$\frac{\alpha_1(\omega)}{\beta_1(\omega)} = \cot m\pi/2.$$
(2-70)

Figure 2.6 shows a log-log graph illustrating equations (2-68) through (2-70). Note that the linear slope (i.e., the measured slope using a linear scale) is equal to the fractional power, m. Similarly, a graph of the attenuation  $\alpha_1(\omega)$  in dB (8.68 nepers equals one dB) or the minimum phase  $\beta_1(\omega)$  in degrees (0.0175 radians equals one degree) would have a linear slope of m.

For frequencies ranging from DC to very high frequencies, the log-log attenuation graph for the model has two asymptotes, fig. 2.7. For very low frequencies the attenuation asymptotically approaches the value set by the transfer ratio (2-52), i.e.,

$$\alpha(o) = 20 \log \frac{2 R_o + \ell R}{R_o}$$
 (2-71)

On the other hand, for very high frequencies  $\alpha(\omega)$  asymptotically approaches the fractional power response (2-68); in dB, the asymptotic response is

$$\alpha_{1}(\omega) = 8.68 \frac{\ell K}{2R_{o}} |\omega|^{m} \cos m\pi/2, dB.$$
 (2-72)

(Consequently, the model high frequency loss parameter K and the exponent m can be determined from experimental data in the asymptotic high frequency region, provided, of course, that the model is consistent with the physical situation.

In practice, some care must be taken in fitting the model to the experimental data. Specifically, the slope of log-log plot in the high frequency region may not be constant, fig. 2.8; this in turn requires a judgement as to how to select a suitable constant slope curve which is tangent to the log-log attenuation curve in the high frequency region, fig. 2.8. Because the NBS measurement system has a dynamic range of better than 40 dB, the experimental data in the 0 to 30 dB range will possess a good signal to noise ratio. Consequently, the determination of m and K is accomplished by fitting in the 30 dB range. The effectiveness of the fit can only be evaluated by comparing the simulated output waveform based upon the modeled impulse response with that of the observed waveform as will be **de**monstrated in Chapters 4 and 5.

Finally, one other comment should be made regarding the  $s^{m}$  model. The shunt admittance/unit length Y(s) is specified as being a pure susceptance sC, (2-17); thus Y(s) contains no conductance G which would represent one particular form of dielectric loss. However, in the computer program written for this work Y(s) has the provision for the form

$$Y(s) = G + sC$$
 (2-73)

so that such a loss form can be easily included if needed. In the cables considered here, G was negligible (as it was infinitesimal, or for all practical purposes, zero). This is not to say that the  $s^{m}$  model excludes all dielectric loss effects when G = 0. To the contrary, the slope m and the coefficient K can be effected by high frequency losses due to small dielectric losses in combination with conductor losses.



Figure 2.1 The transmission line equivalent circuit per unit length.



Figure 2.2 The basic transmission circuit consisting of a generator, a transmission line, and a load.



Figure 2.3 The equivalent circuit per unit length for the physicallybased mathematical model.



Figure 2.4 The transmission line circuit terminated at each end in  $R_0$ , the nominal characteristic impedance. This is a doubly mismatched transmission line because  $Z_0(s)$  is not equal to  $R_0$  for all s.



Figure 2.5 The transmission line circuit when s = 0 (dc)



Figure 2.6 Log-log graph of the minimum phase attenuation  $\alpha_1(\omega)$  and phase  $\beta_1(\omega)$ . The slope y/x as measured with a linear scale is equal to m.







log ω

Figure 2.8 Two constant slope curves tangent to a log-log attenuation vs. (angular) frequency curve.

# 3. MEASUREMENT METHODS FOR THE DETERMINATION OF THE TRANSMISSION LINE PARAMETERS

In this chapter the measurement methods required to determine the transmission line model parameters are presented. A brief discussion is presented on the need for measurements and some relations between the basic parameters. Then specific measurement methods are described for the determination of R, C, R<sub>o</sub>, m and K. L is determined from C and R<sub>o</sub>.

#### 3.1 The Need for Measurements

A commercially available or military cable may be characterized in terms of a set of nominal frequency domain transmission line parameters. Typically, they are

R - resistance/unit length

- C capacitance/unit length
- R high frequency or nominal characteristic impedance (also called the geometric characteristic impedance).
- $\alpha_1(f)$  attenuation frequency, f.

These parameters are representative of the particular cable type and have been derived from measurements on many different runs of cable. The values can be significantly different from those of a single cable sample and also can vary from manufacturer to manufacturer. Consequently, for precise estimates of the frequency domain performance of a given length of cable, the parameter values should be experimentally determined, i.e., measured. For system design applications the nominal parameter values are used with the hope that they are representative design center values. The main point being stressed here is that the manufacturer's technical specifications are always representative values; individual samples may vary.

For time domain applications, knowledge of the parameters R, C, R<sub>o</sub> and  $\alpha_1(f)$  are also required along with the phase shift,  $\beta_1(f)$ , which is uniquely related to  $\alpha_1(f)$ .  $\beta_1(f)$  is the minimum phase shift component of the total cable phase shift,  $\beta(f)$ , (2-62) written explicitly in terms of frequency, f, i.e.,  $f = \omega/2\pi$ .

$$\beta(f) = \beta_0(f) + \beta_1(f) \tag{3-1}$$

$$= 2\pi fT\ell + \beta_1(f)$$
(3-2)

where  $\beta_0(f)$  is the phase shift due to the inherent transmission delay/unit length, T.

The delay/unit length is related to the velocity of propagation, v, and therefor, related to the inductance/unit length, L, and the capacitance/unit length, C.

$$v = \frac{1}{T} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{LC}}$$
, unit length/sec. (3-3)

Also, the nominal or high frequency characteristic impedance, R, is dependent upon L and C,

$$R_{o} = \sqrt{\frac{L}{C}}, \text{ ohms}.$$
 (3-4)

Consequently, if C is specified, then a knowledge of v or R determines L. Alternately, v and R may be specified which in turn determine L and C,

$$L = \frac{R_0}{v}$$
(3-5)

and

$$C = \frac{1}{vR_o}$$
 (3-6)

The relations (3-3) through (3-6) are useful in both the time domain and frequency domain modeling; furthermore, some manufacturers specify v and R rather than C and R.

# 3.2 Measurement of the per Unit Length Resistance and Capacitance, R and C

Normally, R and C are specified by the manufacturer. If for some reason they must be determined experimentally, bridge measurements may be used. R is determined by measuring the loop resistance,  $\ell$ R using a D.C. resistance bridge, figs. 3.1 and 3.2. Similarly, C is determined using a 1 kHz capacitance bridge. With a bridge having one terminal grounded, the measurement is straight-forward for a coaxial conductor unbalanced cable, fig. 3.3. However, for a shielded paired-conductor cable, in general, three capacitance measurements have to be made to determine the total cable capacitance,  $\ell C_{AB}$ ,

$$\& C_{AB} = \& \left[ C_1 + \frac{C_2 C_3}{C_2 + C_3} \right].$$
(3-7)

The terminal designations are defined in fig. 3.4 while the equivalent circuit capacitances are defined in fig. 3.5. The measurement technique follows the procedure in [4] and consists of the following capacitance measurements: (1) C', A to ground with B grounded, (2) C", A to ground with A and B shorted together, (3) C''', B to ground with A grounded. The values of  $\&C_1$ ,  $\&C_2$ ,  $\&C_3$  are then given by

$$\ell C_1 = \frac{C' - C'' + C'''}{2}$$
(3-8)

$$\&C_2 = \frac{C' + C'' - C'''}{2}$$
(3-9)

$$\iota c_3 = \frac{-C' + C'' + C'''}{2} . \tag{3-10}$$

#### 3.3 Measurement of the Nominal Characteristic

#### Impedance, R

The nominal characteristic impedance  $R_0$  is actually the limit of the high frequency impedance (2-33, 2-37) and is conceptually viewed as the characteristic impedance which depends solely upon the inductance and capacitance per unit length. Furthermore,  $R_0$  is resistive, i.e., independent of s.

For large values s, the characteristic impedance is

$$Z_{o}(s) = \sqrt{\frac{L}{C}} \left[ 1 + \delta(s) \right], \quad |\delta(s)| << |$$
(2-33)
  
HF

or

$$= R_{0} \left[ 1 + \delta(s) \right]. \tag{3-11}$$

Now consider for the moment, that a step of current  $I_g/s$  is applied to the impedance (3-11). The voltage across  $Z_o(s)$  at  $t = 0^+$  would jump up to  $I_gR_o$  volts and then commence to vary with time as dictated by the inverse Laplace transform of  $I_gR_o\delta(s)/s$ , fig. 3.6. By applying a step of voltage from a resistive source  $R_g$  to the input of a long length of cable, it is possible to calculate the value of  $R_o$  from the initial response of the sending end voltage  $e_g(t)$ , fig. 3.7.

First of all, when a signal is abruptly applied to a transmission line, the transmission line appears as an impedance equal to the characteristic impedance  $Z_o(s)$ . This is why the term surge impedance is also used in place of characteristic impedance. The impedance continues to appear as  $Z_o(s)$  until reflections from the receiving end arrive back at the sending end. If the line is terminated in  $Z_o(s)$  then there will be no reflections, and the line will continue to appear as an impedance equal to  $Z_o(s)$ . More will be said about such phenomena in the chapter on time domain reflectometry (Chapter 7).

Furthermore, for the initial response, only the high frequency components of  $Z_0(s)$  contribute to the response. Consequently, for some time interval, say  $t_1$ , the high frequency approximation to  $Z_0(s)$  (3-11) would be valid for predicting the initial response of the transmission line, as shown by the solid-line portion of  $e_s(t)$  between 0 and  $t_1$  in fig. 3.7. Also, in fig. 3.7  $t_2$  denotes qualitatively the time required for reflections to return to the sending end from the open circuited receiving end. The value of  $t_2$  is set by  $\ell$  and must be large enough so that reflections do not interfere with the observation of the abrupt rise in the neighborhood of  $t=0^+$ .

Consequently, the initial response of the cable to a voltage step of magnitude  $E_g$  is given by

$$E_{s}(s) = \frac{E_{g}}{s} \frac{Z_{o}(s) J_{HF}}{R_{g} + Z_{o}(s) J_{HF}}$$
(3-12)

$$= \frac{E_g}{s} = \frac{R_o + R_o \delta(s)}{R_g + R_o + R_o \delta(s)}$$
(3-13)

or approximated by

$$E_{s}(s) \stackrel{*}{=} \frac{E_{g}}{s} \frac{R_{o}}{R_{g} + R_{o}} \left[1 + \delta(s)\right]$$
(3-14)

because  $R_o > R_o |\delta(s)|$  and  $R_o + R_g$  is larger than  $R_o$ . In the time domain, the initial response of  $e_s(t)$  consists of an abrupt jump E,

$$E = \frac{E_g R_o}{R_g + R_o}$$
(3-15)

and then a slower upward trailing, fig. 3.7. From (3-15) R is obtained as

$$R_{o} = \frac{E}{E_{g} - E} R_{g} .$$
(3-16)

If  $R_g$  happens to equal R, then E would equal  $E_g/2$ . An example of an initial response expressible mathematically in closed form is given for m = 0.5 in [5].

The measurement of  $R_0$  can be implemented by the methods shown in figs. 3.8 and 3.9 for the coaxialconductor cable and the shielded paired-conductor cable, respectively. For the coaxial-conductor cable measurement, the effective generator impedance is 50  $\Omega$ .

For the paired-conductor case the generator impedance is 100  $\Omega$  and the sampling oscilloscope display is set for channel A minus channel B which yields a display voltage

$$e_{d}(t) = e_{A}(t) - e_{B}(t) = e_{S}(t).$$
 (3-17)

Also, remember that the ground connection must be connected to the signal-ground, i.e., the zero potential for the balanced-transmission line (refer to fig. 3.5). For both cases, the cable length *l* should be long enough so that reflections do not occur in the region of the initial response, fig. 3.7.

Closely related to the measurement of  $R_0$  is the use of time domain reflectometry (TDR) to evaluate or test cables. The reader is referred to Chapter 7 of this report and in particular, Section 7.3 on a practical measurement method for observing the sending-end voltage.

# 3.4 Insertion Measurements for the Determination of the High Frequency Loss Parameter and the Exponent m

The loss parameter K and the exponent m are determined by model-fitting to data obtained from a time domain (pulse) insertion measurement, the basic method being shown in fig. 3.10.  $e_{d1}(t)$  and  $e_{d2}(t)$  are the observable quantities displayed on an oscilloscope before and after the insertion of the cable of length  $\ell$  between a generator and matched load. The generator and load impedances are both equal to the nominal transmission line characteristic impedance. Denoting the inverse Laplace transform as  $t_{l}^{-1}\{ \ \}, e_{d1}(t)$  and  $e_{d2}(t)$  are given by

$$e_{d1}(t) = \mathcal{L}^{-1} \left\{ T(s) \; \frac{E_{g}(s)}{2} \right\}$$
(3-18)  
$$e_{d2}(t) \; \mathcal{L}^{-1} \left\{ T(s) \; 2E_{g}(s) \left[ \frac{Z_{o}(s)}{R_{o} + Z_{o}(s)} \right] \left[ \frac{R_{o}}{R_{o} + Z_{o}(s)} \right] \left[ \frac{e^{-\ell \gamma(s)}}{1 - [\rho(s)]^{2} e^{-2\ell \gamma(s)}} \right] \right\}$$
(3-19)

where T(s) is the oscilloscope transfer function (input to display), and  $\tau(t)$  its inverse transform or impulse response. Also,

$$\rho(s) = \frac{R_{o} - Z_{o}(s)}{R_{o} + Z_{o}(s)} \quad .$$
(3-20)

Aside from the factor T(s) (3-19) is taken from (2-39), while (3-20) is from (2-41). The ratio,  $E_{d2}(s)/E_{d1}(s)$ , is equal to  $E_{2}(s)/E_{1}(s)$ ,

$$\frac{E_{2}(s)}{E_{1}(s)} = 4 \left[ \frac{Z_{0}(s)}{R_{0} + Z_{0}(s)} \right] \left[ \frac{R_{0}}{R_{0} + Z_{0}(s)} \right] \left[ \frac{e^{-\ell_{\gamma}(s)}}{1 - [\rho(s)]^{2} e^{-2\ell_{\gamma}(s)}} \right]$$
(3-21)

because T(s) cancels out along with the pulse dependence,  $E_g(s)$ . The ratio  $E_2(s)/E_1(s)$  is equal to the scattering network parameter  $S_{21}(s)$ .

Briefly, the transmission line can be represented by the scattering parameters  $S_{11}(s)$ ,  $S_{22}(s)$ , and  $S_{12}(s) = S_{21}(s)$ . Figure 3.11 shows a transmission line inserted into another uniform transmission system of characteristic impedance  $Z_0(s)$ . In general, the incident and reflected voltages on the  $Z_0(s)$  transmission line system are

$$V_{r1}(s) = V_{11}(s) S_{11}(s) + V_{12}(s) S_{12}(s)$$
 (3-22)

and

$$V_{r2}(s) = V_{11}(s) S_{21}(s) + V_{12}(s) S_{22}(s)$$
 (3-23)

The terminal voltages of the inserted transmission line are

$$V_1(s) = V_{11}(s) + V_{r1}(s)$$
 (3-24)

and

$$v_2(s) = v_{12}(s) + v_{r2}(s)$$
 (3-25)

When the uniform transmission line is terminated in  $Z_0(s)$ , fig. 3.12,  $V_{12}(s)$  is zero, and the voltages become

$$V_{r1}(s) = V_{11}(s) S_{11}(s)$$
 (3-26)

$$V_{r2}(s) = V_{11}(s) S_{21}(s)$$
 (3-27)

$$V_{1}(s) = V_{11}(s) + V_{r1}(s)$$
 (3-28)

$$V_2(s) = V_{r2}(s)$$
 (3-29)

The voltage  $V_2(s)$  corresponds to  $E_2(s)$  in (3-21). If the inserted transmission line in fig. 3.12 is removed from the circuit and terminals 1 and 2 connected together, then  $V_{r1}(s)$  is zero, and

$$V_1(s) = V_{11}(s)$$
 (3-30)

which corresponds to  $E_1(s)$  in (3-21). Then from (3-27), (3-29), and (3-30), there results

$$\frac{E_2(s)}{E_1(s)} = S_{21}(s)$$
(3-31)

Returning now to consideration of (3-21), in terms of the model for high frequencies  $\gamma(s)$  and  $Z_{\rho}(s)$  become

$$\begin{array}{c} f(s) \\ HF \end{array} = s T[1 + \delta(s)] & \left| \delta(s) \right| << 1 \end{array}$$
 (2-32)

and

$$Z_{o}(s) = R_{o}[1 + \delta(s)] \quad |\delta(s)| << 1$$
(2-33)

which reduces (3-21) to

or in terms of the Fourier transform

$$\frac{E_{2}(j\omega)}{E_{1}(j\omega)} = e^{-j\omega T \ell - T \ell \delta(j\omega)}.$$
(3-33)

Thus, the model attenuation at high frequencies

$$\alpha_{1}(\omega) \int_{dB} = 20 \log \left| \frac{E_{1}(j\omega)}{E_{2}(j\omega)} \right|_{HF} \right| = 8.68 \frac{\ell K}{2R_{o}} |\omega|^{m} \cos m\pi/2, \qquad (3-34)$$

can be compared with the Fourier transform attenuation data computed from the experimentally observed waveforms,  $e_1(t)$  and  $e_2(t)$ , in order to determine K and m. As discussed in section 2.3 and illustrated in figs. 2.6 - 2.8, this is accomplished in a tractable way using a log-log graph,  $\log \alpha_1(\omega)$  vs.  $\log \omega$ .

In practice, the insertion measurements are carried out using a 50 ohm sampling oscilloscope system which has two channels. Because R may not be equal to 50 ohms or 100 ohms (for coaxial-conductor or paired-conductor cable, respectively) resistive impedance matching networks may be required, figs. 3.13 and 3.14. The matching networks are in an "L" configuration, each different value of R requiring its own matching network. The networks used in this study are summarized in fig. 3.15.



Figure 3.1 Measurement of the total coaxial-conductor cable resistance, &R.



Figure 3.2 Measurement of the total shielded paired-conductor cable resistance,  $\ell R$ .



Figure 3.3 Measurement of the total coaxial-conductor cable capacitance, &C.



Figure 3.4 Terminal designations for measuring the total shielded pairedconductor cable capacitance, &C.







Individual coaxial shields on each pairedconductor; ground terminal is the zero potential for the balanced transmission line



Figure 3.5 Shielded paired-conductor configurations and their equivalent capacitance circuits.



Figure 3.6 The response of  $Z_{o}(s)]_{HF}$  to a current step of magnitude I.



Figure 3.7 The initial response (solid line) of the sending end voltage  $e_{s}(t)$  due to a voltage step from a generator having a resistive source impedance.



Figure 3.8 R measurement set-up for a coaxial-conductor cable (unbalanced lines, generally).



Figure 3.9 R measurement set-up for a shielded paired-conductor cable (balanced lines, generally).



Figure 3.10 The time domain insertion method;  $e_{d1}(t)$  and  $e_{d2}(t)$  are the observables corresponding to  $e_1(t)$  and  $e_2(t)$ , respectively, before and after the insertion of the cable of length  $\ell$ .  $\tau(t)$  is the impulse response of the oscilloscope.


Figure 3.11 The scattering parameter representation of a transmission line inserted into a uniform transmission line system of characteristic impedance Z<sub>o</sub>(s).



Figure 3.12 Uniform transmission line system terminated in its characteristic impedance Z<sub>0</sub>(s).



Insertion plane

Figure 3.13 Practical implementation of the time domain insertion method for a coaxial-conductor cable.



Insertion plane

Figure 3.14 Practical implementation of the time domain insertion method for a shielded-paired-conductor cable.





Ro	<sup>R</sup> 1	R <sub>2</sub>	R <sub>3</sub>
75 78 95 98 124	25 23.45 11.18 7.07 0	75 83.1 212.25 692.00 113.6	0 0 0 27.27

Figure 3.15 The resistive impedance matching networks, 50 ohms to  $R_{o}$ .

- (a) Shielded paired-conductor cables,
- (b) Coaxial-conductor cables.

# 4. AN OVERVIEW OF THE COMPUTER CALCULATION FOR THE TRANSMISSION LINE IMPULSE AND STEP RESPONSES

In this chapter a qualitative overview is presented which describes the computer calculations for the extraction of model parameters from measured data and the simulation of the impulse and step responses. The calculations are accomplished by the NBS Automatic Pulse Measurement System (APMS) [6,7].

## 4.1 Data Acquisition Method

The data is generated by repetitive pulse excitation and is displayed by a sampling oscilloscope interfaced to and controlled by a minicomputer system, i.e., the NBS Automatic Pulse Measurement System (APMS). For a given display waveform, say  $e_{d2}(t)$ , the data is acquired by making 500 observations at a fixed time position  $t_1$  of 500 repetitions of the signal; the mean value [8,9] of the observations  $e_{d2}(t_1)$  is calculated by the computer,

$$\frac{1}{e_{d2}(t_1)} = \frac{\sum_{r=0}^{500} \left[ e_{d2}(t_1) \right]_r}{500} .$$
(4-1)

The time window,  $T_W$ , is represented by 1024 uniformly spaced points; consequently, a set of 1024 mean values represent the waveform, fig. 4.1,

$$\hat{e}_{d2}(nT) = \sum_{n=0}^{1023} \left\{ \delta(t-nT) \ \overline{e_{d2}(nT)} \right\}$$
(4-2)

where  $\delta(t)$  is the unit delta or impulse function multiplied by the strength  $e_{d2}(nT)$  and where

$$T = T_{\rm U}/1024.$$
 (4-3)

Refer to figs. 4.5 and 4.6 for a graphical explanation of the delta function train (4.2). The waveforms  $e_{d1}(t)$  and  $e_{d2}(t)$  of the time domain insertion method, fig. 3.10, are both acquired by the procedure just described and will be denoted by  $\hat{e}_{d1}(nT)$  and  $\hat{e}_{d2}(nT)$ , corresponding to the form of (4.2).

# 4.2 Fourier Transformation of $\hat{e}_{d1}$ (nT) and $\hat{e}_{d2}$ (nT)

The discrete acquired waveforms  $\hat{e}_{d1}(nT)$  and  $\hat{e}_{d2}(nt)$  are each transformed to the frequency domain using the Fast Fourier Transform (FFT) algorithm for the discrete Fourier transformation [10]. To do so, for each waveform a 2048 point time window is used which includes 1024 points of zero value, fig. 4.2. The extension of the waveform to 2048 points increases the frequency resolution by decreasing the spacing between the discrete frequencies to one half of that available from the unaugmented waveform, fig. 4.3 and 4.4. The frequency domain spacing  $\Delta f$  is equal to  $1/T_W$  and the frequency window,  $F_W$  remains unchanged when both N and  $T_W$  are doubled, but the number of points in  $F_W$  are doubled.

The result of the FFT operation yields the discrete functions  $\hat{E}_{d1}(\frac{k}{2NT})$  and  $\hat{E}_{d2}(\frac{k}{2NT})$  which represent complex values at the discrete frequencies k/2NT, e.g., the discrete waveform,  $\hat{e}_{d2}(nT)$ , of fig. 4.2 transforms to

$$\hat{E}_{d2}(\frac{k}{2NT}) = \sum_{n=0}^{2N-1} \hat{e}_{d2}(nT)e^{-j2\pi nk/2N}; \quad k = 0, 1, \dots 2N-1$$
(4-4)

where N equals 1024; consequently,  $E_{d2}(k/2NT)$  consists of 2048 complex values, one value for each of the 2048 discrete frequencies, k/2NT. Furthermore,  $\hat{E}_{d2}(k/2NT)$  is a symmetrical periodic function and as such contains only 1024 distinct values.

4.3 The Calculation of  $\hat{s}_{21}(k/2NT)$  and  $\hat{\alpha}_1(k/2NT)$ 

The discrete insertion ratio  $\hat{S}_{21}(k, 2NT)$  is computed in the same manner as its continuous counterpart,

$$S_{21}(j\omega) = \frac{E_{d2}(j\omega)}{E_{d1}(j\omega)},$$
 (3-31)

hence

$$\hat{s}_{21}(k/2NT) = \frac{\hat{E}_{d2}(k/2NT)}{\hat{E}_{d1}(k/2NT)}$$
(4-5)

$$= |\hat{s}_{21}(k/2NT)| / \hat{\beta}_{1}(k/2NT)$$
(4-6)

where k=0,1,...2N-1, and  $|\hat{s}_{21}|$  and  $\hat{\beta}_1$  are the magnitude and phase of the discrete function  $\hat{s}_{21}$  at the discrete frequencies k/2NT, respectively.

However, an averaging process is used in arriving at  $\hat{s}_{21}(k/2NT)$ . The process is repeated using six different acquisitions for  $\hat{E}_{d2}(k/2NT)$  and a single acquisition for  $\hat{E}_{d1}(k/2NT)$ . Then, the resultant  $\hat{s}_{21}(k/2NT)$  data sets are expressed in terms of the discrete attenuation  $\hat{\alpha}_1(k/2NT)$  and phase  $\hat{\beta}_1(k/2NT)$ ,

Attenuation, 
$$\hat{\alpha}_{1}(k/2NT) \equiv 20 \log |\hat{s}_{21}(k/2NT)|^{-1}$$
, dB

Phase, 
$$\hat{\beta}_{1}(k/2NT) = -Tan^{-1} \left\{ \frac{Imag. Pt. \hat{S}_{21}(k/2NT)}{Real Pt. \hat{S}_{21}(k/2NT)} \right\}$$
, degrees.

and the mean values are determined by

$$\frac{1}{\hat{\alpha}_{1}(k/2NT)} = \frac{\sum_{r}^{0} 20 \log |\hat{s}_{21}(k/2NT)|_{r}^{-1}}{6} dB$$
(4-7)

$$\frac{\hat{\beta}_{1}(k/2NT)}{\hat{\beta}_{1}(k/2NT)} = \frac{\sum_{r}^{6} [\hat{\beta}_{1}(k/2NT)]_{r}}{6}, \text{ degrees}$$
(4-8)

where

$$[\hat{s}_{21}(k/2NT]_{r}]^{-1} = \frac{[\hat{E}_{d1}(k/2NT)]}{[\hat{E}_{d2}(k/2NT)]_{r}}$$
(4-9)

$$= |\hat{S}_{21}(k/2NT)|_{r}^{-1} \underline{/-[\hat{\beta}_{1}(k/2NT)]_{r}}.$$
(4-10)

and  $[\hat{E}_{d2}(k/2NT)]_r$  corresponds to the r-th acquisition from  $e_{d2}(t)$ , i.e.,  $[\hat{e}_{d2}(nT)]_r$ .

The discrete values  $\hat{\alpha}_1(k/2NT)$  and  $\hat{\beta}_1(k/2NT)$ , (4-7) and (4-8), are computed for the first three hundred harmonics, because in most cases 300 harmonics cover a magnitude range of about 0 to -30 dB. The capability for any other number of harmonics is retained in the computer program. At each value of frequency, the standard deviation [8] for (4-7) and (4-8) are computed as a measure of the consistency of the data. In particular, the standard deviation of the attenuation,  $\sigma_c$ , is given by

$$\sigma_{s}(k/2NT) = \left[ \underbrace{\sum_{r=0}^{6} \left[ \widehat{\alpha_{1}(k/2NT)} - \widehat{\alpha_{1}(k/2NT)}_{r} \right]^{2}}_{5} \right]^{1/2}.$$
 (4-11)

Past experience has shown that consistent data yields  $\sigma_s$  values in a typical range of 0.02 to 0.2 dB for an attenuation range of one to 30 dB.

#### 4.4 The Extraction of the Model Parameters K and m

The parameters K and m are obtained by fitting the model at high frequencies to the (mean) attenuation data  $[\alpha_1(k/2NT)]$  as was pointed out in the discussion of (3-34) and figs. 2.6 - 2.8. The values of K and m of the equation

$$\alpha_{1}(\omega) = \left(\frac{8.68 \ \ell}{2} \frac{\cos m\pi/2}{R_{o}}\right) K|\omega|^{m}$$
(3-34)

can be determined from the straight-line parameters of the equation resulting from the log of (3-34),

$$\log \alpha_1(\omega) = \log\left(\frac{8.68 \ \ell \ \cos \ m\pi/2}{2 \ R_o}\right) + \log \ K + m \ \log|\omega|; \qquad (4-12)$$

that is,

$$\log \hat{\alpha}_{1}(k/2NT) = \log\left(\frac{8.68\ell \cos m\pi/2}{2R_{o}}\right) + \log K + m \log|k/2NT|.$$
(4-13)

The parameters log K and m can be determined from the straight-line parameters of the logarithm of the mean attenuation (4-7), log  $[\alpha_1(k/2NT)]$ .

The slope m is determined by calculating the log-log graph slope from two values of the graph separated by 50 abscissa points, e.g., k=50, and k=100. The slope so determined is designated  $m_1$ . Next K is calculated using m, in (4-13) from

$$\log \hat{\alpha}_{1}(k/2NT) = \log\left(\frac{8.68 \ \ell \ \cos \ m_{1}\pi/2}{2 \ R_{0}}\right) + \log \ K + m_{1} \ \log \ |k/2NT|$$
(4-14)

by an iterative solution method; the result is designated  $K_1$ .

The process for calculating  $m_1$  and  $K_1$  is repeated using the next two points k=51 and k=101; the results are designated  $m_2$  and  $K_2$ . The process is repeated 150 times ending with k=200 and k=250. The mean values of  $m_r$  and  $K_r$  are then determined as

$$\overline{m} = \sum_{r=1}^{150} m_r / 150$$
(4-15)

and

$$\overline{k} = \sum_{r=1}^{150} \kappa_r / 150$$
(4-16)

The calculation process is started at k=50, rather than k=0 to avoid the small errors which appear at the beginning of the frequency window due to system errors, noise, etc.

Finally, the entire process is repeated three times; starting from  $e_{d1}(t)$  and  $e_{d2}(t)$  the complete operations of sections 4.1, 4.2, and 4.3 are repeated to yield three independent functions  $[\overline{\alpha}_1(k/2NT)]_1, [\overline{\alpha}_1(k/2NT)]_2$ , and  $[\overline{\alpha}_1(k/2NT)]_3$  from which three sets of mean values for m and K are determined:

$$\left[\frac{\widehat{\alpha}_{1}(k/2NT)}{\widehat{\alpha}_{1}(k/2NT)}\right]_{1} \longrightarrow [\overline{m}]_{1}, [\overline{K}_{1}]_{1}$$

$$\left[\hat{\alpha}_{1}^{(k/2NT)}\right]_{2} \longrightarrow \left[\overline{m}\right]_{2}, \quad \left[\overline{K}\right]_{2}$$

$$\left[\hat{\alpha}_{1}^{}(k/2NT)\right]_{3} \longrightarrow [\overline{m}]_{3}, [\overline{K}]_{3}.$$

Then, the mean values for  $[\overline{m}]$  and  $[\overline{K}]$  are calculated, where

$$[\overline{\overline{m}}] = \frac{[\overline{m}]_1 + [\overline{m}]_2 + [\overline{m}]_3}{3}$$
 (4-17)

$$\frac{\overline{[K]}}{[K]} = \frac{[\overline{K}]_1 + [\overline{K}]_2 + [\overline{K}]_3}{3}$$
(4-18)

and the resultant values are the ones used for the model parameters m and K. The standard deviations,  $\sigma_{\rm m}$  and  $\sigma_{\rm K}$  are also calculated for control purposes to insure that the data are consistent. They are

$$\sigma_{\mathbf{m}} = \left[\sum_{r=1}^{3} \frac{\left\{\overline{[\mathbf{m}]} - [\mathbf{m}]_{\mathbf{r}}\right\}^{2}}{2}\right]^{1/2}$$
(4-19)

and

$$\sigma_{\rm K} = \left[\sum_{r=1}^{3} \left\{\frac{\overline{[\bar{\rm K}]} - [\bar{\rm K}]_{\rm r}}{2}\right\}^2\right]^{1/2}.$$
(4-20)

#### 4.5 Simulation of the Impulse Response

The impulse response of a cable of length l doubly terminated in its nominal characteristic impedance  $R_o$  is obtained from (2-39) with  $E_g(s) = 1$ ,

$$H(s) = 2 \left[ \frac{Z_{o}(s)}{R_{o} + Z_{o}(s)} \right] \left[ \frac{R_{o}}{R_{o} + Z_{o}(s)} \right] \left[ \frac{e^{-l\gamma(s)}}{1 - [\rho(s)]^{2} e^{-2l\gamma(s)}} \right]$$
(4-21)

where

$$Z_{o} = [(R + sL + Ks^{m})/sC]^{1/2}$$

$$\gamma(s) = [(R + sL + Ks^{m})sc]^{1/2}$$

$$p(s) = \frac{R_{o} - Z_{o}(s)}{R_{o} + Z_{o}(s)} .$$
(2-41)

The received voltage (4-21) due to a unit impulse for  $e_g(t)$ ,  $E_g(s) = 1$ , is equal to one half of  $E_2(s)/E_1(s)$ , (3-21); consequently, from (3-31) the impulse response is

$$H(s) = \frac{1}{2} S_{21}(s) . \qquad (4-22)$$

Using the model parameters (R, L, K, m, and C) which are now known, a discrete 1024 point representation of the insertion function  $\frac{1}{2}S_{21}(s)$  is constructed. Next, the inverse discrete Fourier transformation of  $\frac{1}{2}S_{21}(k/NT)$  will yield the discrete time-domain impulse response,

$$\hat{h}(nT) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{k=0}^{N-1} \frac{1}{2} \hat{s}_{21}(k/NT) e^{j2\pi nk/N}; \quad n = 0, 1, \dots N-1.$$
(4-23)

A typical display for h(nT) would be similar to  $e_{d2}(nT)$ , fig. 4.1.

# 4.6 Determination of the dc Level for the Impulse Response, $\hat{h}(nT)$

The dc level of the impulse response must be established before the step response can be calculated. Theoretically, the point n = 0 should yield  $\hat{h}(o) = 0$ ; if such were the case, then by setting the level of  $\hat{h}(nT)$  equal to zero at n = 0, the dc level would be properly located. However, due to the system errors in the region of  $o \le n < 10$ , the zero level can not be determined. Similar effects are encountered at the end of the time window near n = 1024.

Physically, the impulse response of the cable at the end of the time window is not equal to zero; it will be a small value,  $10^{-4}$ , (typically  $10^{-3}$  of the peak value of the impulse response). Consequently, to set the dc level, the voltage at a specified time, say  $n_1$ , is calculated using the model and the identified model parameters. To do so, the Fourier components of the transfer function (impulse response) are summed for a specified time, typically, at 90% of the time window, 0.9  $T_w$ . At the present time on the APMS this summation of the Fourier series requires considerable computation time, e.g., several hours, because a large number of harmonics must be summed without recourse to array processing computation. Typically, for a 1 KHz separation of harmonics 5.12 X 10<sup>°</sup> harmonics are required for a one microsecond time window containing 1024 data points (harmonics from 1 kHz to 512 MHz). The typical convergence at 0.9 T<sub>w</sub> is such that the voltage converges to about  $10^{-3}$  V<sub>max</sub> with a peak oscillatory variation in the range of  $10^{-4}$  V<sub>max</sub> to  $10^{-5}$  V<sub>max</sub>.

Once the voltage for  $n_1$  has been computed, then the dc level of the impulse response waveform,  $\hat{h}(nT)$ , is shifted so that the value of  $\hat{h}(n_1T)$  is equal to the computed voltage at  $n_1$ .

#### 4.7 Simulation of the Step Response

The impulse response (4-23) may be expressed in the form

$$\hat{h}(nT) = \sum_{n=0}^{1023} h(nT)\delta(t-nT)$$
(4-24)

where

$$T = T_{w}^{1024}$$
 (4-25)

and each term for the product  $h(nT)\delta(t-nT)$  is given by a corresponding sum over k in (4-23).

The discrete step response is obtained by integrating (4-24) and then sampling the result to provide discrete data values. Integrating the impulse train (4-24) gives

$$f(t) = \int \hat{h}(nT) dt = T \sum_{m=0}^{n} h(mT)u(t-mT)$$
 (4-26)

where u(t) is the unit step function. (4-26) is a staircase waveform whose envelope is the integral of the impulse train. By sampling f(t) at the points t = nT, the discrete waveform for the step response is obtained as

$$\hat{f}(nT) = T \sum_{n=0}^{1023} f(nT)\delta(t-nT)$$
 (4-27)

$$= T \sum_{n=0}^{1023} \delta(t-nT) \sum_{m=0}^{n} h(mT). \qquad (4-28)$$

The integration of the impulse response (4-24) to yield the step response (4-28) is illustrated graphically in figs. 4-5 through 4-8.



Figure 4.1 A given display waveform is represented by 1024 data points, each point being the mean value of 500 observations.



Figure 4.2 A given display waveform of 1024 points augmented by 1024 zeros to yield a total time window of 2048 points.



Figure 4.3 One cycle of the periodic 1024 discrete Fourier transform corresponding to  $\hat{e}_{d1}(nT)$ , fig. 4.1.



Figure 4.4 One cycle of the periodic 2048 point discrete Fourier transform corresponding to the augmented-zero waveform, fig. 4.2.



Figure 4.5 The sequence of values representing the discrete impulse response  $\hat{h}(nT)$ .



Figure 4.6 The sequence  $\hat{h}(nT)$  represented as a train of delta functions of varying strengths. Keep in mind that each delta function is infinite in amplitude while its strength is given by its integral. This representation corresponds to (4.24) and is the mathematical representation for a sequence of values.



Figure 4.7 The integral of the delta function train, fig. 4.6; yields a staircase function. Each step along the staircase corresponds to the strength of the corresponding impulse in fig. 4.6. f(t) is a piece-wise continuous function, (4-26).



Figure 4.8 The sequence of values representing the discrete step response  $\hat{f}(uT)$ . This is the discrete function corresponding to the piece-wise continuous function (4-28) shown in Fig. 4.7.

5

#### 5. TYPICAL RESULTS FOR TRANSMISSION CHARACTERIZATION AND RESPONSE

In this chapter typical results are presented for the determination of the transmission line parameters and the corresponding frequency and time domain responses. These results are typical of the data obtained for all of the cables considered in this report; data on specific cable types vs. length are given in Appendix A. Here, a single cable type of fixed length is used to illustrate results for parameter characterization and response simulation.

## 5.1 Description of the Cable

The cable results reported below were obtained using a 320 meter (1050 ft.) length of shielded paired-conductor transmission line. This cable is commercially available and for the purposes of this report is designated by the letter I. The nominal specifications for the cable are as follows:

Nominal characteristic impedance - 124 ohms Overall diameter - 1.07 cm (0.420 in.) Inductance/unit length - 620 nH/m (189 nH/ft) Capacitance/unit length - 40.3 pf/m (12.3 pf/ft) Resistance/unit length - 61.7 x 10<sup>-3</sup> ohms/m (18 ohms/ft.)

# 5.2 The Results

The results are divided into three groups. The first one illustrates the acquired time domain insertion voltages and the subsequent computed (FFT) complex frequency domain data for the insertion ratio  $S_{21}(j\omega)$ . The second section shows the model simulated responses obtained. In the third section the simulation results for the impulse and step responses are shown.

Figures 5-1 and 5-2 show the acquired waveforms  $\hat{e}_{d1}(nT)$  and  $\hat{e}_{d2}(nT)$  which are the discrete insertion waveforms corresponding to equations (3-18) and (3-19); they were acquired in the manner discussed in Section 4.1. Next, the discrete Fourier transforms of  $\hat{e}_{d1}(nT)$  and  $\hat{e}_{d2}(nT)$  are computed and are used to calculate the complex ratio  $[\hat{E}_{d2}(k/2NT)]/[\hat{E}_{d1}(k/2NT)]$  which is the insertion ratio  $\hat{S}_{21}(k/2NT)$ , Sections 4.2 and 4.3. Table 5-1 lists the complex data for  $\hat{S}_{21}(k/2NT)$ , (4.10), along with the standard deviations of each value of  $|\hat{S}_{21}|$  and the phase  $B_1$ . Figure 5-3 shows a log-log graph of the attenuation  $\alpha(k/2NT)$ , (4.7). The phase data in Table 5-1 is used only to ascertain that the data for  $\hat{S}_{21}(k/2NT)$  possesses a small enough standard deviation in the phase data, which in conjunction with a small standard deviation for the magnitude  $|\hat{S}_{21}|$ , indicates that the data is consistent.

The parameters m and K are extracted from the data shown in fig. 5-3 according to the theory in Section 3.4 and by the method of Section 4.4. Using the extracted values of m and K, the simulated cable attenuation  $\hat{a}_1$  (k/2NT) and its associated minimum phase shift  $\hat{\beta}_1$  (k/2NT) are calculated, figs. 5-4 and 5-5.

By taking the inverse discrete Fourier transform, using the inverse FFT algorithm, of the frequency domain simulation data, the simulated impulse response of the cable, h(nT), is obtained, fig. 5-6. The D. C. level of the impulse response has been carefully established by the procedure described in section 4.6. To validate the (simulated) impulse response, the acquired reference waveform  $\hat{e}_{d1}(nT)$  is convolved with the impulse response and the result is compared to the acquired insertion waveform  $\hat{e}_{d2}(nT)$ . Figure 5-7 shows  $\hat{e}_{d2}(nT)$ , fig. 5-2, with an expanded time scale while fig. 5-8 shows the result of convolving  $\hat{e}_{d1}(nT)$ , fig. 5-1 with the simulated impulse response  $\hat{h}(nT)$ , fig. 5-6. Comparison of figs. 5-and 5-8 shows no significant differences in shape, hence the model parameters accurately characterize the cable.

The step response of the cable,  $\hat{f}(nT)$ , is obtained by integration of the impulse response  $\hat{h}(nT)$ , fig. 5-6, as discussed in Section 4.7; the result is shown in fig. 5-9. Note that step response  $\hat{f}(nT)$  has reached the normalized value of about 0.86 at the end of the time window, 999 nanoseconds. According to eq. (2-52) the final value referred to the sending end generator voltage  $E_g$  would be  $R_o/(2R_o + \&R)$  or 0.463 for this particular cable (parameter values given in Section 5.1). Without losses at dc (R = 0), this value would be 0.5. Normalizing the lossless value to 1.0, gives a final value dc value, i.e., the value for t =  $\infty$ ) of 0.926. Consequently, it is seen that the cable response has not reached the true final value of 0.926 in one microsecond. Consequently, the transmission line could not accurately transmit pulses changing state every microsecond.



























TABLE 5-1

List of magnitude and phase for the insertion ratio  $\stackrel{\circ}{\rm S}_{21}(\rm k/2N)$  including the standard deviations of the magnitude and phase.

NUMBER OF MEASUREMENTS=

æ										
SIGM	684 362 362	191	2133			200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200 200	2814 1814	8\$\$X	2884 2405	
	-000 000		000	000 1111	000 000	1000 1000	1000 1001	2000 2000	3000	2000
ž										
PMER	6224 454	280	2226	542		244 24	222	226	242	20000 200000 200000
_	- 510 				<u></u> 848	9486		-121		
Œ	888	888	888	888	888	8888		888		
SIG	00145 10110	835 835 826	019 0289 0289	013 013 013	01-r		001 001 000	012 740 740	0155 0255 4 0155	011 011 010 010 010
	ର ଭ ଭ	ଜ ଜ ଜ	ଜ୍ଞ ଜ୍ଞ ଜ୍ଞା	000	ଭର୍ତ୍ତ	0000	2000	000	000	00000
N,	888	888		<u>9</u> 22	888	8888	288			
SME	18 940 14 14	N 00 00 N 00 00 N 00 00	ាល់សូល លោកលើ លោកលាំង	040 040 000	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	100 100 100 100	51-16 21-16	500 500 600 600 600	781 963 122	578 578 578 578
		minin I I I	) <del></del>	ស់សុំសុ	in in i	ρφφ				ထိုထိုထိုထို
łC.	NNN HHE	NNN		NNN EEE	Y Y Y Y Y Y	1 년 년 년	보 모 문 문 문 문 문 문 문	N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N	NNN EEE	Y Y Y Y
GUEN	non	ene ene	n on Non	81.6 81.6	1001	200	8.4.8 8.4.8	2002	8008 8008	<b>K8</b> 88
FRE	000	*** *** **	44 (NJ (N	en en to	ז כיז כיז י	ንቁቁ	4 4 በን	លលោ	000	0~~~

	5
6536 6536	i n
	5
2000-1000-1000-1000-1000-1000-1000-1000	ぼうし
<b>001</b> <b>001</b> <b>000</b> <b>001</b> <b>000</b> <b>001</b> <b>000</b> <b>001</b> <b>000</b> <b>001</b> <b>000</b> <b>001</b> <b>000</b> <b>001</b> <b>000</b> <b>001</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>000</b> <b>00000000</b> <b>00000000000</b>	
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	
00000000000000000000000000000000000000	ava ava
	9
88668888888888888888888888888888888888	
00104000000000000000000000000000000000	107.
00000000000000000000000000000000000000	110
	7HL
NONONONONONONONONONONONONONONONONONONO	ß
<b>F000000000000000000000000000000000000</b>	0

inued
nt
CO
Т
Ś
υ
01
(C)

 08
 0.024
 08
 -303
 281
 0Ec
 1.163

 018
 0.023
 08
 -307
 043
 0Ec
 1.163

 018
 0.023
 08
 -307
 043
 0Ec
 1.163

 018
 0.025
 08
 -311
 191
 0Ec
 1.265

 018
 0.025
 08
 -315
 3220
 0Ec
 1.265

 018
 0.025
 08
 -315
 3220
 0Ec
 1.265

 018
 0.025
 08
 -333
 0Ec
 1.167
 0Ec
 1.265

 018
 0.035
 0B
 -333
 0Ec
 1.265
 1.266
 1.266

 017
 0B
 0331
 0B
 -332
 0Ec
 1.266

 018
 0.031
 0B
 -332
 0Ec
 1.266
 1.266

 018
 0.0331
 0B
 -332
 0Ec
 1.266
 1.266

 018
 0.0331
 0B
 -332
 0Ec

# 6. USE OF TIME DOMAIN MEASUREMENTS TO ESTIMATE MAXIMUM CABLE BIT RATE AND BIT-ERROR-RATE DEGRADATION

This chapter is concerned with developing a method for using the time domain measurement techniques and data presented in the previous five chapters to obtain estimates of two parameters of great interest to the digital communication system designer. These are (1) the maximum bit rate that may be transmitted through a given length and type of cable, and (2) the bit-error-rate that may be expected for a given system signal-to-noise ratio. It will be shown that a rather unusual plot of the cable step response may be used to estimate these two parameters.

### 6.1 Digital Communications System Model

Since the purpose of this study is to characterize certain transmission lines (as opposed to complete communication systems) for digital communication applications, a simple idealized transmitter/ receiver model has been chosen. By avoiding more complex "realistic" system models it becomes simpler to observe the deleterious effects of the transmission line, alone, in an otherwise perfect system.

The chosen system model is shown in fig. 6.1. The following important assumptions have been made with respect to this transmitter/receiver model:

- a. The transmitter generates a binary non-return-to-zero (NRZ) signal of perfect rectangular pulse shape. That is, a "zero" is represented by a constant zerovolts output, a "one" by a constant V-volts output and the transitions from a "zero" to a "one" or vice versa are instantaneous. The transmitter bit rate is controlled by the trigger generator.
- b. The receiver is a perfect, triggerable threshold detector such that at any time t it may be triggered to sample the input signal and decide if the input voltage is less than or greater than some voltage  $V_{\rm TH}$ . If the receiver decision is "less than  $V_{\rm TH}$ ", then a "zero" is assumed to have been received; and if the decision is "greater than  $V_{\rm TH}$ ", then a "one" is assumed to have been received.
- c. The trigger generator and variable delay are assumed to allow perfect timing control between the transmitter and receiver for any bit rate. Thus, compensation for any cable delay is provided and the delay may be "fine tuned" to allow a receiver sample to be taken at any chosen time within a bit period.
- d. The transmitter output impedance, the receiver input impedance and the summing circuit's input and output impedance are matched to the high frequency limit of the cable characteristic impedance; i.e.,  $\sqrt{L/C}$  (see eqn. 2-35).

(The noise source will be discussed in Section 6.4; for the discussion in this section switch  $S_1$  is assumed to be open.)

# 6.2 Maximum Bit Rate Estimation

From the model assumptions it is evident that the transmitter/receiver pair, connected directly together, represents a system with no bandwidth (or, equivalently, bit rate) limitation. That is, since the transmitter voltage transitions are assumed to be instantaneous, and the receiver has no speed of sampling restrictions, then the system can operate perfectly at any bit rate. In addition, it should be noted that this system is not code dependent; it will work perfectly for <u>any</u> particular sequence of "ones" and "zeros" generated by the transmitter.

If a section of transmission line is now connected into the system at the insertion plane indicated in fig. 6.1, two changes in the operation of the system occur; the system becomes bit rate limited and code dependent. In order to analyze and quantize these cable-induced system limitations, the example measurements on 1050 ft. of cable I presented in Chapter 5 will be extended

The step response for cable I for  $0 \le t < 1 \ \mu s$  is shown in fig. 6.2. This, of course, is the voltage that would be observed at the receiver if a "one" were transmitted preceded by an infinite (in theory) string of "zeros". At the end of the time window the voltage is only about 0.86 V and, as was shown in Chapter 5, will rise to only 0.926V as  $t \rightarrow \infty$ . The fact that the received voltage never reaches V volts is due to the DC resistive losses in the cable.

If the situation were reversed such that a "zero" were sent at t = 0, preceded by an infinite string of "ones", the response voltage seen at the receiver would be as shown in fig. 6.3. That is, it would be 0.926 V at t = 0, decay to 0.066 V at t = 1  $\mu$ s (0.926 V - 0.86 V) and finally reach 0 V as t  $\rightarrow \infty$ .

From this information the receiver may now be adjusted for optional operation. That is, a threshold level,  $V_{TH}$ , and a sampling time t may be chosen to maximize the receiver's ability to accurately detect whether a "one" or a "zero" was transmitted. In both the "zero"-to-"one" and "one"-to-"zero" transitions mentioned above the received voltage varied between the limits of 0 V and 0.926 V in the interval  $0 \le t \le \infty$ . Thus a logical choice for  $V_{TH}$  is  $V_f/2$  where  $V_f$  is a function of the type and length of cable and, as was discussed in Chapter 5, is calculated as

$$V_{f} = V \frac{2 R_{o}}{2 R_{o} + \ell R}$$
 (6-1)

For the cable I parameters listed in Chapter 5 ( $R_0 = 124 \ \Omega$ ,  $\ell = 1050 \ ft$ . and  $R = 18.8 \ m \ \Omega/ft$ ) substitution into eqn. 6-1 yields  $V_f = 0.926 \ V$  and thus  $V_{TH} = 0.463 \ V$ . Any other choice of  $V_{TH}$  will bias the receiver such that it no longer would have an <u>equal</u> ability to detect a "one" and a "zero".

The logical choice for a receiver sampling time is at the <u>end</u> of a bit period (note that this choice applies only to this model, e.g., no time jitter). From fig. 6.2 it is observed that in the time window  $0 \le t \le 1 \mu$ s the "one" voltage is maximum at  $t = 1 \mu$ s. Also, from fig. 6.3, the "zero" voltage is minimum at  $t = 1 \mu$ s. Therefore, since the received "one" or "zero" voltage is either rising or decaying monotonically, the best time to sample is always at the end of a bit period, regardless of the actual value of the bit period.

Figure 6.4 is a superposition of the positive and negative step responses shown in figs. 6.2 and 6.3. As expected, the two curves intersect at  $V_{TH} = V_f/2$  which occurs at t  $\approx$  50 ns. If the system were operated at the bit rate corresponding to this intersect time; i.e., BR = 1/50 ns = 20 Mb/s, then the receiver voltage at the sample time would be  $V_{TH}$  regardless of whether a "one" or a "zero" were sent. Furthermore, if the system were operated at any faster rate, say at BR = 1/10 ns = 100 MB/s, then the receiver would <u>always</u> be wrong because a "one" signal (or a "zero" signal) would not have had sufficient time to reach a value above (or below)  $V_{TH}$ . Also, if the system were operated at any slower rate, say at BR = 1/100 ns = 10 Mb, the receiver would <u>always</u> be correct because a "one" signal (or a "zero" signal) would have had sufficient time to reach a value above (or below)  $V_{TH}$ .

Thus it is observed that the insertion of the cable into the otherwise unlimited-bit-rate system imposes a maximum bit rate limitation, and also that the value of this maximum bit rate may be obtained

as the reciprocal of the intersect time of the positive and negative cable step responses.

It is admittedly difficult to extract receiver voltage versus bit rate information from fig. 6.4. But by redrawing the positive and negative cable step response voltages on an X-axis scaling of log<sub>10</sub> (bit rate) instead of time it becomes a simple matter to relate the intersect point to a maximum bit rate. This plot is shown in fig. 6.5 and represents the desired objective of this section. From it the maximum permissible bit rate for correct system operation may be read directly by observing the point on the X-axis, or bit rate axis, at which the two curves intersect, in this case about 20 Mb/s.

Since this plot (fig. 6.5) is central to the remaining developments of this chapter, a few additional remarks about it are in order. The data from which it is derived, the positive and negative cable step responses of fig. 6.4, consist of two discrete time signals, each of 1024 points in a 1  $\mu$ s window. That is, the step responses are really a set of 1024 voltage points spaced 1  $\mu$ s/1024 points or about 1 ns apart. Therefore, when plotted versus reciprocal time, or frequency, they range from 1 MHz (1/1  $\mu$ s) to about 1 GHz (1/1 ns). As shown in fig. 6.5, then, the signals of fig. 6.4 are contained in the frequency interval from 10<sup>6</sup> b/s to 10<sup>9</sup> b/s.

Since it is economically unfeasible to calculate these step responses beyond the order of 1 µs, (or equivalently, below 1 Mb/s), due to computer memory and speed limitations, a straight line approximation has been used for the step response voltages between 1 µs and 1 s or 1 Mb/s and 1 b/s. Because the <u>actual</u> "one" voltage lies above and the <u>actual</u> "zero" voltage lies below their corresponding straight lines in this time or frequency interval, this straight line approximation is a conservative or "worst case" approximation.

#### 6.3 Code Dependence

From the shapes of the cable step responses of figs. 6.2 and 6.3 it is evident that intersymbol interference will occur at the receiver when a cable is placed in the system. Just as in the case of an RC exponential response, the positive modeled cable step response reaches  $V_f$  only as  $t \rightarrow \infty$ . Therefore, the voltage sampled at the receiver at the end of a bit period will depend not only on whether a "one" or a "zero" was sent in that period but also on the particular sequence of "ones" and "zeros" sent for all time before the bit period in question. In other words, the presence of this intersymbol interference, caused by the infinitely long cable step response "tails", implies that the system is code dependent.

One approach to the analysis of this code dependence on system operation would be to analyze separately the effects of all possible code sequences. However, a much simpler method exists which is to find the worst case and best case code sequences as lower and upper bounds for correct system operation.

The worst case is exactly the one referred to in the last section; an infinite string of "zeros" for all t < 0, a transition to "one" at t = 0 and an infinite string of "ones" for t > 0. In other words it is represented by the (positive or negative) cable step response. If even a single "one" had occurred at some time t < 0, then the voltage at the receiver would not be exactly 0 V at t = 0. Rather, it would be slightly greater than 0 V due to the fact that the decay back to 0 V, even from a single "one" only occurs as t  $\rightarrow \infty$ . Therefore, if one or more "ones" occurred before t = 0 and if a "one" is transmitted at t = 0 as described above, then the step response commencing at t = 0 will begin from some voltage greater than 0 V. The received voltage will thus have a "head start" towards V<sub>TH</sub> and will rise to that value sooner than in the case of all "zeros" preceding t = 0. Of all possible code sequences preceding t = 0, then, the one consisting of all "zeros" will yield the worst case because it is the only one that forces the transition to a "one" to begin at 0 V. The same argument may be used to show that the worst case for a "one"-to "zero" transition is the negative cable step response.

The best case is the sequence "one"- "zero"-"one"-"zero" occurring over all time. Fig. 6.6 (a through f) shows that this is true. Figure 6.6a is a plot of the transmitter signal for 64 bits of a "one"-"zero"-"one"-"zero" code sequence. (For all t < 0 the transmitter output is 0 V.) Figure 6.6b is the time domain convolution of this transmitter signal with the impulse response of 1050 feet of cable I, that is, figure 6.6b is a plot of the receiver signal that results from the transmitter signal passing through the above cable at a 4 Mb/s rate. The plots shown in fig. 6.6c through f are of the receiver signal that would be observed if the transmitter bit rate were increased to 8, 16, 32 and 64 Mb/s respectively.

All of these responses may be thought of as transient responses starting at 0 V and eventually oscillating symmetrically about  $V_{TH}$  as  $t \rightarrow \infty$ . The worst case mentioned above is graphically illustrated by observing the first "zero" to "one" transition occurring at t = 0. For the responses shown in fig. 6.6b, c and d, corresponding to 4, 8 and 16 Mb/s, respectively, the first "one" rises to a voltage greater than  $V_{TH}$  thus implying that no errors will be made. For the 32 and 64 Mb/s responses, however, the first "one" does <u>not</u> reach  $V_{TH}$ ; an error in detection of this "one" is certain. This tends to confirm the conclusion drawn from fig. 6.5 that the cutoff bit rate for proper system operation is about 20 Mb/s.

The fact that the "one"-"zero"-"one"-"zero" sequence over <u>all time</u> is the best case may be deduced from the five responses shown in fig. 6.6 by observing that, regardless of the bit rate, all of the responses end up oscillating symmetrically about  $V_{TH}$  as  $t \rightarrow \infty$ . Therefore, even for very high bit rates, when the receiver response signal reaches steady state the detector will properly discriminate between a "zero" and a "one".

Neither of these code sequences, the single step over all time or the square wave over all time, contain any information, of course, but they do represent the code boundaries. That is, for a given bit rate, they represent the minimum and maximum number of transitions allowable per unit of time. Therefore, any arbitrary "real" code sequence will have a receiver response somewhere between these worst and best case responses. Consequently, the worst case plot shown in fig. 6.5 may be used to prudently estimate the maximum bit rate that may be transmitted over a given type and length of cable.

#### 6.4 Bit-Error-Rate Degradation

In the previous sections in this chapter it was shown that the overlay plot of the positive and negative cable step responses versus bit rate may be used to estimate the maximum bit rate that may be transmitted over a given type and length of cable under ideal conditions. Quite often, though, there is noise present in communications systems such that even if the system were operating at a bit rate less than the cutoff bit rate, there is a nonzero probability of error simply due to the noise. This error probability is usually quantitatively characterized by the parameter "bit error rate" (BER) which is the probability that an error will be made in the detection of any given bit. A BER of  $10^{-6}$ , for example, means that the probability of misinterpreting any given bit is one in one million, or, stated another way, it can be expected on the average that for every one million bits sent, one will be misinterpreted.

The goal of this section is to develop a method for determining the <u>change</u> in BER of an idealized communication system by the addition of a given type and length of cable. The assumed communication system is the same as that defined in section 6.1 and shown in fig. 6.1 but with the noise source switch

now closed. It will be further assumed that the noise source voltage output is Gaussian white noise; that is, uncorrelated noise with a Gaussian density function given as,

$$p(v) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\sigma^2}} e^{-(v-\mu)^2/2\sigma^2},$$
 (6-2)

where  $\mu$  is the noise mean, assumed to be zero, and  $\sigma$  is the noise standard deviation or rms value.

In order to determine the BER degradation due to the insertion of a cable into the system it is first necessary to calculate the BER of the system with the transmitter connected directly to the receiver. In this case a "one" is represented by a transmitter output of V volts and a "zero" by the O volts. As before, the receiver threshold voltage is set to the midpoint of the received signal range, in this case V/2 volts. To this signal, then, is added a Gaussian noise voltage with zero mean and rms value  $\sigma$ .

If a "zero" is assumed to be sent then the probability of an error in detection is simply the probability that the received voltage (signal plus noise) will exceed V/2 volts. From the assumed Gaussian density function this is,

$$P(v > V/2) = \int_{V/2}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\sigma^2}} e^{-v^2/2\sigma^2} dv.$$
 (6-3)

Likewise, if a "one" is assumed to be sent then the probability of detection error is the probability that the received voltage is less than V/2 and is given as

$$P(v < V/2) = \int_{-\infty}^{V/2} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\sigma^2}} e^{-(v-V)^2/2\sigma^2} dv.$$
 (6-4)

Due to the symmetry of the Gaussian density function the probabilities of mistaking a "one" for a "zero" (eqn. 6-3) or a "zero" for a "one" (eqn. 6-4) are the same so either equation may be used to calculate the probability of error per bit regardless of whether a "one" or a "zero" was sent.

The actual calculation of the error probability from eqn (6-3) or (6-4) is quite difficult and fortunately unnecessary. Tables exist for the error function<sup>[11]</sup>, defined as,

$$\operatorname{erf}(x) = \frac{2}{\sqrt{\pi}} \int_{0}^{x} e^{-y^{2}} dy$$
 (6-5)

and it is easily shown [12] that the error probability above may be expressed in terms of the error function as

$$P(E) = \frac{1}{2} \left[ 1 - \operatorname{erf}\left(\frac{V}{2\sqrt{2}\sigma}\right) \right].$$
(6-6)

Furthermore, if the voltage peak signal to rms noise ratio is defined as

$$VSNR = \frac{V}{\sigma}$$
(6-7)

then the error probability per bit, or equivalently, the BER may be expressed as a function of VSNR as,

$$P(E) = \frac{1}{2} \left[ 1 - erf\left(\frac{VSNR}{2\sqrt{2}}\right) \right].$$
(6-8)

A computer-generated plot of BER versus VSNR is given in fig. 6.7a through e.

As an example of using this plot assume that the transmitter output for a "zero" is 0 volts, a "one" is 24 volts and the rms noise value is 2 volts. Then, from (6-7) the VSNR is 12. From the plot in fig. 6.7c it is observed that a VSNR of 12 yields a BER of  $10^{-9}$ .

If the transmitter-receiver pair VSNR is known, it becomes possible to determine the new BER that would be observed by inserting of a given type and length of cable. This may be accomplished by use of the overlay step response versus bit rate plot of fig. 6.5 in conjunction with the BER versus VSNR plot of fig. 6.7 in the following manner. For a desired bit rate, the new peak signal voltage is obtained from fig. 6.5 as

$$v_p(BR) = v_1(BR) - v_0(BR).$$
 (6-9)

That is, the new peak signal voltage is the difference between the "one" voltage and the "zero" voltage that are present at the receiver at the end of a bit period for the assumed bit rate. From fig. 6.5, for example,  $v_p$  for an assumed bit rate of 1 Mb/s is 0.86 V - 0.07 V = 0.79 V. Then, from eqn. (6-7), a new VSNR is obtained as

$$VSNR_{System} + Cable = \frac{v_p}{\sigma} = \frac{0.79V}{\sigma} = 0.79V \times VSNR_{System}.$$
 (6-10)

Continuing the above example, if the transmitter receiver pair VSNR were 12, implying a system BER of  $10^{-9}$ , and then 1050 ft. of cable I were placed in the system operating at 1 Mb/s, the new system VSNR would be 0.79 x 12 or about 9.5. From fig. 6.7b a VSNR of 9.5 yields a new BER of about  $10^{-6}$ .

These two graphs, figs. 6.5 and 6.7a-e, may be used for a variety of system design purposes. As another example suppose that it is desired to know the maximum permissible bit rate for the system in the previous example such that the new BER (after insertion of the cable) will not exceed  $10^{-7}$ . From fig. 6.7b this BER implies a minimum allowable VSNR of about 10.4. Then, from eqn. (6-10)

$$v_{p} = V \frac{VSNR_{System + Cable}}{VSNR_{System}}$$
 (6-11)

or

$$v_p = V \frac{10.4}{12} = 0.87 V$$

where in fig. 6.5 it is seen that this difference voltage  $v_p$  occurs for a bit rate of 200 b/s.

However, rather than using the difference voltage of eqn. 6-9, one can proceed using a single curve, e.g., the "one" curve, fig. 6.2. Due to the symmetry of the negative and positive step response, it is evident that, for any bit rate

$$v_0(BR) = V_f - v_1(BR),$$
 (6-12)

and substitution of this expression for  $v_0^{(BR)}$  into (6-9) yields

$$v_{\rm p}({\rm BR}) = 2 v_{\rm 1} ({\rm BR}) - V_{\rm f}$$
 (6-13)

$$v_1(BR) = \frac{1}{2} [v_p(BR) + V_f].$$
 (6-14)

For the example,

or

$$v_1(BR) = \frac{1}{2} [0.87V + 0.926V] = 0.898V$$
  
 $\approx 0.9.$ 

Observation of the point where the  $v_1(BR)$  curve (the "zero"-to-"one" step response curve) passes through the 0.9 V line again yields a bit rate of approximately 200 b/s. The same answer has been obtained by reading the value of only one curve rather than by reading the difference between two curves.



65

and bit-error-rate degradation caused by transmission lines.










(







Volts ----



























Figure 6.7a P(E) versus VSNR curve for VSNR from 0.0 to 8.0

Probability of error per bit



Figure 6.7b. P(E) versus VSNR for VSNR from 7.0 to 11.0.

Ρτοραδίλιτυ οτ εττοτ ρετ δίτ



Voltage signal-to-noise ratio

14.0.

P(E) versus VSNR for VSNR from 10.0 to

Figure 6.7c.

Probability of error per bit







Probability of error per bit



16.0.

to

P(E) versus VSNR for VSNR from 14.0

Figure 6.7e.

Probability of error per bit

## 7. CABLE TESTING USING TIME DOMAIN REFLECTOMETRY

In this chapter the general principles of time domain reflection and transmission are developed and then are applied to cable testing. It is shown how the cable sending-end step responses are employed to calculate (simulate) the reference echoes (TDR responses) which characterize an undamaged cable. Departures from the reference response waveforms indicate uniform degradation of the cable and physical damage, or some combination of the two factors.

## 7.1 The General Theory of Time Domain Reflection and Transmission

In the classical frequency domain analysis of transmission lines containing reflections, the assumption is implicit that the sinusoidal signals are steady state signals, i.e., they have been present since the time minus infinity. In time domain measurements of transient or pulse phenomena, such is not the case. Prior to some time, say t=0, there was no signal present. When the pulse signal does enter the transmission line, it propagates along the line at a finite velocity arriving at observation points displaced from the input later in time. When this propagating signal encounters a discontinuity, reflected and transmitted signals are created. An observer remote from the point of reflection will not observe the reflected signal until still later in time due to the time isolation (delay) inherent in the transmission line. For people working with time domain measurements and instruments it is very important to comprehend this time isolation of reflections. As an aid to developing an understanding of this concept this section develops the analysis of a discretely loaded transmission line in terms of transmitted and reflected pulse trains. A reflection-transmission (RT) diagram is used. The resultant transmission line equations are then shown to be identical to those derived in the classical frequency domain manner.

The starting point for this discussion is based upon fig. 2.2 and the general equations (2-3) and (2-4). First, equation (2-4) is expressed in terms of  $E_{g}(s)$  rather than  $I_{s}(s)$  through the relation

$$I_{s}(s) = \frac{E_{g}(s) - E_{s}(s)}{Z_{g}(s)}$$
(7-1)

with the result

$$\frac{E_{s}(s)}{E_{g}(s)} = \left[\frac{Z_{o}(s)}{Z_{g}(s) + Z_{o}(s)}\right] \left[\frac{1}{1 - \rho_{s}(s)\rho_{r}(s)e^{-2\lambda\gamma(s)}}\right] \left[1 + \rho_{r}(s)e^{-2\lambda\gamma(s)}\right].$$
(7-2)

For convenience, (2-3) is repeated here,

$$\frac{E_{r}(s)}{E_{g}(s)} = 2 \left[ \frac{Z_{o}(s)}{Z_{g}(s) + Z_{o}(s)} \right] \left[ \frac{Z_{\ell}(s)}{Z_{\ell}(s) + Z_{o}(s)} \right] \left[ \frac{e^{-\ell\gamma(s)}}{1 - \rho_{s}(s)\rho_{r}(s)e^{-2\ell\gamma(s)}} \right].$$
(7-3)

 $\rho_{s}(s)$  and  $\rho_{r}(s)$  are the reflection coefficients (2-5) produced by the sending and receiving end impedances,  $Z_{g}(s)$  and  $Z_{\ell}(s)$ , respectively.  $\ell$  is the transmission line length while  $\gamma(s)$  and  $Z_{o}(s)$  are the line propagation function and characteristic impedance, respectively.

The latter are given as

$$Z_{o}(s) = \left[\frac{Z(s)}{Y(s)}\right]^{1/2}$$
(2-1)

$$\gamma(s) = [Z(s) Y(s)]^{1/2}$$
 (2-2)

where Z(s) and Y(s) are the transmission line equivalent circuit parameters: series impedance/unit length and shunt admittance/unit length. In general, for wave transmission on a transmission line  $\gamma(s)$  is such that the limit

$$\lim_{|s| \to \infty} \left[ \frac{\gamma(s)}{s} \right]$$

is equal to the time delay per unit length, T, i.e.,

$$T = \lim_{|s| \to \infty} \left[ \frac{\gamma(s)}{s} \right]$$
(7-4)

For uniform transmission lines, the time delay/unit length is expressed in terms of the inductance and capacitance per unit length,

$$T = \sqrt{LC}$$
(7-5)

Also,  $\gamma(s)$  can be written in the form

$$\gamma(s) = sT + \gamma'(s) \tag{7-6}$$

where sT is an all-pass function (linear phase function) and  $\gamma'(s)$  is the minimum phase function (see section 2.4 for some discussion of minimum phase). For  $\gamma'(s)$  to be a minimum phase function, the ratio  $\gamma'(s)/s$  vanishes as |s| becomes infinitely large [2].

Now consider a step generator of impedance  $Z_o(s)$  applied to the system described by (7-2) and (7-3), i.e.,  $E_g(s) = 1/s$  and  $Z_g(s) = Z_o(s)$ . Then  $\rho_s(s) = 0$ , and (7-2) and (7-3) reduce to

$$E_{s}(s) = \frac{1}{2 s} \left[ 1 + \rho_{r}(s) e^{-2\ell [sT + \gamma'(s)]} \right]$$
(7-7)

and

$$E_{\mathbf{r}}(\mathbf{s}) = \frac{1}{\mathbf{s}} \left[ \frac{Z_{\ell}(\mathbf{s})}{Z_{o}(\mathbf{s}) + Z_{\ell}(\mathbf{s})} \right] e^{-\ell \left[\mathbf{s}T + \gamma^{\dagger}(\mathbf{s})\right]} .$$
(7-8)

Rewriting

$$E_{s}(s) = \frac{1}{2s} + e^{-2s\ell T} \left[ \rho_{r}(s) e^{-2\ell \gamma'(s)} \right]$$
 (7-9)

and

$$E_{r}(s) = e^{-s\ell T} \left\{ \frac{Z_{\ell}(s) e^{-\ell\gamma'(s)}}{s [Z_{0}(s) + Z_{\ell}(s)]} \right\}.$$
 (7-10)

Consideration of (7-9) and (7-10) leads to the following conclusions:

- The input terminals of the line presents to the generator the characteristic impedance Z<sub>o</sub>(s) for the time interval 0<t< 2%T; i.e., the load impedance is not seen at the generator terminals until the incident wave travels to the load and the subsequent reflection returns to the generator terminals.
- 2. The output waveform is zero for t<lT; also, its shape is controlled by the characteristic impedance to load impedance voltage divider and the minimum phase (distorting) part of the propagation function,  $\gamma'(s)$ .

Generally, for arbitrary terminations,  $E_s(s)$  and  $E_r(s)$  each consist of an infinite sequence of terms similar to those in (7-9) and (7-10) and have their origins in the conclusions delineated above. By using the geometric series expansion

$$\left[1 - \rho_{s}(s)\rho_{r}(s)e^{-2\ell\gamma(s)}\right]^{-1} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left[\rho_{s}(s)\rho_{r}(s)e^{-2\ell\gamma(s)}\right]^{n} ; \qquad (7-11a)$$

where

$$|\rho_{s}(s)\rho_{r}(s)e^{-2\ell\gamma(s)}|^{2} < 1$$
 (7-11b)

in the second and third factors of (7-2) and (7-3), respectively, the transfer functions can be expressed as infinite sequences which represent impulse responses consisting of pulse trains. A note of caution should be entered here; for a lossless line the inequality condition in (7-11) may not be satisfied and hold for all values of s in the complex plane. Under such conditions an alternate mathematical procedure must be used [13].

Putting (7-11) into (7-2) and (7-3) yields the sending end pulse train

$$E_{s}(s) = E_{g}(s) \left[ \frac{Z_{o}(s)}{Z_{g}(s) + Z_{o}(s)} \right]$$

$$X \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \rho_{s}^{n}(s)\rho_{r}^{n}(s) e^{-2n\ell\gamma(s)} + \rho_{s}^{n}(s)\rho_{r}^{(n+1)}(s)e^{-(n+1)-2\ell\gamma(s)}$$
(7-12)

and the receiving end pulse train,

$$E_{\mathbf{r}}(\mathbf{s}) = 2E_{\mathbf{g}}(\mathbf{s}) \left[ \frac{Z_{\mathbf{o}}(\mathbf{s})}{Z_{\mathbf{g}}(\mathbf{s}) + Z_{\mathbf{o}}(\mathbf{s})} \right] \left[ \frac{Z_{\boldsymbol{\ell}}(\mathbf{s})}{Z_{\boldsymbol{\ell}}(\mathbf{s}) + Z_{\mathbf{o}}(\mathbf{s})} \right]$$
$$X \sum_{\mathbf{n}=\mathbf{o}}^{\infty} \rho_{\mathbf{s}}^{\mathbf{n}}(\mathbf{s}) \rho_{\mathbf{r}}^{\mathbf{n}}(\mathbf{s}) e^{-(2\mathbf{n}+1)\ell\gamma(\mathbf{s})}$$
(7-13)

where (7-12) and (7-13) are both subject to the condition specified in (7-11b). The physical situation represented by the pulse trains (7-12) and (7-13) is lucidly shown by a reflection-transmission (RT) diagram, fig. 7.1. In fact, the RT diagram itself provides an intuitive (but exact) means for writing out the terms of each pulse train.

The RT diagram is a signal flow chart embodying the reflection and transmission properties of the terminal impedances, and the wave propagation property of the connecting transmission line. To interpret the diagram the following rules are used:

- 1. Passage from a generator of impedance  $Z_g(s)$  through a node to a line segment represents multiplication by the transfer function  $Z_o(s)/[Z_g(s) + Z_o(s)]$ .
- 2. Passage along a line segment represents multiplication by the transfer function  $\exp[-\ell_{\gamma}(s)]$ .
- 3. Passage through a node to a load  $Z_{\ell}(s)$  represents multiplication by the transfer function  $2 Z_{\ell}(s) / [Z_{\ell}(s) + Z_{\ell}(s)]$ .
- 4. Reflection from a node represents multiplication by the reflection coefficient  $\rho_r(s) = [Z_{\ell}(s) Z_{0}(s)] [Z_{\ell}(s) + Z_{0}(s)]^{-1}$ .

Application of the rules to the diagram in fig. 7.1 obtains the following results:

$$E_{g}(s) = \begin{bmatrix} E_{g} \frac{Z_{o}}{Z_{g} + Z_{o}} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} E_{g} \frac{Z_{o}}{Z_{g} + Z_{o}} e^{-\ell\gamma} \rho_{r} e^{-\ell\gamma} \frac{2Z_{g}}{Z_{g} + Z_{o}} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$+ \begin{bmatrix} E_{g}(s) \frac{Z_{o}}{Z_{o} + Z_{g}} e^{-\ell\gamma} \rho_{r} e^{-\ell\gamma} \rho_{s} e^{-\ell\gamma} \rho_{r} e^{-\ell\gamma} \frac{2Z_{g}}{Z_{g} + Z_{o}} \end{bmatrix} + \dots$$

$$ABCDE$$

$$= E_{g} \frac{Z_{o}}{Z_{g} + Z_{o}} \left\{ 1 + \frac{2\rho_{r}Z_{g}}{Z_{g} + Z_{o}} e^{-2\ell\gamma} + \frac{2\rho_{r}^{2}\rho_{s}Z_{g}}{Z_{g} + Z_{o}} e^{-4\ell\gamma} + \dots \right.$$
(7-14)

Since

$$\rho_{i} = \frac{Z_{i} - Z_{o}}{Z_{i} + Z_{o}}$$

the voltage divider may be written as

$$\frac{Z_{i}}{Z_{i} + Z_{0}} = \frac{1 + \rho_{i}}{2}.$$

Putting  $(1 + \rho_s)/2$  into (7-14) for the factor  $Z_g/(Z_g + Z_o)$  obtains the result

$$E_{s}(s) = E_{g} \frac{Z_{o}}{Z_{g} + Z_{o}} \left[ 1 + \rho_{r}(1 + \rho_{s})e^{-2\ell\gamma} + \rho_{r}^{2}\rho_{s}(1 + \rho_{s})e^{-4\ell\gamma} + ... \right]$$
(7-15)

which is identical to that given by expansion of (7-12). Therefore, it has been demonstrated that the RT diagram allows one to write down the equation for  $E_s(s)$  directly by tracing out the signal flow while invoking the rules 1-4.

Similarly, the received voltage  $E_r(s)$  is obtained from the RT diagram as

$$E_{\mathbf{r}}(\mathbf{s}) = \begin{bmatrix} E_{\mathbf{g}} - \frac{Z_{\mathbf{o}}}{Z_{\mathbf{g}} + Z_{\mathbf{o}}} \\ Gen \text{ to } \mathbf{A} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} e^{-\ell\gamma} - \frac{2Z_{\ell}}{Z_{\ell} + Z_{\mathbf{o}}} \\ \mathbf{AB} \end{bmatrix} \\ + \begin{bmatrix} E_{\mathbf{g}} - \frac{Z_{\mathbf{o}}}{Z_{\mathbf{g}} + Z_{\mathbf{o}}} e^{-\ell\gamma} \rho_{\mathbf{r}} e^{-\ell\gamma} \rho_{\mathbf{s}} e^{-\ell\gamma} - \frac{2Z_{\ell}}{Z_{\ell} + Z_{\mathbf{o}}} \\ \mathbf{ABCD} \end{bmatrix} + \dots \\ = 2 E_{\mathbf{g}} - \frac{Z_{\mathbf{o}}}{Z_{\mathbf{g}} + Z_{\mathbf{o}}} \frac{Z_{\ell}}{Z_{\ell} + Z_{\mathbf{o}}} \begin{bmatrix} e^{-\ell\gamma} + \rho_{\mathbf{r}}\rho_{\mathbf{s}} e^{-3\ell\gamma} + \dots \end{bmatrix}$$
(7-16)

which is identical to that found by expanding (7-13).

In this report the transmission lines are lossy and are normally operated in a doubly mismatched condition due to the terminations being equal to the nominal high frequency characteristic impedance,  $R_0$ . Under such conditions, (7-15) and (7-16) become

$$E_{s}(s) = E_{g}(s) \frac{Z_{o}(s)}{R_{o} + Z_{o}(s)} \left[ 1 + \rho_{r}(1 + \rho_{s})e^{-2\lambda\gamma(s)} + \rho_{r}\rho_{s}(1 + \rho_{s})e^{-4^{\lambda\gamma}(s)} + \dots \right] (7-17)$$

and

$$E_{r}(s) = 2 E_{g}(s) \frac{Z_{o}(s) R_{o}}{[R_{o} + Z_{o}(s)]^{2}} \left[ e^{-l\gamma(s)} + \rho^{2} e^{-3l\gamma(s)} + \dots \right]$$
(7-18)

respectively, where

$$\rho = \rho_{r} = \rho_{s} = \frac{R_{o} - Z_{o}(s)}{R_{o} + Z_{o}(s)} .$$
 (7-19)

Briefly, consider the received voltage  $E_r(s)$ . Inspection of (7-18) shows that the initial signal transfer function is due to the product of the RT input voltage transfer function, the exponential transmission factor, and the output RT voltage transfer function, i.e.,

This is in agreement with the RT diagram transmission/reflection rules. The condition 0 < t < 3 & T describes the time interval of the initial response, which is to say that the inverse Laplace transform of (7-20) represents the time domain response only over the interval 0 < t < 3 & T. Refer to fig. 7-2 and the brief disdiscussion in its caption.

$$e_{r}(t) = \pounds^{-1} \left[ 2E_{g}(s) \frac{Z_{o}(s) R_{o}}{Z_{o}(s) + R_{o}} e^{-l\gamma(s)} \right]; 0 < t < 3lT.$$
 (7-21)

It is important to keep in mind that (7-21) is the exact response for  $e_r(t)$  over the interval 0 < t < 3 & T. What is unusual about this method of analysis is that even though a series expansion (7-11) has been used, a finite sequence of terms starting from the initial term is always an exact result out to some multiple of the time LT. Contrast this with other series expansions where an infinite number of terms must be present for an exact result, e.g., Fourier Series, etc. The discussion now turns to the sending-end response.

The main purpose of this chapter is to develop the sending end response so that one would have a reference response or waveform for a given cable type; this response would then be used to evaluate the measured test response of samples of the given cable type. To conclude this section, consider (7-17). It is clear that for the time interval  $0 < t < 2 \ell T$  the response is only dependent upon the transmission line through the characteristic impedance, Z<sub>o</sub>(s), and is given by the first term from the sequence (7-17)

$$E_{s}(s) = E_{g}(s) \frac{Z_{o}(s)}{R_{o} + Z_{o}(s)}.$$
(7-22)  
0

In the next section this relation will be used to derive the reference responses. After the passage of 2&T seconds, the second term in the sequence must be added to the first to provide the temporal response out to 4&T seconds

$$E_{s}(s) \\ = E_{g}(s) \left[ \frac{Z_{o}(s)}{R_{o} + Z_{o}(s)} + \frac{Z_{o}(s)}{R_{o} + Z_{o}(s)} \rho_{r}(1 + \rho_{s}) e^{-2\lambda \gamma(s)} \right].$$
(7-23)

Now consider the second term in detail; the term  $(1 + \rho_s)$  is just  $2 R_o/[R_o + Z_o(s)]$  which is the RT transfer function from the transmission line to the load  $R_o$ ;  $\rho_r$  is the reflection coefficient of the receiving end load.  $Z_o(s)/[R_o + Z_o(s)]$  is the RT transfer function from the generator to the sending end, and exp.[-2 $l\gamma(s)$ ] represents transmission over a length 2l. Consequently, the second term has a physical picture which correlates with the RT diagram as follows:



In other words, the initial sending end voltage is transmitted to the load; the received voltage is then scaled by the reflection coefficient and then transmitted back to the sending end. Figure 7-3 qualitatively illustrates the time domain unit step response corresponding to (7-23). In the next section the time domain expressions for unit step excitation will be derived.

## 7.2 The Step Response of the Sending-End Voltage

The sending-end voltage  $E_c(s)$  for  $0 \le t \le 2kt$  due to a unit step is obtained from (7-22) by letting

$$E_{g}(s) = \frac{1}{s}$$
(7-24)

which obtains for the sending-end voltage

$$E_{s}(s) = \frac{1}{s} \frac{Z_{o}(s)}{R_{o} + Z_{o}(s)} ; \qquad 0 \le t \le 2\ell T . \qquad (7-25)$$

The time domain sending-end voltage is given by

$$\mathbf{e}_{s}(t) = \mathbf{\hat{t}}^{-1} \left\{ \frac{1}{s} \frac{Z_{o}(s)}{R_{o} + Z_{o}(s)} \right\} \quad 0 \leq t \leq 2\&T.$$
(7-26)

This expression is also valid for all time t when the receiving-end is terminated in the characteristic impedance,  $Z_0(s)$ , that is; when there are no reflections from the receiving-end, the line appears to be infinitely long. For a finite length,  $\ell$ ,  $e_s(t)$  is only valid for  $0 \le t \le 2\ell T$ . In terms of a circuit model,  $e_s(t)$  represents a voltage division of the generator voltage,  $e_g(t)$ , fig. 7-4A. Qualitatively, the response is shown in fig. 7.3. If there were no reflection from the load (receiving-end), the waveform would continue to rise monotonically to unity, fig. 7.4B. From the final value theorem of the Laplace transformation, the final value of (7-26) is

$$e_{s}(\infty) = \lim_{|s| \to 0} s \left[ \frac{1}{s} \frac{Z_{o}(s)}{R_{o} + Z_{o}(s)} \right] = 1$$
(7-27)

Note that (7-26) is independent of l; that is to say, the step response of any length of cable will follow (7-26) until the first reflection arrives at the sending-end (t = 2lT).

Expressing (7-25) in terms of the model parameters gives

$$E_{s}(s) = \frac{1}{s} \frac{\left[\frac{R + sL + Ks^{m}}{sC}\right]^{1/2}}{R_{o} + \left[\frac{R + sL + Ks^{m}}{sC}\right]^{1/2}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{s} \frac{R_{o} \left[1 + \frac{R + Ks^{m}}{sL}\right]^{1/2}}{R_{o} + R_{o} \left[1 + \frac{R + Ks^{m}}{sL}\right]^{1/2}}$$

$$E_{s}(s) = \frac{1}{s} \frac{\left[1 + \frac{R + Ks^{m}}{sL}\right]^{1/2}}{1 + \left[1 + \frac{R + Ks^{m}}{sL}\right]^{1/2}}.$$
(7-28)

For large s (small t) (7-28) can be expanded as the ratio of two power series,

$$E_{s}(s) = \frac{1}{s} \frac{1 + \frac{v}{2} - \frac{v^{2}}{2 \cdot 4} + \frac{3}{2 \cdot 4 \cdot 6} - \frac{3 \cdot 5}{2 \cdot 4 \cdot 6 \cdot 8} + \cdots}{2 + \frac{v}{2} - \frac{v^{2}}{2 \cdot 4} + \frac{3}{2 \cdot 4 \cdot 6} - \frac{3 \cdot 5}{2 \cdot 4 \cdot 6 \cdot 8} + \cdots}$$
(7-29)

where

$$v = \frac{R + Ks^{m}}{sL}$$
(7-30)

and

$$|\mathbf{v}| = \left| \frac{\mathbf{R} + \mathbf{K} \mathbf{s}^{\mathrm{m}}}{\mathbf{s} \mathbf{L}} \right| < 1$$
 (7-31)

If the condition (7-31) is violated, the expansion (7-29) is not valid. By dividing the denominator of (7-29) into its numerator a single series in v can be obtained. This is easily done using the following method. If the product of two polynominals in v is given by

Y = HX

then the k-th coefficient of Y is given by

$$y (k) = \sum_{i=1}^{k_{1}} h(i) x(k+1-i). \qquad (7-32)$$

$$y(1) = h(1) x(1)$$

$$y(2) = h(1) x(2) + h(2)x(1)$$

$$\vdots$$

$$Y = h(1) + h(2)v + h(3) v^{2} + \cdots$$

For example,

and

By writing out a few terms in the product, and starting with  $x(1) \neq 0$ , it is possible to solve for h(k), i.e., the quotient of Y/X. The result is

$$h(k) = \frac{1}{x(1)} \left[ y(k) - \sum_{i=1}^{k-1} h(i) x(k+1-i) \right]$$
(7-33)

where

$$h(1) = \frac{y(1)}{x(1)}$$

$$h(2) = \frac{1}{x(1)} \left[ Y(2) - h(1) x(2) \right]$$

$$\vdots$$

Consequently (7-29) can be replaced by

$$E_{s}(s) = \frac{1}{2s} + \frac{1}{8s}v - \frac{1}{16s}v^{2} + \frac{5}{128s}v^{3} - \frac{14}{512s}v^{4} + \cdots$$
(7-34)

The series (7-34) is also convergent for

$$|\mathbf{v}(\mathbf{s})| = \left| \frac{\mathbf{R} + \mathbf{K}\mathbf{s}^{\mathrm{m}}}{\mathbf{s}\mathbf{L}} \right| < 1.$$
 (7-35)

Upon substituting v(s) into the series (7-34) there results a series having terms of the form As<sup>-q</sup> and Bs<sup>-r</sup> where q is an integer 1,2,3..., and r is not an integer. The time domain response is obtained by taking the inverse Laplace transform of each term using the appropriate transform pair

$$\frac{A}{s^{q}} \leftrightarrow A \frac{t^{q-1}}{q-1} u(t)$$
(7-36)

$$\frac{B}{s^{r}} \longrightarrow \frac{B t^{r-1}}{\Gamma(r)} u(t)$$
(7-37)

where u(t) is the unit step and  $\Gamma(r)$  the gamma function. The non integers r result from the fractional power m, 0 < m < 1, which appears in the high frequency loss term of the model, Ks<sup>m</sup>. The resultant time domain response is

$$e_{s}(t) = \frac{1}{2}u(t) + \frac{1}{8}w_{1}(t) - \frac{1}{16}w_{2}(t) + \frac{5}{128}w_{3}(t) - \frac{7}{256}w_{4}(t) + \cdots$$
 (7-38)

or in terms of the coefficient b,

$$e_{s}(t) = \frac{1}{2}u(t) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} b_{n}w_{n}(t)$$
 (7-39)

where

$$w_{n}(t) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} \frac{a_{ni} R^{n-i} K^{i}}{L^{n} \Gamma [(n+1) - im]} t^{n-im} u(t)$$
(7-40)

$$a_{ni} = \frac{n!}{i! (n-i)!}$$
 (7-41)

$$b_{n} = \frac{\prod_{i=1}^{n} (2i-1)}{(2n+2) \prod_{i=1}^{n} (2i)} (-1)^{n+1}$$
(7-42)

$$n! = \Gamma(n+1)$$
 (7-43)

$$\Gamma (n+1) = n \Gamma (n). \qquad (7-44)$$

n

For examples of the expansion of  $w_n(t)$ , (7-40),  $w_1(t)$  through  $w_4(t)$  are given below.

$$w_{1}(t) = \frac{R}{L\Gamma(2)} t u(t) + \frac{K}{L\Gamma(2-m)} t^{1-m} u(t)$$
(7-45)  
$$w_{2}(t) = \frac{R^{2}}{L^{2}\Gamma(3)} t^{2} u(t) + \frac{2RK}{L^{2}\Gamma(3m)} t^{2-m} u(t) + \frac{K^{2}}{L^{2}\Gamma(3-2m)} t^{2-m} u(t)$$
(7-46)

$$w_{3}(t) = \frac{R^{3}}{L^{3} \Gamma(4)} t^{3} u(t) + \frac{3R^{2}K}{L^{3} \Gamma(4-m)} t^{3-m} u(t) + \frac{3RK^{2}}{L^{3} \Gamma(4-2m)} t^{3-2m} u(t)$$

+ 
$$\frac{K^3}{L^3 \Gamma (4-3m)} t^{3-3m} u(t)$$
 (7-47)

$$w_{4}(t) = \frac{R^{4}}{L^{4} \Gamma(5)} t^{4} u(t) + \frac{4R^{3}K}{L^{4} \Gamma(5-m)} t^{4-m} u(t) + \frac{6R^{2} K^{2}}{L^{4} \Gamma(5-2m)} t^{4-2m} u(t)$$

+ 
$$\frac{4 \text{ RK}^3}{L^4 \Gamma (5-3m)} t^{4-3m} u(t) + \frac{K^4}{L^4 \Gamma (5-4m)} t^{4-4m} u(t)$$
 (7-48)

For a given cable, certain precautions must be taken before using the time domain series (7-38) to calculate the sending-end voltage  $e_s(t)$ . First of all, the condition (7-35) must be satisfied for all frequencies comprising the sending-end step response voltage  $e_s(t)$ . As can be seen from (7-35), there is a lower limit on |s|, i.e., a lower frequency limit,  $f_o$ . Letting  $s = j\omega$  in (7-35) obtains

$$\left| \frac{\mathbf{R}/\mathbf{L}}{\mathbf{j}\omega} + \frac{(\mathbf{K}/\mathbf{L})}{(\mathbf{j}\omega)^{1-\mathbf{m}}} \right| < 1$$
(7-49)

which can be expressed as

$$\frac{K^2}{\omega^2 (1-m) L^2} + \frac{R^2}{\omega^2 L^2} + \frac{2RK}{\omega^{2-m} L^2} \sin \frac{(1-m) \pi}{2} < 1.$$
 (7-50)

The frequency,  $f=\omega/2\pi$ , at which the left hand side of (7-50) just equals unity is defined as  $f_o$ . For frequencies equal to and less than  $f_o$ , the series (7-34) will not converge to  $E_s(s)$ . Consequently, the corresponding time domain series (7-38) will diverge for time greater than some value  $T_1$ , which should be of the order of the reciprocal of  $f_o$ , i.e.,

$$T_{o} = 1/f_{o}$$
.

 $T_1$  can not be exactly specified due to the uncertainty properties of the Fourier (and Laplace)

transformation which prohibits a one to one correspondence between points in the time and frequency domain.

To demonstrate the application of the time domain step response, equation (7-38), and also its convergence properties, the sending-end step response of Cable I has been simulated using (7-38); the cable parameters are given in section 5.1. Figures 7-5 and 7-6 show the responses for the time windows of 5 and 10 microseconds, respectively. Note the initial jump to 0.5 and the subsequent slow rise thereafter increasing only by 10 to 12% of the final value (1.0). For each response the largest error occurs at the last point; they are  $1.5 \times 10^{-4}$  volts  $(1.5 \times 10^{-2}\%)$  and  $3.3 \times 10^{-3}$  volts (0.33%) for figs. 7.5 and 7.6, respectively. The errors occur due to the use of a finite number of terms of the series  $e_s(t)$ , (7-38). For figs. 7.5 and 7.6 the truncated series for (7-38) consisted of the first term 0.5 u(t) plus the weighted values of  $w_1(t)$  through  $w_6(t)$ , a total of 28 terms. The error was computed by taking the magnitude of the difference between results for the truncated series and a second truncated series containing one more weighted value of  $w_1(t)$ . The second truncated series contained  $w_8(t)$  and thus contained a total of 36 terms.

Turning now to the divergent properties of the series, it is known that (7-34) will not converge for values of |s| along the real frequency axis, i.e.,  $|\omega|$ , when  $\omega$  is equal to or less than  $2\pi \times 28 \times 10^3$ ,  $f_o = 28$  KHz, (7-50). Consequently, in the neighborhood of  $t=T_o=1/f_o=35.7$  microseconds, the time domain response (7-38) should diverge even when an infinite number of its terms are used. Truncation of the series should lead to a divergent result well before 35.7 microseconds; that such is the case is shown in fig. 7-7.

Figure 7-7 presents the step responses for the time interval of 40 microseconds as a function of the number of terms of (7-38). The label 10 corresponds to 10 terms comprised of 0.5 u(t) plus the algebraic sum of the weighted values of  $w_1(t)$  through  $w_3(t)$ . Similarly, 15 corresponds to 15 terms obtained from the algebraic sum of the weighted terms through  $w_4(t)$ . The largest number of terms, 36 yields the most accurate result. For example, at t=10 microseconds the responses for 28 and 36 terms are virtually identical while those for 21, 15, and 10 terms show increasing error, respectively. Also, the divergence increases as t approaches the neighborhood of  $T_0$ , 35.7 microseconds. These curves show that the divergent properties of the series (7-38) and its truncation to 28 or 36 terms have negligible effect on the computation of  $e_s(t)$  out to 10 microseconds (no greater than 0.33 % error at 10 ns).

For the cables considered here, the maximum physical length is typically about 300m (1000 ft). Accordingly, for a typical relative dielectric constant of about 2.5, the maximum cable delay to be encountered would be about 1.69 microseconds ( $\sqrt{2.5} \times 320/3 \times 10^8$ ) and the corresponding 2LT value would be 3.38 microseconds ( $2 \times 1.69 \times 10^{-6}$ ). In the particular case of Cable I, LT is equal to 1.6 x  $10^{-6}$ (320 x  $\sqrt{LC}$ ) and 2LT is 3.2 microseconds. Accordingly, the observed response would depart from (7-38) at 3 ns in the manner shown in fig. 7-3; however, figs. 7-5 and 7-6 do accurately describe the observed response out to 3.2 ns, i.e., for the time interval before the receiving-end reflection returns to the sending-end.

91

## 7.3 A Practical Method for Measuring the Step Response of the Sending-End Voltage

When the generator impedance  $R_g$  is not equal to the high frequency characteristic impedance  $R_o$  of the cable under test, (7-28) is not valid. Specifically, in the first form of (7-28) note the  $R_o$  term; for a generator of impedance  $R_g$ , the  $R_o$  term has to be replaced by  $R_g$ . Consequently, for a generator impedance  $R_g$  all equations based on (7-28) are also invalid.

However, all is not lost because the principal result of Section 7.2,  $e_{s}(t)$ , i.e., eq. (7-38), transforms as follows:

$$e_{s}(t) = \frac{2 R_{o}}{R_{o} + R_{g}} e_{s}(t).$$
 (7-51)

The derivation of this result proceeds in the following manner. Consider fig. 7-4A in which  $R_0$  is replaced by  $R_g$ . Then, the voltage across  $Z_0(s)$  is given by

$$e_{s}(t) \Big]_{R_{g}} = \frac{1}{s} \frac{Z_{o}(s)}{R_{g} + Z_{o}(s)}.$$
 (7-52)

Upon expressing  $Z_{o}(s)$  in terms of the cable parameters obtains

$$e_{s}(t) = \frac{1}{s} \frac{\left[\frac{R + sL + Ks^{m}}{sL}\right]^{1/2}}{R_{g} R_{g} + \left[\frac{R + sL + Ks^{m}}{sL}\right]^{1/2}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{s} \frac{\frac{R_{o}\left[1 + \frac{R + Ks^{m}}{sL}\right]^{1/2}}{R_{g} + \left[1 + \frac{R + Ks^{m}}{sL}\right]^{1/2}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{s} \frac{\left[1 + \frac{R + Ks^{m}}{sL}\right]^{1/2}}{\widetilde{R}_{g} + \left[1 + \frac{R + Ks^{m}}{sL}\right]^{1/2}}$$
(7-53)

where  $\overline{R}_{g}$  denotes  $R_{g}/R_{o}$ . Expanding the radical terms in a power series as was done in (7-28) yields

$$e_{s}(t) = \frac{1 + \frac{v}{2} - \frac{v^{2}}{2 \cdot 4} + \frac{3v^{3}}{2 \cdot 4 \cdot 6} - \frac{3 \cdot 5 \cdot v^{4}}{2 \cdot 4 \cdot 6 \cdot 8} + \cdots}{(1 + \overline{R}_{g}) + \frac{v}{2} - \frac{v^{2}}{2 \cdot 4} + \frac{3v^{3}}{2 \cdot 4 \cdot 6} - \frac{3 \cdot 5 \cdot v^{4}}{2 \cdot 4 \cdot 6 \cdot 8} + \cdots}$$
(7-54)

Because the quotient of polynomials, (7-54), can be expressed as

$$H = \frac{Y}{X} = \frac{1 + a_1 v + a_2 v^2 + \cdots}{(1 + \overline{R}_g) + a_1 v + a_2 v}$$

the k-th coefficient of H is given by

$$h(k) = \frac{1}{x(1)} \left[ y(k) - \sum_{i=1}^{k-1} h(i) x(k+1-i) \right] .$$
 (7-33)

•

For 
$$e_{s}(t)$$
, i.e., (7-54)  
 $x(1) = 1 + \overline{R}_{g}$  (7-56)

while for  $e_s(t)$ , (7-38)

x(1) = 2

Because x(1) occurs in (7-33) only as the factor 1/x(1) external to the brackets, the two series expansions are related by a simple scale factor,

$$e_{s}(t) \bigg|_{R_{g}} = \frac{2}{1 + \overline{R}_{g}} e_{s}(t)$$
$$= \frac{2 R_{o}}{R_{o} + R_{g}} e_{s}(t)$$

which is the result given above in (7-51).

An experimental run on Cable I using a two channel 50 ohm feed-through sampling system produced the data shown in fig. 7-8. Note that the initial step is given by

$$e_{s}^{(0)} = \frac{2 \times 124}{100 + 124} \left(\frac{1}{2}\right) = 0.55$$
 (7-57)

where  $R_g$  and  $R_o$  are 100 and 124 ohms, respectively. The measurement system is shown in fig. 7-9. When the voltage of one of the balanced generators was reduced to zero with the 50 source impedance being maintained, no significant change (none was discerned) in the energized channel's sending-end voltage,  $(1/2) e_{s}(t) ].$ 124





Figure 7-1. The RT diagram for a uniform transmission line connecting an arbitrary generator and load.





unit-step. Equation (7-21) is the Laplace transform of this initial voltage. Note the transmission delay of  $\ell T$  seconds and then the emergence of the distorted step-like signal from the transmission line,  $\ell T$  to  $3\ell T$  seconds.





the initial step. The initial voltage jumps to 0.5 volts and then rises slowly until the first reflection returns from the load.



Figure 7-4A. The voltage divider circuit representing the voltage transfer from  $e_g(t)$  to  $e_s(t)$  for 0 < t < 2 & T or for all t when  $\& l = \infty$ , or the line is terminated in  $Z_0(s)$ .



Figure 7-4B. The sending-end voltage step response when the line is infinitely long or terminated in  $Z_{o}(s)$ .







Figure 7.6 The sending-end step response for the time interval of 0 < t < 10 microseconds.

езтоV 100



Time, microseconds

Figure 7-7. The divergent properties of the series (7-38) using the parameters for Cable I. The parametric variable 10 corresponds to 10 terms comprised of 0.5 u(t) plus the algebraic sum of the weighted values of  $w_1(t)$  through  $w_3(t)$ . Similarilarly, 15 corresponds to 15 terms obtained from the sum through  $w_4(t)$ ; and so on through  $w_7(t)$  for 36 terms.




Figure 7-9 The measurement system for observing the sending-end step response.  $e_g(t)$  is a unit step generator.

## REFERENCES

- [1] Johnson, W. C., Transmission Lines and Networks, McGraw-Hill, New York 1950,
- [2] Nahman, N. S., A discussion on the transient analysis of coaxial cables considering high-frequency losses, IRE Trans. PGCT, <u>CT-9</u>, No. 2, 144-152, June, 1962.
- [3] Nahman, N. S., Signal waveform metrology at NBS, WESCON 77, Western Electronics Conference, Sept. 19-21, 1977, San Francisco, California (10 pages).
- [4] Terman, F. E. and Pettit, J. M., Electronic Measurements, (McGraw-Hill, New York, NY, 1952), p.
  113. Also, note discussion of capacitance measurements, p. 102.
- [5] McCaa, Jr., W. D. and Nahman, N. S., Generation of reference waveforms by uniform lossy transmission lines, IEEE Trans. Instru. and Meas., Vol. IM-14, Nov. 1969, pp. 382-390.
- [6] Gans, W. L., Present capabilities of the NBS automatic pulse measurement system, IEEE Trans. I&M, No. 4, 384-388, December 1976.
- [7] W. L. Gans and Andrews, J. R., Time domain automatic network analyzer for the measurement of RF and microwave parameters, NBS Tech. Note 672, September 1975.
- [8] Baird, D. C., Experimentation: An Introduction to Measurement Theory and Experiment Design, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, N.J. 1962.
- [9] Stout, M. B., Basic Electrical Measurements, 2nd Ed., Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, N. J., 1960.
- [10] Brigham, E. O., The Fast Fourier Transform, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, N. J., 1974.
- [11] Tables of the Error Function and its Derivative, National Bureau of Standards, Applied Math Series, No. 41, 1954.
- [12] Schwartz, M., Information, Transmission, Modulation, and Noise, McGraw-Hill, New York, N.Y., 1959, pp. 381-384.
- [13] Tai, C. T., Transients on lossless terminated transmission lines. IEEE Trans. Ant. and Prop., <u>AP-26</u>, No. 4, 556-561, July 1978.

Cable	Signal Conductor(s)	Dielectric	Shield(s)	Jacket
	Material and 0.D.	Material and O.D.	Material and O.D.	Material and O.D.
RG-58C/U	stranded tinned	polyethylene	tinned copper	black vinyl
	copper 0.81 mm	2.95 mm	braid	4.95 mm
	(0.032 in)	0.116 in)		(0.195 in)
RG-214/U	silver coated	polyethylene	silver coated	black vinyl
	copper 2.26 mm	7.24 mm	copper	10.80 mm
	(0.089 in)	(0.285 in)		(0.425 in)
RG-223/U	silver coated	polyethylene	silver coated	black vinyl
	copper 0.91 mm	2.95 mm	copper	5.23 mm
	(0.036 in)	(0.116 in)		(0.206 in)
RG-59B/U	copper covered	polyethylene	bare copper	black vinyl
	steel 0.57 mm	3.71 mm	braid	6.15 mm
	(0.022 in)	(0.146 in)		(0.242 in)
۲	stranded bare	polyethylene	tinned copper	black pvc
	copper 0.33 mm	4.11 mm	braid 4.70 mm	6.22 mm
	(0.013 in)	(0.162 in)	(0.185 in)	(0.245 in)
۵	bare copper	polyethylene	tinned copper	black pvc
	1.70 mm	7.21 mm	braid 8.07 mm	10.67 mm
	(0.067 in)	(0.284 in)	(0.318 in)	(0.420 in)
υ	stranded tinned	polyethylene	tinned copper	blue vinyl
	copper 0.97 mm	6.10 mm	braid	6.15 mm
	(0.038 in)	(0.240 in)		(0.242 in)
٩	stranded tinned	polyethylene	bare copper	blue pvc
	copper 0.56 mm	1.12 mm	braid 2.74 mm	3.81 mm
	(0.022 in)	(0.044 in)	(0.108 in)	(0.150 in)
ш	stranded tinned	polyethylene	bare copper	blue pvc
	copper 0.99 mm	1.96 mm	braid 4.95 mm	6.22 mm
	(0.039 in)	(0.077 in)	(0.195 in)	(0.245 in)
RG-22B/U	stranded bare	polyethylene	tinned copper	black vinyl
	copper 1.16 mm	7.24 mm	braid	10.67 mm
	(0.046 in)	(0.285 in)		(0.420 in)

APPENDIX A. MEASURED AND MODELED CABLE DATA

A.1 Cable Parameter Tables

105

Cable Physical Parameters Table A-1.

Cable	Signal Conductor(s)	Dielectric	Shield(s)	Jacket
	Material and 0.D.	Material and 0.D.	Material and O.D.	Material and O.D.
LL.	stranded bare	polyethylene	tinned copper	black pvc
	copper 0.81 mm	4.11 mm	braid 4.70 mm	6.22 mm
	(0.032 in)	(0.162 in)	(0.185 in)	(0.245 in)
IJ	stranded bare	polyethylene	tinned copper	black pvc
	copper 1.35 mm	7.21 mm	braid 8.08 mm	10.67 mm
	(0.053 in)	(0.284 in)	(0.318 in)	(0.420 in)
т	stranded bare	polyethylene	tinned copper	black pvc
	copper 0.56 mm	4.11 mm	4.70 mm	6.22 mm
	(0.022 in)	(0.162 in)	(0.185 in)	(0.245 in)
ц	stranded bare	polyethylene	tinned copper	black pvc
	copper 0.97 mm	7.21 mm	braid 8.08 mm	10.67 mm
	(0.038 in)	(0.284 in)	(0.318 in)	(0.420 in)
Ŀ	stranded tinned	polyethylene	bare copper	blue pvc
	copper 0.56 mm	2.06 mm	braid 4.95 mm	6.22 mm
	(0.022 in)	(0.081 in)	(0.195 in)	(0.245 in)
¥	stranded bare	foam polyethylene	bare copper	black polyethylene
	copper 2.74 mm	7.2 mm	braid (2)	12.19 mm
	(0.108 in)	(0.285 in)		(0.480 in)
WD-37	stranded bare copper 0.762 mm (0.030 in)	polypropylene 2.29 mm (0.09 in)	bare copper braid 2.97 mm (0.117 in)	black pvc 
-				

Table A-1., continued

Loss constant "K" (x10 <sup>-4</sup> )	0.16710	1 0.053034	14 0.16676	34 0.21993	0.62760	0.22117	95 0.71262	0.46238	74 0.51676	0.23926	0.51543	0.17271	0.78542	0.25639	0.69930	0.039593	0.086936
Loss slope "m"	0.5297	0.5507	0.5231	0.5228	0.5098	0.5272	0.5139	0.5530	0.5217	0.5310	0.5156	0.5481	0.5026	0.5395	0.5161	0.5582	0.5723
Resistance per meter (ft) in m $\Omega$	37.1 (11.3)	10.3 (3.15)	34.8 (10.6)	147.6 (45.0)	58.7 (17.9)	20.0 (6.1)	68.2 (20.8)	196.9 (60.0)	68.9 (21.0)	43.0 (13.1)	86.6 (26.4)	31.5 (9.6)	160.1 (48.8)	61.7 (18.8)	186.4 (56.8)	7.45 (2.27)	137.8 (42.0)
Inductance per meter (ft) in nh	252.6 (77.0)	252.6 (77.0)	252.6 (77.0)	380.2 (115.9)	391.1 (119.2)	391.1 (119.2)	393.4 (119.9)	393.4 (119.9)	419.0 (127.7)	473.8 (144.4)	491.5 (149.8)	491.5 (149.8)	620.4 (189.1)	620.4 (189.1)	620.4 (189.1)	213.3 ( 65.0)	587.2 (179.0)
Capacitance per meter (ft) in pf	101.0 (30.8)	101.0 (30.8)	101.0 (30.8)	67.6 (20.6)	64.3 (19.6)	64.3 (19.6)	64.6 (19.7)	64.6 (19.7)	68.9 (21.0)	52.5 (16.0)	51.2 (15.6)	51.2 (15.6)	40.4 (12.3)	40.4 (12.3)	40.4 (12.3)	85.3 (26.0)	43.6 (13.3)
Cable	RG-58C/U	RG-214/U	RG-223/U	RG-598/U	A	В	U	D	ш	RG-22B/U	Ŀ	9	Ŧ	H	ſ	×	WD-37

Table A-2. Cable Electrical Parameters

i



Figure A-1. Modeled attenuation plot for 304.8 meters (1000 feet) of RG-58C/U. Ordinate units are decibels and abscissa units are megahertz.



Figure A-2. Modeled minimum-phase shift plot for 304.8 meters (1000 feet) of RG-58C/U. Ordinate units are degrees and abscissa units are megahertz.



'igure A-4. Time-expanded modeled and computed time domain impulse response for 304.8 meters (1000 feet) of RG-58C/U. Ordinate units are seconds<sup>-1</sup>, abscissa units are nanoseconds and time spacing between points is 0.9766 ns.



Figure A-5. Modeled and computed time domain unit step response for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of RG-58C/U. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are nanoseconds.



Figure A-6. Plots of "zero"/"one" cable unit step response voltages versus log<sub>10</sub> frequency for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of cable RG-58C/U. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are hertz.









 Modeled attenuation plot for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of RG-214/U. Ordinate units are decibels and abscissa units are megahertz.



Figure A-9. Modeled minimum-phase phase shift plot for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of RG-214/U. Ordinate units are degrees and abscissa units are megahertz.



Figure A-10. Modeled and computed time domain impulse response for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of RG-214/U. Ordinate units are seconds<sup>-1</sup>, abscissa units are nanoseconds and time spacing between points is 0.9766 ns.











Figure A-13. Plots of "zero"/"one" cable unit step response voltages versus log<sub>10</sub> frequency for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of cable RG-214/U. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are hertz.



Figure A-14. TDR unit step response for cable RG-214/U. Source step generator has assumed 50 Ω resistive output impedance. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are microseconds.



Figure A-15. Modeled attenuation plot for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of RG-223/U. Ordinate units are decibels and abscissa units are megahertz.



Figure A-16. Modeled minimum-phase phase shift plot for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of RG-223/U. Ordinate units are degrees and abscissa units are megahertz.



Figure A-18. Time-expanded modeled and computed time domain impulse response for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of RG-223/U Ordinate units are seconds<sup>-1</sup>, abscissa units are nanoseconds and time spacing between points is 0.9766 ns.





Figure A-19. Modeled and computed time domain unit step response for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of RG-223/U. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are nanoseconds.



Plots of "zero"/"one" cable unit step response voltages versus log10 frequency for 304.8 Figure A-20. meters (1000 ft) of cable RG-223/U. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are hertz.



Figure A-21. Modeled attenuation plot for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of RG-59B/U. Ordinate units are decibels and abscissa units are megahertz.



Figure A-22. Modeled minimum-phase phase shift plot for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of RG-59B/U. Ordinate units are degrees and abscissa units are megahertz.







Figure A-25. Modeled and computed time domain unit step response for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of RG-59B/U. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are nanoseconds.



Figure A-26. Plots of "zero"/"one" cable unit step response voltages versus log<sub>10</sub> frequency for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of cable RG-59B/U. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are hertz.



Figure A-27. Modeled attenuation plot for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of A. Ordinate units are decibels and abscissa units are megahertz.







Figure A-29. Modeled and computed time domain impulse response for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of A. Ordinate units are seconds<sup>-1</sup>, abscissa units are nanoseconds and time spacing between points is 0.9766 ns.



Figure A-30. Time-expanded modeled and computed time domain impulse response for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of A. Ordinate units are seconds<sup>-1</sup>, abscissa units are nanoseconds and time spacing between points is 0.9766 ns.



Figure A-31. Modeled and computed time domain unit step response for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of A. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are nanoseconds.



Figure A-32. Plots of "zero"/"one" cable unit step response voltages versus log<sub>10</sub> frequency for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of cable A. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are hertz.



Figure A-33. Modeled attenuation plot for 60.96 meters (200 ft) of B. Ordinate units are decibels and abscissa units are megahertz.



Figure A-34. Modeled minimum-phase phase shift plot for 60.96 meters (200 ft) of B. Ordinate units are degrees and abscissa units are megahertz.







Figure A-37. Modeled and computed time domain unit step response for 60.96 meters (200 ft) of B. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are nanoseconds.



Figure A-38. Plots of "zero"/"one" cable unit step response voltages versus log<sub>10</sub> frequency for 60.96 meters (200 ft) of cable B. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are hertz.



Figure A-39. Modeled attenuation plot for 152.4 meters (500 ft) of B. Ordinate units are decibels and abscissa units are megahertz.



Figure A-40. Modeled minimum-phase phase shift plot for 152.4 meters (500 ft) of B. Ordinate units are degrees and abscissa units are megahertz.





Figure A-42. Time-expanded modeled and computed time domain impulse response for 152.4 meters (500 ft) of B. Ordinate units are seconds<sup>-1</sup>, abscissa units are nanoseconds and time spacing between points is 0.9766 ns.



Figure A-43. Modeled and computed time domain unit step response for 152.4 meters (500 ft) of B. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are nanoseconds.



Figure A-44. Plots of "zero"/"one" cable unit step response voltages versus log<sub>10</sub> frequency for 152.4 meters (500 ft) of cable B. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are hertz.



Figure A-45. Modeled attenuation plot for 333.76 meters (1095 ft) of B. Ordinate units are decibels and abscissa units are megahertz.











Figure A-49. Modeled and computed time domain unit step response for 333.76 meters (1095 ft) of B. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are nanoseconds.



Figure A-50. Plots of "zero"/"one" cable unit step response voltages versus log<sub>10</sub> frequency for 333.76 meters (1095 ft) of cable B. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are hertz.







Figure A-53. Modeled and computed time domain impulse response for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of C. Ordinate units are seconds<sup>-1</sup>, abscissa units are nanoseconds and time spacing between points is 0.9766 ns.



Figure A-54. Time-expanded modeled and computed time domain impulse response for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of C. Ordinate units are seconds<sup>-1</sup>, abscissa units are nanoseconds and time spacing between points is 0.9766 ns.







Figure A-56. Plots of "zero"/"one" cable unit step response voltages versus log<sub>10</sub> frequency for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of cable C. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are hertz.



Figure A-57. Modeled attenuation plot for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of D. Ordinate units are decibels and abscissa units are megahertz.



Figure A-58. Modeled minimum-phase phase shift plot for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of D. Ordinate units are degrees and abscissa units are megahertz.



Figure A-60. Time-expanded modeled and computed time domain impulse response for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of D. Ordinate units are seconds<sup>-1</sup>, abscissa units are nanoseconds and time spacing between points is 4.883 ns.



Figure A-61. Modeled and computed time domain unit step response for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of D. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are nanoseconds.



Figure A-62. Plots of "zero"/"one" cable unit step response voltages versus log<sub>10</sub> frequency for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of cable D. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are hertz.


Figure A-63. Modeled attenuation plot for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of E. Ordinate units are decibels and abscissa units are megahertz.







Figure A-66. Time-expanded modeled and computed time domain impulse response for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of E Ordinate units are seconds<sup>-1</sup>, abscissa units are nanoseconds and time spacing between points is 4.883 ns.







Figure A-68. Plots of "zero"/"one" cable unit step response voltages versus log<sub>10</sub> frequency for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of cable E. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are hertz.



Figure A-69. Modeled attenuation plot for 60.96 meters (200 ft) of RG-22B/U. Ordinate units are decibels and abscissa units are megahertz.



Figure A-70. Modeled minimum-phase phase shift plot for 60.96 meters (200 ft) of RG-22B/U. Ordinate units are degrees and abscissa units are megahertz.



Figure A-72. Time-expanded modeled and computed time domain impulse response for 60.96 meters (200 ft) of RG-22B/U Ordinate units are seconds<sup>-1</sup>, abscissa units are nanoseconds and time spacing between points is 0.9766 ns.



Figure A-73. Modeled and computed time domain unit step response for 60.96 meters (200 ft) of RG-22B/U. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are nanoseconds.



Figure A-74. Plots of "zero"/"one" cable unit step response voltages versus log<sub>10</sub> frequency for 60.96 meters (200 ft) of cable RG-22B/U. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are hertz.



Figure A-76. Modeled minimum-phase phase shift plot for 152.4 meters (500 ft) of RG-22B/U. Ordinate units are degrees and abscissa units are megahertz.





Figure A-78. Time-expanded modeled and computed time domain impulse response for 152.4 meters (500 ft) of RG-22B/U. Ordinate units are seconds<sup>-1</sup>, abscissa units are nanoseconds and time spacing between points is 0.1953 ns.







Figure A-80. Plots of "zero"/"one" cable unit step response voltages versus log<sub>10</sub> frequency for 152.4 meters (500 ft) of cable RG-22B/U. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are hertz.



Figure A-81. Modeled attenuation plot for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of RG-22B/U. Ordinate units are decibels and abscissa units are megahertz.



Figure A-82. Modeled minimum-phase phase shift plot for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of RG-22B/U. Ordinate units are degrees and abscissa units are megahertz.



Figure A-84. Time-expanded modeled and computed time domain impulse response for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of RG-22B/U. Ordinate units are seconds<sup>-1</sup>, abscissa units are nanoseconds and time spacing between points is 0.9766 ns.



Figure A-85. Modeled and computed time domain unit step response for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of RG-22B/U. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are nanoseconds.



Figure A-86. Plots of "zero"/"one" cable unit step response voltages versus log<sub>10</sub> frequency for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of cable RG-22B/U. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are hertz.





Figure A-90. Modeled and computed time domain impulse response for 320.04 meters (1050 ft) of F. Ordinate units are seconds<sup>-1</sup>, abscissa units are nanoseconds and time spacing between points is 1.953 ns.





Time-expanded modeled and computed time domain impulse response for 320.04 meters (1050 ft) of F. Ordinate units are seconds<sup>-1</sup>, abscissa units are nanoseconds and time spacing between points is 1.953 ns.



Figure A-92. Modeled and computed time domain unit step response for 320.04 meters (1050 ft) of F. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are nanoseconds.



Figure A-93. Plots of "zero"/"one" cable unit step response voltages versus log<sub>10</sub> frequency for 320.04 meters (1050 ft) of cable F. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are hertz.



Figure A-94. Modeled attenuation plot for 323.09 meters (1060 ft) of G. Ordinate units are decibels and abscissa units are megahertz.



Figure A-95. Modeled minimum-phase phase shift plot for 323.09 meters (1060 ft) of G. Ordinate units are degrees and abscissa units are megahertz.



Figure A-96. Modeled and computed time domain impulse response for 323.09 meters (1060 ft) of G. Ordinate units are seconds<sup>-1</sup>, abscissa units are nanoseconds and time spacing between points is 0.9766 ns.



Figure A-97 . Time-expanded modeled and computed time domain impulse response for 323.09 meters (1060 ft) of G. Ordinate units are seconds<sup>-1</sup>, abscissa units are nanoseconds and time spacing between points is 0.9766 ns.



Figure A-98. Modeled and computed time domain unit step response for 323.09 meters (1060 ft) of G. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are nanoseconds.



Figure A-99. Plots of "zero"/"one" cable unit step response voltages versus log<sub>10</sub> frequency for 323.09 meters (1060 ft) of cable G. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are hertz.



Figure A- 100. Modeled attenuation plot for 152.4 meters (500 ft) of H. Ordinate units are decibels and abscissa units are megahertz.



Figure A- 101. Modeled minimum-phase phase shift plot for 152.4 meters (500 ft) of H. Ordinate units are degrees and abscissa units are megahertz.



Figure A-103. Time-expanded modeled and computed time domain impulse response for 152.4 meters (500 ft) of H. Ordinate units are seconds<sup>-1</sup>, abscissa units are nanoseconds and time spacing between points is 4.883 ns.



Figure A-104. Modeled and computed time domain unit step response for 152.4 meters (500 ft) of H. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are nanoseconds.



Figure A-105. Plots of "zero"/"one" cable unit step response voltages versus log<sub>10</sub> frequency for 152.4 meters (500 ft) of cable H. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are hertz.



Figure A-106. Modeled attenuation plot for 326.14 meters (1070 ft) of H. Ordinate units are decibels and abscissa units are megahertz.



Figure A-107. Modeled minimum-phase phase shift plot for 326.14 meters (1070 ft) of H. Ordinate units are degrees and abscissa units are megahertz.



Figure A-108. Modeled and computed time domain impulse response for 326.14 meters (1070 ft) of H. Ordinate units are seconds<sup>-1</sup>, abscissa units are nanoseconds and time spacing between points is 4.883 ns.







Figure A-110. Modeled and computed time domain unit step response for 326.14 meters (1070 ft) of H. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are nanoseconds.



Figure A-111. Plots of "zero"/"one" cable unit step response voltages versus log<sub>10</sub> frequency for 326.14 meters (1070 ft) of cable H. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are hertz.



Figure A-112. TDR unit step response for cable H. Source step generator has assumed 50  $\Omega$  resistive output impedance. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa are microseconds.



Figure A-113. Modeled attenuation plot for 60.96 meters (200 ft) of I. Ordinate units are decibels and abscissa units are megahertz.



Figure A-114 Modeled minimum-phase phase shift plot for 60.96 meters (200 ft) of I. Ordinate units are degrees and abscissa units are megahertz.



Figure A-115. Modeled and computed time domain impulse response for 60.96 meters (200 ft) of I. ordinate units are seconds<sup>-1</sup>, abscissa units are nanoseconds and time spacing between points is 0.9766 ns.







Figure A- 117. Modeled and computed time domain unit step response for 60.96 meters (200 ft) of I. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are nanoseconds.



Figure A-118. Plots of "zero"/"one" cable unit step response voltages versus log<sub>10</sub> frequency for 60.96 meters (200 ft) of cable I. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are hertz.



Figure A-119. Modeled attenuation plot for 152.4 meters (500 ft) of I. Ordinate units are decibels and abscissa units are megahertz.



Figure A-121. Modeled and computed time domain impulse response for 152.4 meters (500 ft) of I. Ordinate units are seconds<sup>-1</sup>, abscissa units are nanoseconds and time spacing between points is 0.9766 ns.



Figure A-122. Time-expanded modeled and computed time domain impulse response for 152.4 meters (500 ft) of I. Ordinate units are seconds<sup>-1</sup>, abscissa units are nanoseconds and time spacing between points is 0.9766 ns.



Figure A-123. Modeled and computed time domain unit step response for 152.4 meters (500 ft) of I. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are nanoseconds.







Figure A-125. Modeled attenuation plot for 320.04 meters (1050 ft) of I. Ordinate units are decibels and abscissa units are megahertz.



Figure A-126. Modeled minimum-phase phase shift plot for 320.04 meters (1050 ft) of I. Ordinate units are degrees and abscissa units are megahertz.



Figure A-127. Modeled and computed time domain impulse response for 320.04 meters (1050 ft) of I. Ordinate units are seconds<sup>-1</sup>, abscissa units are nanoseconds and time spacing between points is 0.9766 ns.



Figure A-128. Time-expanded modeled and computed time domain impulse response for 320.04 meters (1050 ft) of I. Ordinate units are seconds<sup>-1</sup>, abscissa units are nanoseconds and time spacing between points is 0.9766 ns.



Figure A-129. Modeled and computed time domain unit step response for 320.04 meters (1050 ft) of I. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are nanoseconds.



Figure A-130. Plots of "zero"/"one" cable unit step response voltages versus log<sub>10</sub> frequency for 320.04 meters (1050 ft) of cable I. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are hertz.



Figure A-131. TDR unit step response for cable I. Source step generator has assumed 50  $\Omega$  resistive output impedance. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are microseconds.


Figure A-132. Modeled attenuation plot for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of J. Ordinate units are decibels and abscissa units are megahertz.



Figure A-133. Modeled minimum-phase phase shift plot for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of J. Ordinate units are degrees and abscissa units are megahertz.



Figure A-135. Time-expanded modeled and computed time domain impulse response for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of J. Ordinate units are seconds<sup>-1</sup>, abscissa units are nanoseconds and time spacing between points is 0.9766 ns.



Figure A-137. Plots of "zero"/"one" cable unit step response voltages versus log<sub>10</sub> frequency for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of cable J. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are hertz.



Figure A-138. Modeled attenuation plot for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of K. Ordinate units are decibels and abscissa units are megahertz.



Figure A-139. Modeled minimum-phase phase shift plot for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of K. Ordinate units are degrees and abscissa units are megahertz.



Figure A-140. Modeled and computed time domain impulse response for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of K. Ordinate units are seconds<sup>-1</sup>, abscissa units are nanoseconds and time spacing between points is 0.4883 ns.



Figure A-141. Time-expanded modeled and computed time domain impulse response for 304:8 meters (1000 ft) of K. Ordinate units are seconds<sup>-1</sup>, abscissa units are nanoseconds and time spacing between points is 0.9766 ns.



Figure A-142. Modeled and computed time domain unit step response for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of K. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are nanoseconds.



Figure A-143. Plots of "zero"/"one" cable unit step response voltages versus log<sub>10</sub> frequency for 304.8 meters (1000 ft) of cable K. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are hertz.



Figure A-144. Modeled attenuation plot for 402.34 meters (1320 ft) of WD-37. Ordinate units are decibels and abscissa units are megahertz.







Figure A-146. Modeled and computed time domain impulse response for 402.34 meters (1320 ft) of WD-37. Ordinate units are seconds<sup>-1</sup>, abscissa units are nanoseconds and time spacing between points is 1.953 ns.



Figure A-147. Time-expanded modeled and computed time domain impulse response for 402.34 meters (1320 ft) of WD-37. Ordinate units are seconds<sup>-1</sup>, abscissa units are nanoseconds and time spacing between points is 1.953 ns.



Figure A-148. Modeled and computed time domain unit step response for 402.34 meters (1320 ft) of WD-37. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are nanoseconds.



Figure A-149. Plots of "zero"/"one" cable unit step response voltages versus log<sub>10</sub> frequency for 402.34 meters (1320 ft) of WD-37. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are hertz.



Figure A-150. TDR unit step response for cable WD-37. Source step generator has assumed 50  $\Omega$  resistive output impedance. Ordinate units are volts and abscissa units are microseconds.

SCALE FACTOR IN MU/CM =?", IUT DAT22( IP, IP0INT, ERY IPOINT, ERY ICA 22( IP

## APPENDIX B. CABLE MEASUREMENT AND ANALYSIS COMPUTER PROGRAMS

B.1. APMS System Calibration Programs and Subroutines

B.1.1. Y-Axis Calibration Subroutine

144

10

2

R

110 00 110 J=1.8 UKAL(J)=(UKAL(J)+1)-UKAL(J))/50. U=0.0 00 120 J=1.8 00 120 J=1.8 00 120 J=1.8 U=U+UKAL(J) U=(IUT\*1638.4x8.0)/U TYPE "U=",U, "MU/CM" RETURN RETURN RETURN

ŝ K 20), B1(2,1), C1(50,2), CTR(2,50), W 2,2) POSITIVE 2 Case GO TO 50 X-WAVE1( L1+1 X-MAVE1( L1+2) X-3.8 2 DAT11(50,2048,WAVE1) 2040 ) 60 TO 500 DAT11(100,2048, MAVE) JEICJ>100 R STR 2 2 2 2 2 2 0 Ē S STRT=0 ROCEPI RCCEP TYPE SUBRO 2PE M CT01 国わた REA TYP! ž 5 5 H 3 10 8 9 8 ß

B.1.2. X-Axis Calibration Subroutine

\*\*

CALL LINE(MAUE1, B1, NPOINT, KXUAL, C1, CTR, CTOT, Y) XUAL(1)=(8192, -B1(1,1))/B1(2,1) L1=L1+3 IF (LI.GE.2040) GO TO 500 STRT=(WAVE1(L1)+WAVE1(L1+1)+WAVE1(L1+2))/3.0 GO TO 100 SNEX=(WAVE1(L1+1)+WAVE1(L1+2)+WAVE1(L1+3))/3.0 IF (SNEX.GT.STRT) GO TO 150 CALL LINE(WAVE1, B1, NPOINT, KXVAL, C1, CTR, CTOT, Y) XVAL(1)=(8192.-B1(1,1))/B1(2,1) G0 T0 35 IF (STRT.LT.8192.) G0 T0 140 G0 T0 140 SNEX=WAUE1(L1+3) IF (SNEX.GE.8192.) G0 T0 160 SNEX=WAUE1(L1+3) IF (SNEX.LE.8192.) GO TO 60 IF (L1.GE.2040) GO TO 500 GO TO 150 KXUAL=L1+3 IF (L1.GE.2040) GO TO 500 GO TO 50 KXUAL=L1+3 NPOINT=11 IF (L1.CE.2040) GO TO 500 STRT=SNEX I = INION GO TO 40 1=[1+1 1=[1+1 .1=1+1 1=[1+1 -1=[1+3 [+[=] 8 8 100 110 140 160 150

XUAL (J)=XUAL (J+1)-XUAL (J) XUAL (J)=204.8 (IFREQXXUAL (J)) VI=J+1 WRITE (18,600 XCM J), CM J1), XUAL (J) WRITE (18,600 XCM J), CM J1), XUAL (J) FORMAT (1X, "BETWEEN"F7.3" CM AND"F7.3" CM, TIME SCALE="F9.4" NS/CM") CONTINUE ALS. 204.7 8,638 XAL 5 CO TO 110 AUG=0.0 K=I-1 CMC J=1.K CMC J=1.K K=K-1 THUX+SUALC C 520 Lat IHORIZ=XU RETURN END -ORMA 5 RITE A 2 L 805 510 FR 528 800 8 \*

THIS SUBROUTINE ACQUIRES Y-AXIS DATA FROM THE SAMPLING OSCILLOSCOPE IN A SWEEP-SEQUENTIAL MANNER. IT IS CALLED FROM THE MAIN PROCRAM BY THE FORTRAN STATEMENT.) CALL SOOK ISUP, IPNT, ARAY.)	WHERE ISUP CONTAINS THE NUMBER OF WAVEFORM SWEEPS DESIRED IN AND WHERE IPNT CONTAINS THE NUMBER OF POINTS DESIRED IN EACH SWEEP. IPNT MUST BE OF THE FORM 2XXN WHERE N IS A POSITIVE INTEGER. ARAY IS THE FLOATING POINT ARRAY INTO WHICH THE TOTAL WAVEFORM DATA IS PLACED AND MUST BE UNICH THE TOTAL WAVEFORM DATA IS PLACED AND MUST BE DIMENSIONED IN THE MAIN PROGRAM TO THE LARGEST EXPECTED	NUMBER OF WAVEFORM FUINTS. THE OUTPUT ARRAY, ARAYK IPNT > CONSISTS OF SINGLE-PRECISION FLOATING POINT NUMBERS SUITABLE FOR FORTRAN ARITHMETIC OPERATIONS. TO ELIMINATE SAMPLER TRANSIENT EFFECTS FOUR SAMPLES ARE ACTUALLY TAKEN AT EACH POINT, THE FIRST THREE OF WHICH ARE DISCARDED. SUBROUTINE SOOK ISUP, IPNT, ARAY > DIMENSION ARAYK IPNT >	UNITING DUSR DACU-23 JD/A DEVICE CODE DUSR ADCU-21 JA/D DEVICE CODE LDA 0, T	STA 0.ARY JADDRESS TO ARY LDA 0.PEAC JOCTAL 40000 TO ACK0> LDA 1.0PNT J# OF POINTS TO ACK1> JMP .42 JTHESE FIUE INSTRUCTIONS MOUZR 0.0 JCALCULATE THE POINT MOUZR 1.1.SNC JSPACING, IBITE, WHERE
*	000000	000000	aaaaaaa	acacac

IBITE=16.304/# OF POINTS DONEI # OF POINTS TO AC(2) # OF POINTS TO AC(2) MEGATE AC(2) FOR FP ARRAY NEGATE AC(2) ARY ADDRESS TO AC(3)	ZERO ALL ARRAY LOCATIONS ZERO ALL ARRAY LOCATIONS INCREMENT POINT COUNTER INCREMENT POINT COUNTER NOT DONE-GET NEXT POINT OF SWEEPS TO AC(0)	# OF POINTS/SWEEP TO ACK 0) # OF POINTS/SWEEP TO IPT POINT SPACING TO ACK 0) POINT SPACING TO ACK 0) POINT SAMPLE # TO ACK 0) DUMMY SAMPLE # TO ACK 0) DUMMY SAMPLE # TO DCNT	ARAY SA TO DATAD ARAY SA TO CT1 ARAY SA TO CT1 ARAY SA TO CT2 ZERO AC(0) ADDRESS D/A #0 ADDRESS D/A #0 OUTPUT ZERO TO D/A #0 START CONVERT, A/D #0	MASK OUT A-D INTERRUPT CONVERSION DONE? NO. KEEP WAITING DUMMY SAMPLES DONE? NO. TAKE ANOTHER SERO ACC?
0, 181TE 3, 20 PNT 3, 20 PNT 3, 20 PNT	8, 8, 8, 8, 9, 9, 9, 9, 9, 9, 9, 9, 9, 9, 9, 9, 9,	9, 1911E 9, 1911E 9, 00UM 9, 00UM		A POCU
A LE LOS				
ææææææ	<b>aaaaaa</b> a			REGEGEGE TCM

JOUNNY SAMPLE # TO ACK8) JOUNNY SAMPLE # TO DONT JBITE SIZE TO ACK8)	JINCREMENT X LOCATION JACORESS D/A #0 JNEXT X LOCATION TO D/A #0 JNEXT X LOCATION TO D/A #0	FROM OUTPUT DATA FROM A-D	JINCREMENT DATA ADDRESS JINCREMENT DATA ADDRESS JLOW ORDER # TO AC(1) JINCREMENT DATA ADDRESS	JADO TWO LOW ORDER #'S JINCR. HI-ORDER # IF OUFL JINEW SUM TO ARAY	JINCREMENT DATA ADDRESS JNEW SUM TO ARAY (LO-ORDER) JINCREMENT DATA ADDRESS	AD CONERSION DONE?	JUMMY SAMPLES DONE? JND, TAKE ANOTHER JCLEAR AND RESET AND	NO, GET NEXT POINT	JND, START NEXT SWEEP JARAY SA TO DATAD JARAY SA TO CT3	JARAY SA TO CT4 JBYTE MASK TO ACK3)
0, DUM 0, DCNT 0, IBITE 1, 1	2, DACU	ตตต ติติติติ	8, ecr1 CT1 1, ecr1 CT1	3,1,52C 0,0 0,eCT2	CT2 1, @CT2 CT2	PEAC PDCU	DCNT DUMAD	PTONT PTONT CNT1	Super 0, DATAD 0, CT3	0, CTA 3, XMAGK
SUPA SUPA	6686	ADOZI MOVZR MOVZR			STA STA		ZX2		A CLUS	STA LDA
aaaa	aaa	taaa	aaaa	aaa	aaa	aaa	P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P P	aaa	aaa	aa

TESTI JUNP AROUND SHIFT	0, DACU , ADDRESS D/A #0 2, DACU ,X LOCATION TO D/A #0	ADCV , A/D FINISHED? -1 ,NO, NOT YET	, NUMBER OF DUMMY SAMPLES +1 , DUMMY SAMPLE COUNTER , INTERRUPT MASK WORD	SWEEP COUNTER BITE SIZE (POINT SPACING) ARAY STARTING ADDRESS	DATA STORE COUNTER JUPPER BYTE MASK	DATA LOAD COUNTER DATA STORE COUNTER SELATING POINT NORMALIZING EXPONENT	HOF POINTS DESIRED IN SHEEP	JARRAY STARTING ADORESS JADORESS OF # OF SWEEPS	0.0 , MOVE THE FOUR LO-ORDER 1,1 , BITS OF THE HI-ORDER 0.0 , DATA MORD INTO THE TOP	1,1 FOUR BITS OF THE LO-ORDER 0,0 , DATA WORD AND THROW OUT 1,1 , THE FOUR LO-ORDER BITS OF THE FOUR LO-ORDER BITS OF	2,2 JINCREMENT THE EXPONENT
		NOdys	140M	0000	177400	00	300	000	MOUZR	ADUZR MOUZR MOUZR	MOCR INC
A way			ADUM: ADCNT: ADCNT:	ACNT1: ACNT2: ADATAD:	ACT2: ACT2: AXMASK:	ACT3: ACT4:	APNT: AIBITE	ASMP: ASMP: A DIDI	ASHIFT -		144



\$\$.}

₩

A, B, C, NROWA, NCOLA, NCOLB ) NCOLA ), B( NCOLA, NCOLB ), C( NROWA, NCOLB ) SSX v 0 Z П Ш 7 10 8 \$\$. 1

T C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	INDOE IDAT IPNT IPNT	, ISHP NGR , NEAS , NEAS
RAMETER S21(F) LUEFORM. THE NUMB RAY POINTS FOR FF RUST BE AN INTEGER INST BE AN INTEGER S POSSIBLE WITH A S BOTH MAGNITUDE I RADIANS). DUE TI (OR LESS) OF S21((	N?" SEQUENTIAL," "≓? SKEEPS =?	PHO > CONTRACTOR OF THIS"
ALCULATION OF PA THE NUMBER OF AR THE NUMBER OF AR TABLE BUT BOTH M COUIRED IN EITHE MAIN AVERAGING I ALUE AND SIGMA FO IN DEGREES OR IN ST 300 HARMONICS	ACQUISITION READ N MODE? 1=SWEEP NTS FOR DATA ACQ NTS IN TOTAL=? ATA ACQUISITION PER X LOCATION=?	ERAGED WAVEFORMS IN NSEC/CH=? STINGS? (1=YES, CTOR IN MU/CH=? E FOR ZND WAVEFO E FOR ZND WAVEFO COMAIN AVERAGES SS THAN OR EQUAL IS THE SMALLER
AIN PROGRAM FOR C E AND PHASE USING DATA POINTS AND VG ARE EACH SELEC AUEFORMS MAY BE A SEQUENTIAL MODE. ISTING OF MEAN US ISTING OF MEAN US ISTING OF MEAN US ULATED. ULATED. ULATED. V S(1800), P(1800), P(1800)	FERENCE MAUEFORM UEFORM ACQUISITIC DEPOINT SEQUENTIC OF MAUEFORM POI OF MAUEFORM POI UMBER OF DUMMY C E.EQ.1 > GO TO 10 NUMBER OF DUMMY C	NUMBER OF TIME-AL TIME SCALE FACTOR INDIVIDUAL SCALE FACTOR UERT SCALE CHANC VERT SCALE CHANC VIERT SCALE FACTOR VIERT SCALE CHANC VIERT SCALE CHANC VIERT SCALE CHANC VIERT SCALE FACTOR VIERT VIERT SCALE FACTOR VIERT SCALE FACTOR VIERT VIERT SCALE FACTOR VIERT VIERT VIERT SCALE FACTOR VIERT VIERT VIERT VIERT VIERT SCALE FACTOR VIERT VIERT VIER
S21U	NMEAS=0 TYPE "RE TYPE "WA ACCEPT " ACCEPT " ACCEPT " ACCEPT " ACCEPT "	

## B.2. Cable Measurement Programs and Subroutines

B.2.1. Main Cable Time Domain Transfer Function Measurement Program

, UERT -CURVEICIDAT >-WAVEICIDAT-1 >+WAVEICIDAT-2 >> x 3.8.8.8> E FACTOR IN MU/CM=7 2 (ISUP, IDAT, WAVE1) 0,0.0) =6,15 "TIMEZ" , "W" STEP=2 IMODE.EQ.1 > GO TO 50 . SO3 (ISUP, IDAT, WAVE1 8 SO2 (IP, IDAT, MAUEL) 8 5 FID, IPNT 5 UERT + HOUE IC 1.50.00 SOPEN < 8.EQ.0) 「石川つ **N** <u>66</u> Sos 20 3 N Ŧ ົກ Z VIN-IDA RITE THE CALL N 22 Ę 2 3 Ž đ 2 Z रु 8 ą 9 0 0 8 **\$** 8 82 110 8 8 100

", ISPEC "RESPONSE MAVEFORMS READY? < TYPE ANY CHARACTER >", IOUN <1=YES, 0=NO> ("SEEVED JEFORM SPECTRUM? 08"F15.3" AUI = MAUEIC J > JARVEZC J > > X VERT AER > C=20.044.0610C085KHAVE1(J)) FOLOS (5) RUN.EQ.1) GO TO 160 26 **JEFERE** *<b>ITIME* MRITE (5) IPOINT MRITE (5) FDIU MRITE (5) DYY IPOINT=IPOINT+1 7 <1X, F12.2 8 (ISPEC.EQ.0) L MSOPEN (5, I I I I 0 218 Ja2, IHA EQ. 0> MSOPEN IPOINT=IPNT/ FDIU=5. #IPNT/ DYY=1.0 RITE (5) ) NEAS N TIFT-0. 147 J INGI < IRUN 1 r XY TAMAD RITE E E CCEPT RCN-1 CCEPT **NOCEP** 8 ਕ 12 140 11 168 147 138 170

No made OF SZICHEAN) AND SZICSIGNA 7", NG & RADIANS (1) OR DB AND DEGREES (2)", L1 SIGNA No march MERCINEMENTO"", NHERS (IDATAHARA) < IPNT#TIME#8.1> PROD. GE. 0. 0) GO TO 200 ABS(U2). LE. 90. 0) GO TO 200 U4. GT. 0. 0) GO TO 190 KINEAS.EQ.MEAS) GO TO 220 TO 30 KINEAS.EQ.1) GO TO 999 KINEAS.EQ.1) GO TO 999 EPT "READY FOR LISTING OF SEPT "LISTING IN NEPERS & F < 3, "MNDEG", "W" >> FREQUENCY U1=28. 84ALOG107 CABS( AU1 >> IF (N4.EQ.0) GO TO 210 WRITE (10,170 XU3,U1,U2 CONTINUE SK 300%NMEAS-300+K >=U1 IF < J.EQ.2> GO TO 200 U5=U2 X 300XNMEAS-300+K MUZ -360.0 SHIFT=SHIFT+360.0 NPE "NUMBER OF WRITE (10,230) FORMAT(1X," SIGMA") TYPE " " **NEOPEN** LINGEL 1914245UPS PR00=U4#U2 Da1 0 200 ACCEPT 515 Mar L SHIF L PC L 8 210 220 200 230

SDEU2=SDEU2+K SMEAN-SK 3004KK-300+J))#K SMEAN-SK 3004K-300+J)) SDEU2=SDEU2/K NTEAS-1) SIGMA=SQRTK SDEU2) IF (L1.EQ.1) SIGMA=SIGMA/8.683889638 FREK, SMEAN, SIGMA, PMEAN, PIGMA PICMAXPI >/180.8 TIMEX0.01 >+0.001 IF < IHARM.LE. 300 > NAU=IHARM FUEL ( ) HOMPLX ( SHEAN, SMEP ) STERNESTERVISK 30044 ) HEAVEPHEAN-PC 3004K-300+J> INVEZY J >= CMPLXK PMRAD, 0.0> SMEP-SMERV 8. 685889638 PRODEL PREAKPI >180.0 NEDG-1 30 240 K=1, NEAS SDEV2=0.0 D0 260 K=1, NEAS 250 K=1, NEAS 70 K=1, NEAS d 00 300 J=1, NAV SMEAN=0.0 DEU2-PDEU2 HRITE (5) HRITE (5) HRITE (5) PREAN-0.0 DEU2=0.0 ARITE CO TO 105 **JAR** L Q 240 268 270

WE12.3" DEG"FB.3" DEG") NEP"F12.3" RAD"FB.3" RAD" WRITE (10, 350) FREK, SMVEP, SIGMA, PMRAD, PIGMA WRITE (5) PMEAN CONTINUE CALL FCLOS (5) CALL FCLOS (5) FB. ŋ <"W" "Mu "Q22 **PIERS** X510 X510 FOLOS MSOPEN FCLOS RITE (5) RITE (5) RITE (5) HRITE (5) HRITE (5) HRITE (5) 1 <u>666</u> 6 ŝ ິດ 310 . FORMAT( FORMAT END -RITE R 82 REA 1-REA RITE RITE RITE RITE E A 2 a द्र 9 Ā S O 9966 \* 318 222 

3 MONIT a G TXG-Y STATION CARLS IS đ 35 SIE **PROM** ທ l S E H A 2 Ē 0 ų W E T

DDDDDDDDDDDD

CALCULATE THE POINT SPACING, IBITE, WHERE IBITE=16,304/# OF POINTS	DOUBLE AC(2) FOR FP ARRAY	INEGATE AC(2) ARY ADDRESS TO AC(3)	ZERO ALL ARRAY LOCATIONS INCREMENT POINT COUNTER INCREMENT POINT COUNTER	# OF SWEEPS TO AC(0) # OF SWEEPS TO CNT1 # OF POINTS/SWEEP TO AC(0)	POINT SPACING TO ACCONTS POINT SPACING TO ACCONTS POINT SPACING TO ACCONTS POINT SPACING TO CNTS	DUMMY SAMPLE # 10 MC/07 DUMMY SAMPLE # 10 DOVT ARY SA TO AC(0)	JARAY SA TO CT1 JARAY SA TO CT2	ADDRESS D/A #0 OUTPUT ZERO TO D/A #0 START CONVERT, A/D #0	INTERRUPT MASK TO ACK U) MASK OUT A-D INTERRUPT CONVERSION DONE?	DUMMY SAMPLES DONE?
0,0 1,1,5NC	2,22 2,22 2,22 2,22 2,22 2,22 2,22 2,2	8.92 3.92 3.92	0,0,3 3,3,3 2,5 2 8	0, CNT1 0, CNT1 0, CNT1	0, IPT 0, IBITE 0, CNT2		8000 H	86,000 0000 0000	8. ADMI	101 ION
NOUZR MOUZR	MOUZL		STA		STA A		STA STA		NO N	
aaa	aaaa				ASUPCT:	<b>a a a</b>			a a a	τœ

â DOLEY LOCATION No. m RE ROTER SHEEP COMPLETEDY Π Ú L CONS. x EXTRAVED 3 ORDER JE JE NCREMEN n NCREMEN CREP REMOUNT BEGIN ZERO TR 02 S < Ù 35 1, 328 SSS. BIT 9, ecr2 ซ ğ 50 **SC1** g 0 EE EE 6 6 1 5 10 5 A STAR A SUPPOR 888 PTONT DDDDDDD ασσασααα a

PTCNT JNO, GET NEXT POINT CNT1 JALL SWEEPS COMPLETED SWPCT JNO, START NEXT SWEEP 0, DATAD JARAY SA TO DATAD 0, CT3 JARAY SA TO CT3 0, CT4 JARAY SA TO CT4 3, XMASK JBYTE MASK TO ACC3 TEST1 JJUMP AROUND SHIFT	0, DACU ; ADDRESS D'A #0 2, DACU ; ADDRESS D'A #0 9, ADCU ; X LOCATION TO D'A #0 ADCU ; X LOCATION TO D'A #0 -1 ; NO; NOT YET ADCU ; NO; NOT YET	NUMBER OF DUMMY SAMPLES +1 DUMMY SAMPLE COUNTER INTERRUPT MASK WORD	BITE SIZE (POINT SPACING) ARAY STARTING ADDRESS DATA LOAD COUNTER DATA STORE COUNTER	JUPPER BYTE MASK J2~14 IN OCTAL JDATA LOAD COUNTER	FLOATING POINT NORMALIZING EXPONENT	LARRAY STARTING ADDRESS LADDRESS OF # OF SWEEPS L# OF POINTS/SWEEP	0.0 MOUE THE FOUR LO-ONDER
		4000	୦୦୦୦୦	177400 40000 0	80100	0000	MOUZR
AGGGGGGGGG			ACNT2: ADATAD: ACT1: ACT2:	APEAC: APEAC: ACT3: ACT3:	AEXPON: APNT: APNT:	AGRY: ASWP: AIPT:	ASHIFT

DATA WORD INTO THE TOP FOUR BITS OF THE LO-ORDER DATA WORD AND THROW OUT THE FOUR LO-ORDER BITS OF THE LO-ORDER DATA WORD.	INCREMENT THE EXPONENT RETURN TO SUBROUTINE FP EXPONENT TO AC(2) HI-ORDER # TO AC(0) INCREMENT DATA ADDRESS	INCREMENT DATA ADORESS INCREMENT DATA ADORESS INCREMENT DATA ADORESS INCREMENT DATA ADORESS OUFL INTO EXPONENT? YES, JUMP TO SHIFT SWAP BYTES IN EXPONENT SWAP BYTES IN EXPONENT	HI-ORDER FP # TO ARAY INCREMENT DATA ADDRESS LO-ORDER FP # TO ARRAY INCREMENT DATA ADDRESS INCREMENT DATA ADDRESS INCREMENT DATA ADDRESS INCREMENT DATA ADDRESS INCREMENT DATA ADDRESS	NO, GET NEXT POINT ZERO TO AC(0) CLEAR INTERRUPTS
0-0-0-0-	2,2 2,52 2,62 0,6C13 0,6C13	SHIFT SHIFT SHIFT	00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 00,00 0,	1EST1 0,0
MOUZA MOUZA MOUZA MOUZA MOUZA			STA STA ISZ ISZ ISZ ISZ ISZ ISZ ISZ ISZ ISZ ISZ	SUB2 SUB2 SUB2 SUB2 SUB2 SUB2 SUB2 SUB2
acaca	A A A A A EST1-			««« •

THIS SUBROUTINE ACOUTES Y-AXIS DATA FROM THE SMALLED GSCILLLOSCOPE IN A POINT-SEQUENTIAL MANNER. IT IS CALLED FROM THE MAIN PROCRAM BY THE FORTRAN STATEMENT. CALL SOTX MPMT. IFNT. ARRYY AND MHERE INT CONTAINS THE NUMBER OF POINTS ACLOCATION DESIRE AND MHERE INT CONTAINS THE NUMBER OF POINTS ACLOCATION DESIRE AND MHERE INT CONTAINS THE NUMBER OF POINTS ACLOCATION DESIRE AND MHERE INT TOTAL JAUFTOR IN THE NUMBER OF POINT ARRAY INTO THE TOTAL JAUFTORM DATA IS PLACED AND MUST BE DITTEL TATELER. ARRY IS THE FLOATING POINT ARRAY INTO THE UTITAL JAUETOR DATA IS PLACED AND MUST BE DITTEL TATELER. ARRY IS THE FLOATING POINT ARRAY INTO THE UTITAL JAUETOR DATA IS PLACED AND MUST BE DITTERNICHED IN THE MAIN PROCRAM TO THE LARGEST EXPECTED NUMBER OF MANELY PROCRAM TO THE LARGEST EXPECTED NUMBER OF MANELY ARRAY. THE THAT THE SAMPLES THAT AND DITTERNICHED ISING THIS SUBROUTING. TO ELIMINATE SOMPLER TRANSIENT EFFECTS. THE FIRST THREE SAMPLES TAKEN AT EACH PRECISION FLOATING POINT NUMBERS SUITABLE FOR FORTRAN TRANSIENT EFFECTS. THE FIRST THREE SAMPLES TAKEN AT EACH PROPERSIENT EFFECTS. THE FIRST THREE SAMPLES TAKEN AT EACH PROPERSIENT EFFECTS. THE FIRST THREE SAMPLES TAKEN AT EACH TRANSIENT EFFECTS. THE FIRST THREE SAMPLES TAKEN AT EACH PROPERSIENT EFFECTS. THE FIRST THREE SAMPLES TAKEN AT EACH PROPERSIENT EFFECTS. THE FIRST THREE SAMPLES TAKEN AT EACH TRANSIENT EFFECTS. THE FIRST THREE SAMPLES TAKEN AT EACH POINT ARE DISCORDED. CONPLEX ADAMY (INT) CONPLEX AD
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

æ

PROPA P G **YOUN** IBITE=16,384/# OF POINTS POINT COUNTER OCATION TO ACK 3> D AC(2 **FOR** ARRAY L POINT POIN ARRA. POINTS CR CA RES + 6 % SC 8) CREMENT REMEN ADDRES **UTPU** ADD 1 ADD 1 ARRAY ZERO R NTER g ZERO **ERRAY** 6 0 ZERO **DOU** とおん 2 8 4 2,2,SZR 2,2,SZR 0,RSNP 0,CNT 0,CNT 0,CNT 0,CNT 0,CNT 0, IBITE 2, @PNT O, ADMI 230 B, ADC 0,0, DOG En's ပု 75 0 0 00 ດີດີ MO ô â ô ñ Section Sections 80 STAR STAR 8 

ADDRESS DVA #0 BEGIN CONVERT, AVD #0 BEGIN CONVERT, AVD #0 FROM AVD OUTPUT DATA- FROM AVD OUTPUT DATA- FROM AVD OUTPUT DATA- FROM AVD OUTPUT DATA- KEXTRANEOUS ONES ONLY) HIGH ORDER # TO AC(8) LOW ORDER # TO AC(1) ADD TWD LO ORDER # S ADD TWD CONFESSION DONE CONVERSION DONE CONVERSION DONE ADD T TO AC(9) ADD T TO AC(1) ADD T TO AC(1) ADD T TO AC(1) ADD T TO AC(1) ADD	SWEEP COMPLETED?				
CONTRACTION CONTRA	8, PEAC 2, 8, SZR PNTCT				
	P P P				
<b>B.ARY JARAY SA TO AC(8)</b> <b>B.CT3 JARAY SA TO AC(8)</b> <b>B.CT4 JARAY SA TO CT3</b> <b>3.XMASK JBYTE MASK TO AC(3)</b> <b>TEST1 JUMP AROUND SHIFT</b>	0, DACU ADDRESS DVA #0 2, DACU X LOCATION TO DVA #0 0, ADCU START CONVERT, A/D #0 ADCU START CONVERT, A/D #0 ADCU START CONVERSION DONE?	DUMMY SAMPLE COUNTER INTERRUPT MASK WORD SWEEP COUNTER BITE SIZE (POINT SPACING) ARRAY ADDRESS COUNTER	DATA STORE COUNTER DATA STORE COUNTER JOATA STORE COUNTER J2~14 IN OCTAL JOATA LOAD COUNTER JOATA STORE COUNTER	FLOATING POINT NORMALIZING EXPONENT C POINTS DESIRED IN SWEEP BITE SIZE ARRAY STARTING ADDRESS ARRAY STARTING ADDRESS ADDRESS OF # OF SWEEPS	0.0 MOUE THE FOUR LO-ORDER 1.1 BITS OF THE HI-ORDER 0.0 DATA WORD INTO THE TOP 1.1 FOUR BITS OF THE LO-ORDER 1.1 FOUR BITS OF THE LO-ORDER 1.1 THE FOUR LO-ORDER BITS OF
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
STA STA		100004	a d ⊣ 4 0 d 4 7 7 4 4 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	00000	MOUZR MOUZR MOUZR MOUZR MOUZR
CCCCCC		ADCNT : ADCNT : ACNT : ACNT : ACNT :	ACT1 - ACT2: APEAC: ACT3: ACT3: ACT3:	AEXPON: APNT: ANRY: ASKP: ASKP:	A PARA PARA PARA PARA PARA PARA PARA PA

THE LO-ORDER DATA WORD	INCREMENT THE EXPONENT	HI-ORDER # TO AC(2)	, INCREMENT DATA ADDRESS ; LO-ORDER # TO AC(1)	JINCREMENT DATA ADDRESS	JINCKETENI UHIH HUUKESS JOJEL INTO EXPONENT? LYES. LIMP TO SHIFT	SWAP BYTES IN EXPONENT	HI-ORDER FP # TO ARAY	, INCREMENT DATA ADDRESS	JINCREVENT DATA ADDRESS	ND, GET NEXT POINT	ICLERK INIEROUTIS	
0,0	2,2 2,2	2, EXPON	CT3 1. eCT3	C13 C13	C13 0, 3, SZR SHIFT	00 00 00	8, ect4 CT4	1,0014 014	4410	TEST1 0,0	0	
NOUZR				2SI		SUDA	STA	STA				
¢.	<b>.</b>	ATEST1 :	. a. a	. a a	ARTN2:	נכנס	: œ œ	aa	<b>a</b> a (	IŒŒ	œш	-

B.2.4. Assembly Language Fast Fourier Transform Subroutine

-

1	z																	
1	SI		ĩ	83	33	55	83 2	33	523	38	39	35	35	33	33			9
	Щ. Щ.		Ę,	<del>C</del> <del>C</del>	<u>ה</u> ה		e c	ίĘί		<u>ה</u> ה	<u>ה</u> מ		<u>ה</u> ה	0.0		ing a	PUI	
	RAY		Ø	ØØ	ØØ	00	ØØ	000	90	00	000	00(	00	000	00	L. LL.	. LE. L	Ľ O
	ĔΨ		Ś	ഗവ	۵.0		66	ഹ	הנ	( ) ( )		m	0.0	0 (	16.14	<b>n</b> (1	0	റെ
	¥. T	924	r ö		800		Ö				S	Şğ				50	100	
	μŶ												64 M		a m	din din		
		и н <u>н</u>	H SH	四二 二 二 二 二 二 二 二 二 二 二 二 二 二 二 二 二 二 二	14 1 2 2 2 2 2 2	H O	Ö		22	<b>85</b>	Š			ġ	35			
	PLE	LA LA	<b>P</b> <b>S</b>	22 22	P P P		<b>B</b> R			ĒĒ		Ę	N N N N N	Ş				
		5																
		<b>S</b> SS	NA NA	55	<b>S</b> <b>B</b> <b>B</b>	<u> S</u> S	Š	<u>ss</u>	ŠŠ	<u>g</u> g		HG H			<u>i</u> g	S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	ŝ	ξe
2		000	<u>o</u> o	00	00	0Q	00					20	o,c	100	20	ÖC	100	50
5		aaa			αα	aa	(C (	IŒ	aa	ad	< CC <	DI	<b>C d</b>	C < C <	IC	a a		

FPU FPU					
00000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0		SNC PL	SZC TR		SC SZ
	or or				NICO NICO NICO
	NC NC	MP MP			
		<u>د</u> اکالک	.020720. تے	ے تے	, H. ) (L
	PLOOT	A A TES	agaaaaa	AIN PINC	

Rayounonanon Rayouno Rayouno Rayouno Rayounon Rayounonon Rayounonon Rayounon Rayouno
Answer and a state of the second of the seco
ACTR BACCAR A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A

g, CSRP B	3, WHTBL 3, JCOUNT 3, JCOUNT 3, ICOUNT 3, ICOUNT 2, LCOUNT 2, LCOUNT 2, LCOUNT	So offset	23 ISTEP 23 ISTEP 29 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20
BOOMNET ING			Property and a second s
ALETEP		acacaca	a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a







8	N N	M M M M M	
-NN M	6781 6781 9533 9533 9533 9533 9533 9533 9533 953	8888 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988 1988	
SHORD C	0710 0710 0710 0710 0718 0718 0718 09718 09718 09779 09779 09779 09779	88888888888888888888888888888888888888	
	00000000000000000000000000000000000000	0,40,00,40,00,00,00 0,40,00,40,00,000	
MTB.		KIN	

4 , 15, 4X, "START AT ", 15, 4X," XMIN=", 612. \*, IN ¥. ", Y1C1 > .1 %. POINTS TO BE PLOTTED IN THE FILE "? AL SCALE MULTIPLYING FACTOR "?" IF FACTOR"1, DATA WILL BE PLOTTED AND" KU), JE FIRST FIVE UNLUES IN FILE #2 ARE =", G12.4," RADIANS/DIU", 9X, G12.4," MH2" > 30, /N10", 9X, /DIU", 9X, "XX THE FIRST FIVE UPLUES IN FILE #1 (Y1(J), J=2,5) 2.4," DEG/DIU", 9X, SC =", G12.4, " NEPERS/010" 4," DB/DIU", 9X, 1=YES, G12.4," ", G12.4," ", SEC" > S III S ... ZHE S-A 4, " MIZ" FILE? .... √ 4 4 3 , G12.4, , G12 ,612 , G12.4, POINTS INPUT FILE NME IF (INF.EQ.1) GO TO 138 IF (INU.EQ.1) GO TO 110 READ (6) (YI(J), J=1,5) 6, IFN, "R" > SC #", G1 19' · # READ (6) (YZ(J), J=1,5) REMIND 6 , G12. ,**G12**. ,612. **.** , 612 ,612 = g 2 ജ 2 2 2 FORMAT < 1X, "YMAX FORMAT < 1X, "YMIN IWU-0 <11,1> IFN Xarb **JERT** X XIE Xarb **ERT JERT** Xalo XULV **ER** No. **SP** "UERTICAL io. 3 (LXX) - HON" NBODEN 2 120 2 2 8 2 8 REWIND 6 8 FORMAT FORMAT FORMAT FORMAT FORMAT FORMAT FORMAT ACCEPT ACCEPT TYPE 01 0 Щ Д ۲ ک YPE Here was YPE Y READ X X + 17 16 5 0 5 82825S 110 120

TYPE "SCALED AS IT EXISTS IN THE FILE. THIS FACTOR" TYPE "SHOULD BE ENTERED IN TEAMS OF UNITS/DIVISION. TYPE "IN TERMS OF SPACING BETWEEN POINTS (1) OR TYPE "IN TERMS OF SPACING BETWEEN POINTS (1) OR TYPE "IN THE". SPACING BETWEEN POINTS SHOULD BE INPUT TYPE "IN THE". OF TOTAL DOINTS "T ACCEPT "SPACING BETWEEN POINTS SHOULD BE INPUT TYPE "IN THE". SPACING BETWEEN POINTS SHOULD BE INPUT TYPE "IN THE". OF TOTAL DOINTS "T ACCEPT "STORT SPACING BETWEEN POINTS SHOULD BE INPUT TYPE "IN THE". OF TOTAL DOINTS "T ACCEPT "STORT SPACING BETWEEN POINTS SHOULD BE INPUT TYPE "IN THE OF TOTAL DOINTS "T ACCEPT "UNITS/DIVISION "T TYPE "IN THE OF TOTAL DOINTS "T ACCEPT "UNITS/DIVISION ST TYPE "TOTAL DOINTS "T ACCEPT "UNITS/DIVISION ST TOTAL DOINTS OF TOTAL DOINTS "T ACCEPT "UNITS/DIVISION ST ACCEPT "UNITS/DIVISION	8)'a	", IDUN	XO *	", DIUX	-NI * .			WI'. 831
Kertersen and and and and and and and and and an	"Scaled as it exists in the file. This factor" "I "Should be entered in terms of Units/Division."	"DO YOU WISH TO INPUT THE HORIZONTAL SCALE" "IN TERMS OF SPACING BETWEEN POINTS <1 > OR" "UNITS PER DIVISION <2 > BASED ON 10 DIVISIONS" PT "OF TOTAL DATA WINDOW?	IDUM.EG.2) GU 10 130 "NOTE: SPACING BETWEEN POINTS SHOULD BE INPUT" "IN NSEC OR IN MHZ, AS APPROPRIATE." PT "SPACING BETWEEN POINTS =?	"NOTE: UNITS PER DIVISION SHOULD BE INPUT" "IN NSEC OR IN MHZ, AS APPROPRIATE." PT "UNITS/DIVISION "? IDUM.EQ.1 > GO TO 140	DIVXX10.0>/FLOAT(NF) PT "# OF VALUES TO BE IGNORED IN FILE BEGINNING=? " INF.NE.0> READ <6> <a, inf="" j="1,"> 1.450</a,>	<pre>&lt;65 NF, DIUX, US DIUXX10.0&gt;&gt;&gt;FLOAT(NF) IMU.EQ.1&gt; G0 T0 170 &lt;65 &lt; Y1(J), J=1, NF)</pre>	D 180 <6> <y2<j>,J=1,NF&gt; FCLOS &lt;6&gt; IMU.EQ.1&gt; GO TO 190 IMU.EQ.1&gt; GO TO 190 "EDIOT SERTIND FTLE ON THE SOME (ROOM? (1=VES, @MND)"</y2<j>	PT "NOTE: NF, DIUX AND DY MUST BE THE SAME IN BOTH FILEB IMU.EQ.1 ) GO TO 105 20 J=1.NF 241(J) XUS 1MU.EQ.0 ) GO TO 200 1MU.EQ.0 ) GO TO 200
	TYPE			8 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	355 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 25 2			8 00 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10

				", UDC	", IL	NJI '	NJI '	dI " u	
CONTINUE	TYPE "TYPE OF GRAPH ? <1=MU/T, 2= /T, 3=GAIN/F, 4=MU/F, ACCEPT "6= /F, 9=U/F ##SPECIAL#X.",IT LG1=2 LG1=2	IF (IT.EQ.3) ACCEPT "NEPERS (1) OR DECIBELS (2)7", LG1 IF (IT.EQ.4) ACCEPT "RADIANS (1) OR DEGREES (2)7", LG2 IF (LG1.EQ.2) GO TO 210	) IF (LC2.EQ.2) GO TO 220 IT=8	IL (11. NE. 3) GU 10 223 ACCEPT "UDC =?	GU 10 200 ACCEPT "LOG PLOT? (0=40, 1=Y-LGX, 2=LGY-X, 3=LGY-LGX) IL2=IL-IL/2#2 INSCHIS	IF (IL.LT.2) G0 T0 250 ADCEPT "FILE #1 UNLUES? (0=POSITIVE, 1=NEGATIVE) IF(IPN.NE.1) G0 T0 250 D0 230 J=1,NF	IF (IWU.EQ.0) CO TO 250 ACCEPT "FILE #2 VALUES? (0=POSITIUE, 1=NEGATIUE) IF (IPN.NE.1) CO TO 250 MO 240 Let.NF	Y2(J)-Y2(J) TYPE "AXAX", NF," POINTS IN FILE X0XXX" ACCEPT " & PLOT ALL, 1-PLOT A PART IF (IP.NE.8) GO TO 268	NEWE NEWE 100 270
200			216	Ň	22		N N	N.S.	

8 Z

X AT NB =? < >1 FOR LOG X > ND.NB.EQ.1> GO TO 260 NOTTED POINTS NE.9) GO TO 275 「王王」へ」と START 0 ACCEP ZIE ZIE A REAL NIM XUS 8 â are 8 IB ø h 200 872 R 200 22

THE SAME SIGN XHIN'NIWA' ... statet " ", IS CE.0.0) GO TO 370 LOG Y PLOTS BOTH YMIN & YMAX NUST HAVE TYPE "AAAA YMINI & YMAXI ARE -", YMINI, YMAXI," MAX2 ARE .", YMINZ, YMAX2, " 2)\*(YMAX-YMIN)/10.0+1L/24/MIN 2) GO TO 410 YMAX=YMAX2 · O=FULL, 1=SPECIAL XMIN=MX1%10.04000X IF < XMAX.LT.1.0 > G0 T0 320 MX=INT< ALOG10< XMAX >+0.000001 > MX1=INT<< XMAX/10.04400X >-0.000001 >+1 TX1=INT<< XMAX/10. 8x1MX >-0. 880001 >+1 MAX=MX1#10. 8x1MX K1=INT( XMIN-10. 0XXMX )+0. 000001 ) SNIM-NIMY 10 10 330 10 130 100 100 2002 -0 299999 2 0111-0218.044445 20 T0 310 10=110 10=110-05100 20110-0.999999 MAX ARE 000 8 B/F VIXUA CINIM. 2) GO TO 00 CMAX=MX1×10.00000 CYMIN2.LT WIN2 **B** S NIW MIN < IWU.EQ.0> NY NINY VCS. GI < IS. EQ. 0> TYPE " About INIWANIW "FOR ć **JUNITINUE** ISYA ACCEPT **ACCEPT** 6 WHZ L ZIE 2 ទ្រ L L 000 310 **B Z B**LE R

111=INT<< YMAX/10.844MY >-0.000001 >+1 Ŧ XANX, "=XANX XANY, "=XANY CXMAY, NIMY, 2444Y >-0.00001 MY=INT<ALOG10</td>
 999999

 MY1=INT<</td>
 900

 MY1=INT<</td>
 900

 MY1=INT<</td>
 900

 MY1=INT<</td>
 90

 MY1=INT<</td>
 90

 MY1=INT<</td>
 90

 MY1
 90

 MY1
 90

 MY1
 90

 MY1
 90
 TYEINT ALOGION YMAX >-0. 999999 > LOGTRN < IL (61 TO 430 YONX . <0'NIWX> MIN, 0 > " "NIWA " TYPE "YMIN=", XMIN, TYPE "YMIN=", YMIN, PAUSE CALL INITT (0) O'NIN MAX=MY1×10.0\*\*MY I MY V CE. 2> CB IL.NE.8> CA 200 DQ=USC 00 428 J=1,18 Q=Q+DQ TY1=INT< YMAX DONIM MOUEA -DONIMI MOUEA Creation Contraction Ĵ 0 478 NINL đ F < I AL TA R 굿 R 3 ব h 8 ব 400 410 420 400 000 800

 

 W=INT(ALOG10(0)-0.999999)

 A=0+10.000000

 IF < 0.6T.XMAX> G0 T0 530

 CNTINUE

 C=NB+1

 M=INT(ALOG100(Q)-0.999999) =Q+10.0000 F (Q.GT.YMAX) GO TO 470 DNTINUE LOG104 Q >+0.000001 > < BUILDARY, YICKB>> MOUEA (NBXDX, Y1(NB>) 40 JANC, NE 964 LL MOVEA (Q, YMIN) LL DRAMA (Q, YMAX) (IT.EQ.9) GO TO 601 TO 530 CCUSIY, XDADS ANADO IF (IL2.EQ.1) GO TO CALL NOUEA (Q.YMIN) CALL DRAWA (Q.YMIN) CALL DRAWA (Q.YMAX) DQ=HSC DQ 480 J=1,10 Q=Q+DQ 2020 8) GO TO Q. YMIN> CXMMX D 1,200 ŝ MACKIN C 0 510 るどろ DOM DAT 0. 10 NIWAL T R R न् न् **6** 864 510 250 ß **3**8

0G10X 1024.0/(<1025.0-Z)#<D10441.0E-8))) RAMA (XX,Y2(J)) .0.<<1.025.0-2.)#<DIUX41.0E-6>>> .0E-8>> .05-8>> MOUEA (NB1\*DX, Y2(NB)) 20 J=NB, NE1 HA (240%, Y1(J+1)) EQ.0) GO TO 610 E.2) GO TO 590 MOUEA < NBXDX, Y2(NB>) DRAMA (ZADK, Y2(J+1)) <10,20> N.NB.XMIN
<10,21> YMAX
teset DRAMA (Z#DX, YZ(J)) .0.010001. (0.0.00C) (XX, Y1(1)) OUABS < 10, 80) <10,22> YMIN 580 JENC.NE 024 P. 102 ALOG10X 1024 X=ALOGIØ1. 5 DRALK DG10 610 BUOK 600 J= LOAT < ORA 6009 603 a đ 600 602 610 200 290 601



", IC

'n , XX(2) GC R JANI >>>< ALOCK F2 MALOCK F1 >> 5 ¥ Ð N E 2 LY I × ATION OF M AND R ñ 10 8

B.3.1. Main Cable Model Program for Calculations of "m", "K", and Cable Impulse Response

Cable Modeling and Analysis Programs

B.3.

移行し

Y=-R/F1+XK(K)\*(F1\*\*(EM-1.0))\*SIN PHI > XCD=(XX(2)+XX(1))/2.0 X=XL+XCDX(F1#X(EM-1.0))XCOS(PH1) Y=-R/F1+XCDX(F1#X(EM-1.0))XSIN(PH1) TTA=ATAN2(Y,X) < IHA >SOCH < 0 G(K) HALL YF1 XGRT( XCHAL XA2 10 20 M. CT. 5888) CO TO 99 CD. CT. 8. 8) CO TO 68 CM XX(22+XX(1)>2.8 KXK2>+XK(1))/2.0 F1X00 A1=SQRT(XXX+YXY) A2=SIN TTA/2.0) F1=X XH1+XJ >#F0#2 AI=SORT(XXX+YXY) A2=SIN TTA2.0) PHI = ( 0 × 0.0 X=X\_+XKK >\*KF1 TRANTANCY, X) =0.8 80 J=1,150 =1,158 00 56 K=1,2 C TROPICO 9 T+LEL R X 2 2 9 ÖLLL ž 8388888 ž 6 8 2 ß 9 8 8

NOX. ""E13.5/> SIGMAN > "F10.5) SFTHZXM SIGMAK ĩ PER FOOT K n n n へうると見入うる LAT 1 M SEM=36.1.50 100 100 J=1,50 SK=SK+K EK-C(J))\*K EK-C(J)) SEM=SQRT(SEM-49.8) SEM=SQRT(SEM-49.8) SEM=SQRT(SK/49.8) . BARBY 2. BARBHRADEN> ŝ NON CONTRACTION OF CONTRACTICON OF CONTRACTICON OF CONTRACTICONO OFFICIAL OFFICIALO OFFICIAL OFFICIAL OFFICIAL OFFICIAL OFFICIAL OFFICI IRS 0.0.0 "CONSTA 9 0.1 66 DESIRED ESIREI C ş IC . 110 KFLOATC J I DAME XSO EK/150.0 6,0 AMP I AF SORT X SET-0.0 22 RITE E <N CITAD COEP CCEP. SCOEP' CED ORMA j z 子見 8 8 140 100 120120

APPEC 4. OKROWZO X/( R0+Z0 X/ R0+Z0 X) ABPEC CEXPC - XLENKIGM > X/( 1. 0-RHOKRHOKCEXPC - 2. OKOLENKIGH > > X=CABS(AB) X=SQRT(X) X2=ATAN2(AIMAG(AB),REAL(AB))/2.0 20=XXCMPLX(COS(X2),SIN(X2)) AB=AAXCMPLX(XG,X1) X=CABS(AB) X=SQRT(X) X2=ATAN2(AIMAG(AB),REAL(AB))/2.8 GM=XXCMPLX(COS(X2),SIN(X2)) 90 J=2,512 TANZKAIMAGKF(J)),REALKF(J))) K 180.0/PI) COROC EC UNIN <"W", "SAHQ" WILL MSOPEN <5, "MAG", "W" TO 160 GH=CHPLX(0.0,X1) RH0=(R0-Z0)/(R0+Z0) \*SORTC XCHOL > NPT=511 DIVX=F1x51.2E-6 DY=1.0 . OKALOG10K ITE (5) NPT ITE (5) DIUX ITE (5) DY 160 J=2,512 8 DIUX FOLOS (5) 日本ない人「土」」 x n 000 1.0 8 **グルーマ**メ **WRITE** Ŗ RITE RITE RITE RITE 7 RITE RITE 9 Ì द्र द्र 9 8

128

۲ ۲ FOR THE , EM, ALEN, DIUX, FT > 5 G0 T0 188 8.85 G0 T0 188 50 T0 178 X F(513-J)) IF (IDC.EQ.2) GD T0 210 IF (IDC.EQ.3) GD T0 240 TYPF " " ACCEPT "F(T) AT 0.9T =? 0.0) RITE 3 T XIEX SI0 5 5 ą 210 200 2300 178 190 8

TNPN, ... А, . BAGE " TIME BABE" CODEL WITH MEASUREMENT? < 1=YES, 0=40) EFORM ACQUISITION --- BET S.O. TIME EFORM ACQUISITION --- SET S.O. S PER X LOCATION =7 FACTOR IN MU/CM =7 E (5) M 250 J=1010, 1014 , XUIU. "COMPARE EQ. 0 C J=1,102 SIC CLOS 0 RITE Z=0.0 80 COPP. RIT 2 3 Ò ব d 228 240 82 882 8 

X LOCATION # POINTS PER X | RUERT >/< NPNT%1638.4> FACTOR TIRKT1", "W" > ζ Π ν MBER OF ŝ **10,29** NID 510 NUE JAD K=1, J 11 00 (BdOSH 122 N nin 8 8 ACCEPT 3 21 2 đ द्र ব 0 3 ą 318 320 R 370 BEE **S**R 368

, NPNT

CNB 666

B.3.2. Main Cable Model Program for Calculation of Cable Step Response, Bit Error Waveform and Cable Square Wave Response

STEP 20, 2B, 2

200<sup>4</sup>

ARE 4. 04R0420 >/< (R0+20 ># (R0+20 >) ABE (CEXP(-XLENAGM) >/< 1.0-RHOARHOACEXP(-2.04XLENAGM)) 2"ATANZCAIMAGCAB >, REALCAB >>2.8 J), REALCE(J)) 4 TO 38 10 THE XHOPPLACOSC X2 >, SIN X2 > ALL MSOPEN (5, "MAG1", "W" ) "FAZ1", "W" > BKALOG10C CABSC F( J >>> SHIFT=0.0 DO 50 J=2,512 X=ATAN2(AIMAG(F(J)),R1 X=X4(180.0/P1) IF (J.EQ.2) GO TO 40 X1=FJ#SQRT(XC#XL) GM=GM-CMPLX(0.0,X1 RH0=(R0-Z0)/(R0+20 ່າ DIUX=F1x51.2E-6 FCLOS (5) MSOPEN (5, XOIC C (5) NPT (5) 010 (5) 010 DIG 2 <5> X ť 000 XUNDEX ( PROD LIS=14 **DV=1.0** RITE RITE 202 RITE H XIIX 9 2 2 द्र 3

20

10

F, AIA FOR TH C, R, XG, EK, EM, XLEN, DI UX, FT > 922 > > 1824 . 8 "F(T) AT 0.9T =? 1824.0 ľ C0 T0 40 SHIFT=SHIFT+360.0 X=X+SHIFT (FL) 8 5 3 au 3 F 8 8 87 28 100 110 8 120

duin" **IN**," "SQUARE WAVE RESPONSE CALCULATION? (1=YES, 0=NO) EQ.0) GO TO 260 REDUCE THOOR TO N POINTS-N=7 # OF SQUARE MAVE CYCLES =7 ATCN XOX 1+V CC -1 >> CXCCED+NED>=0.0 <5, "TIR1", "W" > RITE (5) M "U FINAL "",Z NIMP, 1824 024 X NSOR2 CALL FCLOS (5) Z=0.0 DO 150 J=1,1024 Z=Z+0(1025-J) VIN I 140 Jul, 1024 2010X RITE (5) DIUX RITE (5) DY dell' (=], ] RITE (5) > ົກ 8 0.0 0 8 8 COEPT CEPI CCEP-RITE RIT MAK ব 150 198 140 160 170 180

SE CALCULATION? (1=YES, IS", X, " UOLTS" C "N" " " " 0.0) XZ,0.0> 0000 , 1024 LXZ П R X X X Y Y 5 đ 200 210 230022 240 270 220 260

24'.

SOPEN (5, "STEP", "W") ("W", "BR1") R2", "W" > **XOI** VIIO 110 200 ຄິດຄ ٥ ິດທ ົກກ . 9 8 2 IJ 2 0 2 Q. Q 0 q Q d 0 662 82 300 318 **666\***  FOR CALCULATION OF STEP TOR MAVEFORM PARAX(8.2 1 2 FOOT 00 č n 8010 n 0 2

245

B.3.3. Main Cable Model Program for Calculation of Unit Step TDR Waveform

₩ 1 2 텃

5

```
TYPE "MAXIMUM ERROR IN LAST POINT 18", XX, " UOLTS"
TYPE "
END
                                                          ANI =GAMAK FLOAT(N+1))/GAMAK FLOAT(I+1)
ANI =ANI *K R*K(N-1))/GAMAK FLOAT(N-I+1)
ANI =ANI *K EK*K(I))/(XL*K(N))
                                                                                AVIERNIXCIXXCN-IXEM>>>GRARCN-IXED4-1
                                                                              IF (LL.EG.B) UKJ)=UKJ)+ANXBN
CONTINUE
CONTINUE
                                                                                                                               MSOPEN (5,"TDR","W")
                                                                                                                                                      「水へ
                     BN-BN-FLOATC2*
                                   AN#0.0
DO 20 II=1.NN
I=II-1
                                                                                                                                              DY=1.0
DIUX=NPNTXDT#1
                                                                                                                                                                     2010X
                                                                                                                                                               K
                                                                                                                                                                                                    ņ
                                                                                                                                                                             7
              BAFFLOATC
      0 I=1,N
                                                                                                                                                                                     FCLOS
3
                                                                                                                                                                     ິດຄ
                                                                                                                                                                                            in
                                                                                                                                                                                                                   0 70 12
                                                                                                                                                              RITE
                                                                                                                                                                             RITE
                                                                                                                                                                                     8
                                                                                                                                                                                            RITE
                                                                                                                                                                      RITE
                                                                                                                                     CAL
                                                                                                                                                                                                             Î
                                                                                                                                                                                                    L M
        8
                                                                                                                                                                                     0
               ž
                      10
                                                                                          8
                                                                                                                                                                                             8
                                                                                                                                                                                                                           69
                                                                                                                 89
```

\*
R2 =" , F8.2> 2 ", F8.2, " Ř , R1 R3 =", F8.2, " 8 SO7" 8 00 2 2 n 21 2000 2000

B.3.4. Main Program for Calculation of Cable Matching Network Resistors

```
N
                            AND RUN
  POSSIBLE"
              CIX, "UNHLANCED LINE WITH RG=", F8.2"
           FORMAT (IX, "UNBALANCED LINE WITH RG=",
FORMAT (IX, "BALANCED LINE WITH RG=",FE
PAUSE
ACCEPT "ANOTHER RUN? (1=YES, @=NO)",N
IF (N.EQ.1) GO TO 5
END
  NOILI CO.
  2
  N
  00
 "FOR R3 =", |
  X
 FORMAT
စ္ကမထ
```

Ħ



B.3.5. Main Program for Calculation of the Error Function

\*...

FUNCTION GAMA (X) DOUBLE PRECISION XD.B1.B2.B3.B4.B5.B6.B7.B8.C1.GAM B1=-0.57719165200 B2=-0.988205693700 B2=-0.75670407800 B4=0.918206685700 B2=-0.75670407800 B5=-0.48219933400 B5=-0.48219933400 B5=-0.19332781800 B6=0.48219933400 B7=-0.193352781800 B6=0.03586834300 D7=06LE(X)-1.000 IF (XD.GE.0.000) G0 T0 10 IF (XD.GE.0.0000) G0 T0 10 IF (XD.GE.00000) G0 T0 10 IF (XD.GE.00000000000000000000000000000000000	STUP IF (X0.LE.1.800) C0 T0 36 C1=C1XX0 X0=X0-1.606 IF (X0.G1.1.800) C0 T0 26 X0=X0-1.606 IF (X0.G1.1.800) C0 T0 28 C0=C1XX0 C0=C1X00 C0=C1XCM C0=C1XCM C0=C1XCM C0=C1XCM C0=C1XCM C0=C1XCM C0=C1XCM C0=C1XCM C0=C1XCM C0=C1XCM C0=C1XCM C0=C1XCM C0=C1XCM C0=C1XCM C0=C1XCM C0=C1XCM C0=C1XCM C0=C1XCM C0=C1XCM C0=C1XCM C0=C1XCM C0=C1XCM C0=C1XCM C0=C1XCM C0=C1XCM C0=C1XCM C0=C1XCM C0=C1XCM C0=C1XCM C0=C1XCM C0=C1XCM C0=C1XCM C1XCM
	9 8 B

\*

", F1S 1,X1,X2,X3, 20, GM, RHD, AA, AB, AC 8 DAMENTAL FREQUENCY BOBKR8+RXXLEN> ī G . 8 100

Subroutine for Accurate Calculations of Cable Time Domain Impulse Response dc Level B.3.7.

쁋

X1=F\_JKDSQRT(XCXXL) CPH-CP-DCYPLX(8.808,X1) RH0=(R8-28)/(R8+28) AA=(4.808)/R8428)/((R8+28))/(R8+28)) AA=(4.808)/R8428)/((R8+28))/(R8+28)) AB=(0C5/P(-XLENKGM))/(1.808-RH04/RH0400CE)/P(-2.8084)/LENKGM)) K3=DAIMAG(AC) FT=FT+C2.0D04K(X240C03KX1)-X340SINKX1)>)/FN IF (NCT1.LE.ICT4) G0 T0 110 TYPE "F(T)=",FT X2=DATAN2K DATMAGK AB ), DREAL (AB ) //2. 808 ZB-XXDCMPL XK DCOSK X2 ), DSTN X2 ) ) AB-XXDCMPL XK XG, X1 ) X2=DATANZ(DAIMAC(AB),DREAL(AB))/2.808 G4=X4DCMPLX(DCOS(X2),DSIN(X2)) (NCT1.LE.ICT3> GO TO 128 . ICT2 > CO TO 100 X2=X1\_XFJ+EXXDAIMAG(SM) A0=DCMPLX(X1,X2) FJ=MARFJ X=FJXXEM X1=DCOSKEMAP1/2.000) X2=OSINKEMAP1/2.000) X1=R+EKADREAL(SM) X1=R+EKADREAL(SM) AC=DCONUCK ANXAB ) X1=2.000XP1XFFJXFK/FN AB=AA/DCMPLX(XG,X1) X=DCABS(AB) X=DSQRT(X) 22-DREAL(AC) X=DCABS(AB) < X > LOSORT< X > 

110

FTT=FTT/5000.000 TYPE "FCT",FTT FTS=SNGL(FTT) RETURN RETURN

\*

### APPENDIX C -- TIME DOMAIN DATA ACQUISITION SYSTEM DESCRIPTION

Figure C.1 is a simplified block diagram of the Automatic Pulse Measurement System (APMS) [6,7]. The sampling oscilloscope is a commercially available unit that has been modified to allow either stand-alone or computer-controlled operation. It should be noted that this type of oscilloscope is not a real time instrument. Rather, it acquires one voltage versus time point of the measured waveform per waveform occurrence. Thus only repetitive waveforms may be observed. The advantage of this sampling scheme over conventional real time oscilloscopes is the large amount of available bandwidth. Whereas conventional oscilloscopes are presently limited in bandwidth to below 1 GHz, the effective bandwidth of the sampling cscilloscope used in the APMS is about 18 GHz.

When the sampling oscilloscope is switched to computer-controlled operation, the oscilloscope is connected to the system minicomputer via an A/D-D/A unit and a digital control interface. Under program control, the computer sends the oscilloscope the desired time location at which a voltage sample is to be taken via the 14-bit D/A converter. After the waveform voltage sample has been taken it is recorded in the computer memory via the 14-bit A/D converter. The digital interface is designed to allow asynchronous (independent) clocking of the sampling oscilloscope with respect to the minicomputer.

The system minicomputer is a 16-bit machine with 32K words of core memory. With the peripherals shown in the block diagram, i.e., the flexible disk drive, the CRT graphics terminal, hard copy unit, paper tape punch (PTP) and paper tape reader (PTR), the system can generate either alpha-numeric or graphical data in either soft or hard copy. In addition, a hardware floating point number processor has been added to the computer to speed arithmetic calculations by an approximate factor of 10.

The APMS is capable of running at a maximum sampling rate of approximately 8 kHz. The useful signal voltage measurement range is  $\pm$  800 mV into the 50  $\Omega$  sampling head. The available real time equivalent sweep speeds range from 10 ps/cm to 500  $\mu$ s/cm in a 1-2-5 sequence.

The system software consists of a commercially available flexible disk operating system with such features as Basic and Fortran language support, disk files, text editor, and macro-command capability. The sampling oscilloscope waveform acquisition is done with assembly language programming while virtually all signal processing of the waveform is done in either Basic or Fortran. The software has been designed to achieve a happy medium between system versatility and ease of operation.



Figure C.1 Simplified block diagram of APMS

NBS-114A (REV. 9-78) 1. PUBLICATION OR REPORT NO. 2. Goy't. Accession No. 3. Recipient's Accession No. U.S. DEPT. OF COMM. BIBLIOGRAPHIC DATA NBS TN-1042 SHEET 4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE 5. Publication Date Shielded Balanced and Coaxial Transmission Lines -June 1981 Parametric Measurements and Instrumentation Relevant to 5. Performing Organization Code Signal Waveform Transmission in Digital Services 7. AUTHOR(S) 8. Performing Organ. Report No. W. L. Gans and N. S. Nahman 9. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME AND ADDRESS 10. Project/Task/Work Unit No. NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS 11. Contract/Grant No. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE WASHINGTON, DC 20234 12. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION NAME AND COMPLETE ADDRESS (Street, City, State, ZIP) 13. Type of Report & Period Covered Dept. of the Army, US Army Communications Command Communications - Electronics Engineering & Installations Ag. Fort Huachuca, AZ 85613 14. Sponsoring Agency Code **15. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES** Document describes a computer program; SF-185, FIPS Software Summary, is attached. 16. ABSTRACT (A 200-word or less factual summary of most significant information. If document includes a significant bibliography or literature survey, mention it here.) A method is presented for determining the impulse and step responses of a shielded cable using time domain terminal measurements and a physically based mathematical model for the tranmission line properties of the cable. The method requires a computer controlled time domain measurement system and was implemented using the NBS Automatic Pulse Measurement System (APMS). Data are also developed for the frequency domain complex propagation function (attenuation and its related minimum-phase shift). The method is applied to 12 shielded paired-conductor (balanced) cables and 5 coaxial cables. Time domain responses are presented for three nominal cable lengths, 60 m (200 ft), 150 m (500 ft), and 300 m (1000 ft). The time domain responses are applied to the estimation of bit error rate increases due to the insertion of the cables into a digital signaling system employing a balanced polar NRZ waveform. Also discussed is the application of the time domain responses to time domain reflectometry techniques for cable acceptance tests and field-site testing of installed cables. 17. KEY WORDS (six to twelve entries; alphabetical order; capitalize only the first letter of the first key word unless a proper name; separated by semicolons) Bit error rate; coaxial transmission lines; digital communication impulse response; instrumentation; measurements; shielded balanced transmission lines; time domain; transmission line model; waveform. **19. SECURITY CLASS** 21. NO. OF 18. AVAILABILITY X Unlimited (THIS REPORT) PRINTED PAGES For Official Distribution. Do Not Release to NTIS UNCLASSIFIED 260 20. SECURITY CLASS 22. Price Order From Sup. of Doc., U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC L (THIS PAGE) 20402. \$ 20.00 Crder From National Technical Information Service (NTIS), Springfield, UNCLASSIFIED VA, 22161

USCOMM-DC

## **NBS TECHNICAL PUBLICATIONS**

#### PERIODICALS

JOURNAL OF RESEARCH—The Journal of Research of the National Bureau of Standards reports NBS research and development in those disciplines of the physical and engineering sciences in which the Bureau is active. These include physics, chemistry, engineering, mathematics, and computer sciences. Papers cover a broad range of subjects, with major emphasis on measurement methodology and the basic technology underlying standardization. Also included from time to time are survey articles on topics closely related to the Bureau's technical and scientific programs. As a special service to subscribers each issue contains complete citations to all recent Bureau publications in both NBS and non-NBS media. Issued six times a year. Annual subscription: domestic \$13; foreign \$16.25. Single copy, \$3 domestic; \$3.75 foreign.

NOTE: The Journal was formerly published in two sections: Section A "Physics and Chemistry" and Section B "Mathematical Sciences."

**DIMENSIONS/NBS**—This monthly magazine is published to inform scientists, engineers, business and industry leaders, teachers, students, and consumers of the latest advances in science and technology, with primary emphasis on work at NBS. The magazine highlights and reviews such issues as energy research, fire protection, building technology, metric conversion, pollution abatement, health and safety, and consumer product performance. In addition, it reports the results of Bureau programs in measurement standards and techniques, properties of matter and materials, engineering standards and services, instrumentation, and automatic data processing. Annual subscription: domestic \$11; foreign \$13.75.

#### NONPERIODICALS

Monographs—Major contributions to the technical literature on various subjects related to the Bureau's scientific and technical activities.

Handbooks—Recommended codes of engineering and industrial practice (including safety codes) developed in cooperation with interested industries, professional organizations, and regulatory bodies.

**Special Publications**—Include proceedings of conferences sponsored by NBS, NBS-annual reports, and other special publications appropriate to this grouping such as wall charts, pocket cards, and bibliographies.

Applied Mathematics Series—Mathematical tables, manuals, and studies of special interest to physicists, engineers, chemists, biologists, mathematicians, computer programmers, and others engaged in scientific and technical work.

National Standard Reference Data Series—Provides quantitative data on the physical and chemical properties of materials, compiled from the world's literature and critically evaluated. Developed under a worldwide program coordinated by NBS under the authority of the National Standard Data Act (Public Law 90-396).

NOTE: The principal publication outlet for the foregoing data is the Journal of Physical and Chemical Reference Data (JPCRD) published quarterly for NBS by the American Chemical Society (ACS) and the American Institute of Physics (AIP). Subscriptions, reprints, and supplements available from ACS, 1155 Sixteenth St., NW, Washington, DC 20056.

**Building Science Series**—Disseminates technical information developed at the Bureau on building materials, components, systems, and whole structures. The series presents research results, test methods, and performance criteria related to the structural and environmental functions and the durability and safety characteristics of building elements and systems.

Technical Notes—Studies or reports which are complete in themselves but restrictive in their treatment of a subject. Analogous to monographs but not so comprehensive in scope or definitive in treatment of the subject area. Often serve as a vehicle for final reports of work performed at NBS under the sponsorship of other government agencies.

Voluntary Product Standards—Developed under procedures published by the Department of Commerce in Part 10, Title 15, of the Code of Federal Regulations. The standards establish nationally recognized requirements for products, and provide all concerned interests with a basis for common understanding of the characteristics of the products. NBS administers this program as a supplement to the activities of the private sector standardizing organizations.

**Consumer Information Series**—Practical information, based on NBS research and experience, covering areas of interest to the consumer. Easily understandable language and illustrations provide useful background knowledge for shopping in today's technological marketplace.

Order the above NBS publications from: Superintendent of Documents, Government Printing Office, Washington, DC 20402.

Order the following NBS publications—FIPS and NBSIR's—from the National Technical Information Services, Springfield, VA 22161.

Federal Information Processing Standards Publications (FIPS PUB)—Publications in this series collectively constitute the Federal Information Processing Standards Register. The Register serves as the official source of information in the Federal Government regarding standards issued by NBS pursuant to the Federal Property and Administrative Services Act of 1949 as amended, Public Law 89-306 (79 Stat. 1127), and as implemented by Executive Order 11717 (38 FR 12315, dated May 11, 1973) and Part 6 of Title 15 CFR (Code of Federal Regulations).

**NBS Interagency Reports (NBSIR)**—A special series of interim or final reports on work performed by NBS for outside sponsors (both government and non-government). In general, initial distribution is handled by the sponsor; public distribution is by the National Technical Information Services, Springfield, VA 22161, in paper copy or microfiche form.

# U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE National Bureau of Standards Washington, D.C. 20234

OFFICIAL BUSINESS

Penalty for Private Use, \$300

POSTAGE AND FEES PAID U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE COM-215

.



SPECIAL FOURTH-CLASS RATE BOOK